








Page 4 of 431



Page 5 of 431



Page 6 of 431



Page 7 of 431



Page 8 of 431



Page 9 of 431



Page 10 of 431



Page 11 of 431





The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget
November 30, 2024

Fiscal Year 2025

Page 12 of 431



The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Resource Committee
Board of Trustees
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD (The Center)

Stanley Adams
Stanley Adams
Chief Financial Officer

We believe the Report, as presented, is materially accurate and is presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial position and results of 
operations of The Center. 

The Report submitted herewith was prepared on a budgetary basis which is not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles nor with financial 
reporting principles set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The Report has not been audited by an independent auditor.

The Center's accounting records for its general fund are maintained on a modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized in 
the period when they become both measurable and available, and expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable.

Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of presentation of the presented data rests with The Center, the Chief Financial Officer and the 
Accounting department.

The Report on Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget (the Report) submitted herewith was prepared by The Center's Accounting 
Department.

Page 13 of 431



Page 3

Original Budget Actual Variance

Revenues 31,244,089$               31,169,319$               (74,770)$                     
Expenditures 31,160,756                 29,101,756                 2,059,000                   

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 83,333$                      2,067,563$                 1,984,230$                 

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt Service (83,333)$                     (963,092)$                   (879,759)$                   
Capital Outlay -                               (209,827)                     (209,827)                     
Revenue Bonds Issued -                               24,745,000                 24,745,000                 
Other Sources (Uses) -                               9,655                           9,655                           

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                             25,649,299$              25,649,299$              

Original Budget Actual Variance

Revenues 93,732,267$               90,994,212$               (2,738,055)$               
Expenditures 93,482,268                 88,988,142                 4,494,126                   

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 249,999$                    2,006,070$                 1,756,071$                 

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt Service (249,999)$                   (963,092)$                   (713,093)$                   
Capital Outlay -                               (412,592)                     (412,592)                     
Revenue Bonds Issued -                               24,745,000                 24,745,000                 
Other Sources (Uses) -                               33,552                         33,552                         

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                             25,408,938$              25,408,938$              

For the Month Ended

Fiscal Year to Date

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget

November 30, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 14 of 431



Page 4

 Original Variance  Original Variance
 Budget Actual $ %  Budget Actual $ %

Operating Revenue
State General Revenue 11,054,955$         11,054,909$         (46)                          0% 33,164,865$         33,164,696$         (169)                        0%
Harris County and Local 4,452,047              4,863,521              411,474                 9% 13,356,141            13,033,300            (322,841)                -2% A
Federal Contracts and Grants 5,098,793              5,245,780              146,987                 3% 15,296,379            15,191,597            (104,782)                -1% B
State Contract and Grants 1,900,240              1,751,926              (148,314)                -8% 5,700,720              4,103,816              (1,596,904)            -28% C
Third Party Billing 3,585,863              3,022,076              (563,787)                -16% 10,757,589            9,727,997              (1,029,592)            -10%
Charity Care Pool 3,340,350              3,340,328              (22)                          0% 10,021,050            10,021,239            189                         0%
Directed Payment Programs 659,258                 548,054                 (111,204)                -17% 1,977,774              1,660,733              (317,041)                -16% D
Patient Assistance Program (PAP) 852,441                 1,110,825              258,384                 30% 2,557,323              3,266,237              708,914                 28%
Interest Income 300,142                 231,900                 (68,242)                  -23% 900,426                 824,597                 (75,829)                  -8%

Operating Revenue, total 31,244,089$         31,169,319$         (74,770)                  0% 93,732,267$         90,994,212            (2,738,055)            -3%

Operating Expenditures
Salaries and Fringe Benefits 21,116,034$         19,307,539$         1,808,495              9% 63,348,102$         60,970,652$         2,377,450              4%
Contracts and Consultants 1,379,371              1,055,951              323,420                 23% 4,138,113              2,724,631              1,413,482              34%
Contracts and Consultants-HCPC 3,913,250              3,833,236              80,014                   2% 11,739,750            11,499,708            240,042                 2%
Supplies 354,237                 221,040                 133,197                 38% 1,062,711              500,184                 562,527                 53%
Drugs 1,995,664              2,399,024              (403,360)                -20% 5,986,992              7,123,094              (1,136,102)            -19% E
Purchases, Repairs and Maintenance of: -                          

Equipment 99,778                   129,247                 (29,469)                  -30% 299,334                 500,527                 (201,193)                -67%
Building 177,679                 411,241                 (233,562)                -131% 533,037                 533,480                 (443)                        0% F
Vehicle 86,851                   82,642                   4,209                      5% 260,553                 243,255                 17,298                   7%
Software 358,400                 386,990                 (28,590)                  -8% 1,075,200              887,625                 187,575                 17%

Telephone and Utilities 304,496                 337,965                 (33,469)                  -11% 913,488                 869,354                 44,134                   5%
Insurance, Legal and Audit 184,268                 184,811                 (543)                        0% 552,804                 570,492                 (17,688)                  -3%
Travel & Training 251,089                 218,302                 32,787                   13% 753,267                 436,108                 317,159                 42%
Dues & Subscriptions 555,682                 217,855                 337,827                 61% 1,667,046              787,580                 879,466                 53% G
Other Expenditures 383,957                 315,913                 68,044                   18% 1,151,871              1,341,452              (189,581)                -16% H

Operating Expenditures, total 31,160,756$         29,101,756$         2,059,000$            7% 93,482,268$         88,988,142$         4,494,126$            5%

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 83,333$                 2,067,563$            1,984,230              249,999$               2,006,070$            1,756,071              

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt Service (83,333)                  (963,092)$              (879,759)$              (249,999)                (963,092)$              (713,093)$              I
Capital outlay -                          (209,827)                (209,827)                -                          (412,592)                (412,592)                
Revenue Bonds Issued -                          24,745,000            24,745,000            -                          24,745,000            24,745,000            J
Insurance proceeds -                          -                          -                          -                          1,648                      1,648                      
Proceeds from Sale of Assets -                          9,655                      9,655                      -                          31,904                   31,904                   

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                        25,649,299$         25,649,299$         -$                        25,408,938$         25,408,938$         

For the Month Ended Fiscal Year to Date

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget

November 30, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 15 of 431



Page 5  

Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget
A Harris County and Local Revenue

B Federal Contract and grants

C State Contract and Grants

D Directed Payment Programs

E Drugs

F Building (purchase, repair and maintenance)

G Dues & Subscriptions

H Other expenditures

I Debt Service
Debt service expenditures are related to the bond issuance costs & underwriter's discount of Revenue Bond Series 2024.

J Bond Proceeds
Revenue Bond 2024 proceeds during the current month, presented as other financing sources.

Unfavorable budget variance is attributed to revenue budgeted for the current fiscal year prior to incurring related expenditures.  
We are monitoring contract progress for potential impacts on the budget.

The primary driver of the unfavorable budget variance is related to low expenditures/billings for the month causing a timing 
difference of when revenue will be earned.

The primary driver of the unfavorable variance is attributed to contracts budgeted during current fiscal year, prior to related 
contract approvals resulting in low expenditures/billings for the month.  In addition, for new contracts, variance is primarily 
attributed to a timing difference until personnel is hired.

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Notes to Statements Presented

Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis reporting
November 30, 2024

YTD unfavorable budget variance for this line item is primarily related to ReCenter's operational & program expenditures exceeding 
YTD budget by approx. $98K; in addition YTD postage expenses exceed YTD budget by approx. $108K. These variances are slightly 
offset by favorable YTD budget variances in other accounts.

The primary driver of the net unfavorable variance in Drugs is the increase in retail drug pharmacy purchases, which is offset by 
revenue earned on the billing program.  On a YTD basis the Pharmacy billing program revenue exceeds budget by $135K and the 
billing program expense exceeds budget by ($360K).

IT related Dues & Subscriptions total $183K for the current month and $575K fiscal year to date.

DPP revenue shortfall is due to reduced DPP-related claim throughput. The annual estimates provided by Texas Council for FY 2025 
are expected to be received in mid-May 2025 at that time, we will update our accounting records.

Unfavorable budget variance for the current month is primarily driven by current month janitorial services increase from prior 
month ($28K to $244K) and other service maintenance services increase from prior month ($20K to $82K).

Page 16 of 431



Page  6

October - 2024 November - 2024 Change
Assets
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Petty Cash 21,803,683$           13,371,366$           (8,432,317)$            
Cash Equivalents 56,480,784              41,194,541              (15,286,243)            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, total 78,284,467              54,565,907              (23,718,560)            AA

Inventories, Deposits & Prepaids 11,558,974              10,609,493              (949,481)$                
Accounts Receivable:

Patient A/R, net of allowance 1,640,322                1,544,905                (95,417)                    
A/R from other governments 34,992,135              45,830,225              10,838,090              BB
Other A/R 1,664,394                1,839,722                175,328                   

Current Assets, total 128,140,292$         114,390,252$         (13,750,040)$          

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents -                            19,911,737              19,911,737              CC

Capital Assets
Land 12,709,144              12,709,144              -                            
Building and Improvements 52,910,858              52,910,858              -                            
Right-to-use assets (Leases & SBITA) 2,440,065                2,440,065                -                            
Furniture, Equipment and Vehicles 8,386,217                8,254,332                (131,885)                  
Construction in Progress 5,794,164                5,794,164                -                            
Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization (35,692,400)            (35,560,515)            131,885                   

Capital Assets, net total 46,548,048$           46,548,048$           -$                          

Total Assets 174,688,340$         180,850,037$         6,161,697$              

Liabilities & Fund Balance/Net Position
Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 15,377,188$           7,103,583$              (8,273,605)$            DD
Unearned Revenues 27,136,418              15,628,318              (11,508,100)            EE
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 909,061                   1,584,061                675,000                   FF
Due in more than one year 9,326,822                33,690,925              24,364,103              FF

Liabilities, total 52,749,489$           58,006,887$           5,257,398$              

Fund Balance/Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 46,548,048              46,548,048              -                            
Restricted for Capital Projects -                            19,911,737              19,911,737              CC
Nonspendable 11,558,974              10,609,493              (949,481)                  
Assigned 66,514,014              66,514,014              -                            
Unassigned/Unrestricted (2,441,824)               (46,149,080)            (43,707,256)            GG

Change in fund balance/net position (240,361)                  25,408,938              25,649,299              
Fund Balance/Net Position, Total 121,938,851$         122,843,150$         904,299$                 

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance/Net Position 174,688,340$         180,850,037$         6,161,697$              

Unaudited - Subject to Change

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Balance Sheet

November 30, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Page 17 of 431



Page 7

Balance Sheet
AA Cash and Investments

BB A/R from Other Governments

CC Restricted Cash & Restricted Net Position for Capital Projects

DD Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

EE Unearned Revenues

FF Noncurrent liabilities
With the revenue bond issue, it is now necessary to continue our alignment to financial reporting requirements.

As presented Revised presentation
Liabilities October - 2024 October - 2024 Net change

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 16,286,249$               15,377,188$               (909,061)$               
Unearned Revenues 27,136,418                 27,136,418                 -                           
Long term Liabilities 9,326,822                   -                                (9,326,822)             
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 909,061                       909,061                  
Due in more than one year 9,326,822                   9,326,822               

Total Liabilities 52,749,489$               52,749,489$               -$                         

Amount Due within one year presented in November 2024 is the portion of the Revenue Bond 2024 due 11/01/2025

GG Unassigned Fund Balance

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Notes to Statements Presented

Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis reporting
November 30, 2024

The decrease in cash and cash equivalents is primarily driven by the three payroll periods paid during November (approx. $23.2M), the requirement 
to make the second half of Year 4 (SFY25) IGT payment for approx. $2.7M , and the timing of when funds are received from the various revenue 
sources vs when funds are spent.
During the month of November, we received a reimbursement of incurred project expenses from the new bond issuance of approx. $3.9M.

The increase is primarily attributable to additional receivables from multiple grants including: Charity Care Pool (CCP) funding of $3.3M, Harris 
County allocation funding of $1.9M, Sheriff's department of $1.5M, and other federal & state grants receivables with net effect of $4.1M.

Cash related to the Revenue Bond Series 2024. This cash is restricted for use for the financing of the approved capital projects; as such the 
corresponding net position is restricted for capital projects.

The temporary deficit is primarily driven by the upcoming release of approx. $51M in assigned fund balance that will increase this unassigned fund 
balance line item.

The decrease in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities is due to the regular timing of payments; in addition, due to a decrease in salary accrual in 
comparison to the prior month salary accrual related to the timing on when the respective months payroll periods were paid.

Unearned income decreased due to use of funds provided through state and federal revenue allocations received in advance of performance of 
related obligations.

Page 18 of 431



Page 8

Local Government Investment Pools (LGIPs)  Beginning Balance Transfer In Transfer Out  Interest Income Ending Balance  Portfolio % 
 Monthly 

Yield 
Texas CLASS  

Texas CLASS General Fund 7,001,769$             -$                         -$                         28,079$                   7,029,848$             17.06% 4.88%

TexPool
TexPool Prime 45,806,918             -                           (15,490,828)            162,229                   30,478,319             73.99% 4.83%
TexPool General Fund 3,672,097               -                           -                           14,277                     3,686,374               8.95% 4.73%

TexPool Sub-Total 49,479,015             -                           (15,490,828)            176,506                   34,164,693             82.94% 4.82%

Total Investments 56,480,784$           -$                         (15,490,828)$         204,585$                41,194,541$           100.00% 4.83%

Additional Interest on Checking Accounts 27,315                     

Total Interest Earned during the current month 231,900$                

3 Month Weighted Average Maturity (Days) 1.00
3 Month Weighted Average Yield 5.03%
3 Month Rolling Weighted Average Daily Treasury Bill Rate (4 weeks 4.62%
Interest Rate - Chase Hybrid Checking 3.10%
ECR - Chase 3.20%

Approved:

Thania D. Gonzalez
Thania D. Gonzalez
Controller

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Investment Portfolio
November 30, 2024

This Investment Portfolio Report of The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD as of November 30, 2024, is in compliance with the provisions of the Public Funds Investment 
Act (PFIA), Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code and the Investment Strategy approved by the Board of Trustees.

$7,029,848

$30,478,319

$3,686,374

Investment Portfolio Weight

Texas CLASS General Fund TexPool Prime TexPool General Fund

Page 19 of 431



Page 9
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Monthly Report of Financial Transactions Related to Payments of Liabilities for Employee Benefits
November 30, 2024

Vendor Description
Monthly Not-To-

Exceed (1) Nov-24
Fiscal Year to Date 

Total

Lincoln Financial Group (LFG)(2) Retirement Funds (401a, 403b, 457) $3,650,000 $2,052,736 $5,407,820

Blue Cross Blue Shield of TX Health and Dental Insurance $3,300,000 $2,431,117 $7,392,266

UNUM Life Insurance $310,000 $203,072 $612,688

Notes: 
(1)  As established by the Board Resolution approved October 22, 2024: Harris Center Board of Trustees Signature Authorization and Delegation 
Authority for Certain Items effective September 24, 2024.
(2)  LFG payments include 11A &11B

Page 20 of 431



The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget
December 31, 2024

Fiscal Year 2025

Page 21 of 431



The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Resource Committee
Board of Trustees
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD (The Center)

Stanley Adams
Stanley Adams
Chief Financial Officer

We believe the Report, as presented, is materially accurate and is presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial position and results of 
operations of The Center. 

The Report submitted herewith was prepared on a budgetary basis which is not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles nor with financial 
reporting principles set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The Report has not been audited by an independent auditor.

The Center's accounting records for its general fund are maintained on a modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized in 
the period when they become both measurable and available, and expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable.

Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of presentation of the presented data rests with The Center, the Chief Financial Officer and the 
Accounting department.

The Report on Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget (the Report) submitted herewith was prepared by The Center's Accounting 
Department.

Page 22 of 431



Page 3

Original Budget Actual Variance

Revenues 31,244,089$              30,468,548$              (775,541)$                  
Expenditures 31,160,756                32,343,085                (1,182,329)                 

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 83,333$                      (1,874,537)$               (1,957,870)$               

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt Service (83,333)$                     -$                            83,333$                      
Capital Outlay -                               (4,427,055)                 (4,427,055)                 
Other Sources (Uses) -                               895,421                      895,421                      

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                            (5,406,171)$               (5,406,171)$               

Original Budget Actual Variance

Revenues 124,976,356$            121,462,760$            (3,513,596)$               
Expenditures 124,643,024              121,331,227              3,311,797                   

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 333,332$                    131,533$                    (201,799)$                  

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt Service (333,332)$                  (963,092)$                  (629,760)$                  
Capital Outlay -                               (4,839,647)                 (4,839,647)                 
Revenue Bonds Issued -                               24,745,000                24,745,000                
Other Sources (Uses) -                               928,973                      928,973                      

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                            20,002,767$              20,002,767$              

For the Month Ended

Fiscal Year to Date

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget

December 31, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 23 of 431



Page 4

 Original Variance  Original Variance
 Budget Actual $ %  Budget Actual $ %

Operating Revenue
State General Revenue 11,054,955$       11,054,920$       (35)                        0% 44,219,820$       44,219,616$       (204)                      0%
Harris County and Local 4,452,047            4,348,096            (103,951)              -2% 17,808,188          17,381,396          (426,792)              -2%
Federal Contracts and Grants 5,112,180            5,329,821            217,641               4% 20,448,720          20,584,229          135,509               1%
State Contract and Grants 1,886,853            1,554,862            (331,991)              -18% 7,547,412            5,595,867            (1,951,545)           -26% A
Third Party Billing 3,585,863            2,962,890            (622,973)              -17% 14,343,452          12,690,887          (1,652,565)           -12% B
Charity Care Pool 3,340,350            3,340,328            (22)                        0% 13,361,400          13,361,567          167                       0%
Directed Payment Programs 659,258               554,862               (104,396)              -16% 2,637,032            2,215,595            (421,437)              -16%
Patient Assistance Program (PAP) 852,441               1,031,219            178,778               21% 3,409,764            4,297,456            887,692               26%
Interest Income 300,142               291,550               (8,592)                   -3% 1,200,568            1,116,147            (84,421)                -7%

Operating Revenue, total 31,244,089$       30,468,548$       (775,541)              -2% 124,976,356$     121,462,760       (3,513,596)           -3%

Operating Expenditures
Salaries and Fringe Benefits 21,116,034$       21,611,899$       (495,865)              -2% 84,464,136$       82,582,552$       1,881,584            2%
Contracts and Consultants 1,379,371            1,248,617            130,754               9% 5,517,484            3,973,248            1,544,236            28%
Contracts and Consultants-HCPC 3,913,250            3,335,536            577,714               15% 15,653,000          14,835,244          817,756               5%
Supplies 354,237               206,352               147,885               42% 1,416,948            706,535               710,413               50%
Drugs 1,995,664            2,251,201            (255,537)              -13% 7,982,656            9,374,294            (1,391,638)           -17% C
Purchases, Repairs and Maintenance of: -                        

Equipment 99,778                  216,975               (117,197)              -117% 399,112               717,502               (318,390)              -80%
Building 177,679               173,401               4,278                    2% 710,716               706,881               3,835                    1%
Vehicle 86,851                  73,899                  12,952                  15% 347,404               317,155               30,249                  9%
Software 358,400               522,845               (164,445)              -46% 1,433,600            1,410,471            23,129                  2%

Telephone and Utilities 304,496               311,066               (6,570)                   -2% 1,217,984            1,180,420            37,564                  3%
Insurance, Legal and Audit 184,268               217,275               (33,007)                -18% 737,072               787,767               (50,695)                -7%
Travel & Training 251,089               231,214               19,875                  8% 1,004,356            667,322               337,034               34%
Dues & Subscriptions 555,682               1,556,129            (1,000,447)           -180% 2,222,728            2,343,709            (120,981)              -5% D
Other Expenditures 383,957               386,676               (2,719)                   -1% 1,535,828            1,728,127            (192,299)              -13% E

Operating Expenditures, total 31,160,756$       32,343,085$       (1,182,329)$        -4% 124,643,024$     121,331,227$     3,311,797$          3%
Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures 83,333$               (1,874,537)$        (1,957,870)           333,332$             131,533$             (201,799)              
Other Sources (Uses)

Debt Service (83,333)                -$                      83,333$               (333,332)              (963,092)$            (629,760)$            
Capital outlay -                        (4,427,055)           (4,427,055)           -                        (4,839,647)           (4,839,647)           F
Revenue Bonds Issued -                        -                        -                        -                        24,745,000          24,745,000          
Insurance proceeds -                        2,488                    2,488                    -                        4,136                    4,136                    
Proceeds from Sale of Assets -                        -                        -                        -                        31,904                  31,904                  
Other Financing Sources -                        892,933               892,933               -                        892,933               892,933               G
Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                      (5,406,171)$        (5,406,171)$        -$                      20,002,767$       20,002,767$       

For the Month Ended Fiscal Year to Date

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget

December 31, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 24 of 431



Page 5  

Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget
A State Contract and Grants

B Third party billing

C Drugs

D Dues & Subscriptions

E Other expenditures

F Capital Outlay

G Other Financing Sources

Capital Outlay for the current month consists of approx. $1.9M settlement payment related to the purchase of real estate (ReCenter 
agreement) and  approx. $2.4M in construction costs for the 6168 Apartments.

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Notes to Statements Presented

Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis reporting
December 31, 2024

In reviewing our payor mix and particularly the Third Party charges, excluding Pharmacy, we are seeing an increase in both our ACA 
and Commercial categories, however also an increase month over month in our self-pay book of business.  Overall when reviewing our 
Third Party charges our increase year over year through the first 4 months of FY25 is minimal and averaging $3.2M per month which is 
the same figure that we experienced in FY24.

Draw down of funds from the City of Houston forgivable loan going towards the construction of the 6168 Apartments.

IT related Dues & Subscriptions total $1.5M for the current month and $2.1M fiscal year to date.  Current month expenditures include 
$1.2M of YTD expenditures for the EPIC annual subscription invoice received during the month of December.

The primary driver of the unfavorable variance is attributed to contracts budgeted during current fiscal year, prior to related contract 
approvals resulting in low expenditures/billings for the month.  In addition, for new contracts, variance is primarily attributed to a 
timing difference until personnel is hired. $1M Revenue contract was not renewed and will not be realized in the current year.

YTD unfavorable budget variance for this line item is primarily related to ReCenter's operational & program expenditures exceeding 
YTD budget by approx. $263K; this variance is slightly offset by favorable YTD budget variances in other accounts.

The primary driver of the net unfavorable variance in Drugs is the increase in retail drug pharmacy purchases, which is offset by 
revenue earned on the billing program.  On a YTD basis the Pharmacy billing program revenue exceeds budget by $209K and the billing 
program expense exceeds budget by ($514K).

Page 25 of 431



Page  6

November - 2024 December - 2024 Change
Assets
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Petty Cash 13,371,366$           16,585,800$           3,214,434$              
Cash Equivalents 41,194,541              84,541,672              43,347,131              

Cash and Cash Equivalents, total 54,565,907              101,127,472           46,561,565              AA

Inventories, Deposits & Prepaids 10,609,493              8,632,514                (1,976,979)$            BB
Accounts Receivable:

Patient A/R, net of allowance 1,544,905                1,534,587                (10,318)                    
A/R from other governments 45,830,225              45,779,869              (50,356)                    
Other A/R 1,839,722                1,917,302                77,580                      

Current Assets, total 114,390,252$         158,991,744$         44,601,492$           

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 19,911,737              20,350,034              438,297                   CC

Capital Assets
Land 12,709,144              12,709,144              -                            
Building and Improvements 52,910,858              54,858,877              1,948,019                DD
Right-to-use assets (Leases & SBITA) 2,440,065                2,440,065                -                            
Furniture, Equipment and Vehicles 8,254,332                8,254,332                -                            
Construction in Progress 5,794,164                5,794,164                -                            
Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization (35,560,515)            (35,560,515)            -                            

Capital Assets, net total 46,548,048$           48,496,067$           1,948,019$              

Total Assets 180,850,037$         227,837,845$         46,987,808$           

Liabilities & Fund Balance/Net Position
Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 7,103,583$              10,227,450$           3,123,867$              
Unearned Revenues 15,628,318              62,984,961              47,356,643              EE
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 1,584,061                1,584,061                -                            
Due in more than one year 33,690,925              34,549,307              858,382                   FF

Liabilities, total 58,006,887$           109,345,779$         51,338,892$           

Fund Balance/Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 46,548,048              46,548,048              -                            
Restricted for Capital Projects 19,911,737              20,350,034              438,297                   CC
Nonspendable 10,609,493              8,632,514                (1,976,979)               
Assigned 66,514,014              66,514,014              -                            
Unassigned/Unrestricted (46,149,080)            (43,555,312)            2,593,768                GG

Change in fund balance/net position 25,408,938              20,002,767              (5,406,171)               
Fund Balance/Net Position, Total 122,843,150$         118,492,065$         (4,351,085)$            

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance/Net Position 180,850,037$         227,837,844$         46,987,807$           

Unaudited - Subject to Change

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Page 26 of 431



Page 7

Balance Sheet
AA Cash and Investments

BB Inventories, Deposits & Prepaids

CC Restricted Cash & Restricted Net Position for Capital Projects

DD Building & Improvements

EE Unearned Revenues

FF Noncurrent liabilities

GG Unassigned Fund Balance

Increase related to the Quarterly payment to the Trustee to be used to pay principal and interest on the Bond Series 2024 when due, as set forth in 
the Bond 2024 official statement. This cash is restricted for use for the financing of the approved capital projects and for the payment of principal 
and interest when due; as such the corresponding net position is restricted for capital projects.

The temporary deficit is primarily driven by the upcoming release of approx. $51M in assigned fund balance that will increase this unassigned fund 
balance line item.

Decrease related to the use of the prepaid benefit of $1.8MM related to HCPC bed days.

Unearned revenues increased due to funds provided through state and federal revenue allocations received in advance of performance of related 
obligations.

Amount due in more than one year increased due to recognition of the liability related to the drawdown of funds from the City of Houston forgivable 
loan going towards the construction of the 6168 Apartments.

Increase in Building & improvements reflects the $1.9M settlement payment related to the purchase of real estate (ReCenter agreement).  
Additional adjustments related to the purchase are expected to be recorded during the upcoming months.

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Notes to Statements Presented

Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis reporting
December 31, 2024

The increase in cash and cash equivalents is primarily driven by the receipt of the quarterly payment of the performance contracts of approx. 
$40.5M, and the County allocation of approx. $24.1M; the increase is reduced by monthly payment of operating expenses and a $1.9M settlement 
payment related to the purchase of real estate (ReCenter agreement).

Page 27 of 431



Page 8

Local Government Investment Pools (LGIPs)  Beginning Balance Transfer In Transfer Out  Interest Income Ending Balance  Portfolio % 
 Monthly 

Yield 
Texas CLASS  

Texas CLASS General Fund 7,029,848$             55,000,000$           -$                         91,425$                   62,121,273$           73.48% 4.75%

TexPool
TexPool Prime 30,478,319             -                           (11,848,019)            89,445                     18,719,745             22.14% 4.69%
TexPool General Fund 3,686,374               -                           -                           14,280                     3,700,654               4.38% 4.56%

TexPool Sub-Total 34,164,693             -                           (11,848,019)            103,725                   22,420,399             26.52% 4.67%

Total Investments 41,194,541$           55,000,000$           (11,848,019)$         195,150$                84,541,672$           100.00% 4.73%

Additional Interest on Checking Accounts 96,400                     

Total Interest Earned during the current month 291,550$                

3 Month Weighted Average Maturity (Days) 1.00
3 Month Weighted Average Yield 4.85%
3 Month Rolling Weighted Average Daily Treasury Bill Rate (4 weeks 4.45%
Interest Rate - Chase Hybrid Checking 2.90%
ECR - Chase 3.00%

Approved:

Thania D. Gonzalez
Thania D. Gonzalez
Controller

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Investment Portfolio
December 31, 2024

This Investment Portfolio Report of The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD as of December 31, 2024, is in compliance with the provisions of the Public Funds Investment 
Act (PFIA), Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code and the Investment Strategy approved by the Board of Trustees.

$62,121,273

$18,719,745

$3,700,654

Investment Portfolio Weight

Texas CLASS General Fund TexPool Prime TexPool General Fund

Page 28 of 431



Page 9
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Monthly Report of Financial Transactions Related to Payments of Liabilities for Employee Benefits
December 31, 2024

Vendor Description
Monthly Not-To-

Exceed (1) Dec-24
Fiscal Year to Date 

Total

Lincoln Financial Group (LFG)(2) Retirement Funds (401a, 403b, 457) $3,650,000 $2,995,502 $8,403,322

Blue Cross Blue Shield of TX Health and Dental Insurance $3,300,000 $2,470,809 $9,863,076

UNUM Life Insurance $310,000 $204,528 $817,216

Notes: 
(1)  As established by the Board Resolution approved October 22, 2024: Harris Center Board of Trustees Signature Authorization and Delegation 
Authority for Certain Items effective September 24, 2024.
(2)  LFG payments include transactions related to pay periods: 11C, 12A &12B

Page 29 of 431





The Harris 
Center for 

Mental Health 
and IDD

Page 30 of 431



PURPOSE OF 
THE AUDIT 

THE OPINION ON THE REPORT

Disclaimer

Qualification (modification 
due to scope limitation or 

departure from GAAP)

Unmodified 
(Clean Opinion) 

2

Page 31 of 431



1 2 3 4 5

THE AUDIT PROCESS

Planning 
(August 2024)

Internal 
Controls

(September 2024)

Understanding 
& 

Identifying Key 
Controls & 

Testing 
Controls

(September 2024)

Substantive 
Testing

(December 2024)

Opinion & 
Report 

Issuance
January 28, 2025

3

Page 32 of 431



CONTROLS

FINANCIAL 
INTERNAL 

CONTROLS 

4

Payroll

Procurement Human 
Resources

Non-payroll

Revenues

Information 
Technology 

Page 33 of 431



CONTROLS

FEDERAL 
AND STATE 

MAJOR 
PROGRAM  
INTERNAL 

CONTROLS 

5

Payroll

Procurement Financial 
Reporting

Non-payroll

Cash 
Management

Eligibility

Page 34 of 431



Third Party Reports 
• Comptroller’s Payment Report
• Regulator Reports

Analytical 
Procedures
(Flux and Ratio 
Analysis)

1 Predictive Tests

2 Vouching

3
Confirmations

4

5

SUBSTANTIVE PROCEDURES

6

Page 35 of 431



RESULTS
Audit in accordance with 
GAAS and GAGAS 
(Yellow Book)
Unmodified Opinion over 
financial statements
No significant 
deficiencies or material 
weaknesses over internal 
controls
No findings related to 
compliance
Time sheet approval 
recommendation

7

Page 36 of 431



MAJOR FEDERAL AND STATE PROGRAMS

8

2024 Major Federal Programs (SEFA Total:$60M) 2023 Major Federal Programs

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Various 
Programs  (ALN 21.027)*

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds  
Various Programs (ALN 21.027)*

Medicaid Cluster (ALN 93.778)* Medicaid Cluster (ALN 93.778)*

Substance Abuse Prevention & Treatment Block Grant (ALN 
93.959) 

Lifeline, Be Well Connected Program (ALN 93.243)

Community-wide COVID Housing Program (ALN 21.023)*

Early Childhood Intervention (ALN 84.181)

2024 Major State Programs (SESA Total: $149M) 2023 Major State Programs

General revenue – Mental Health, Psychiatric Hospitals and 
Intervention, and Permanency Planning

General revenue – Mental Health, Psychiatric Hospitals 
and Intervention, and Permanency Planning

General Revenue Intellectual or Developmental Disabilities General Revenue Intellectual or Developmental 
Disabilities

Health Community Collaborative

Harris County Jail Diversion

Early Childhood Intervention 

*Deemed high risk by OMB

Page 37 of 431



Statement of 
Net Position 
(Net Worth) 
Highlights

 Total Assets - $161 Million 

 Cash and investments - $69 million 

 Capital assets - $53 million

 Accounts receivable - $35 million

 Total Liabilities - $40 million 

 Accounts Payable - $8 million

 Accrued liabilities - $12 million

 Unearned revenue - $8 million

 Long-term liabilities  (compensated absences, leases, SBITAs) - $12 million 

 Net Position - $121 million 

9

Page 38 of 431



GENERAL 
FUND 
HIGHLIGHTS

 Beginning Fund Balance - $87 million

 Total revenues - $349 million

 Total expenditures - $359 million

 Other Financing Sources - $3 million

 Change in fund balance - $(7 million)

 Ending Fund Balance - $80 million 

 Unassigned fund balance - $61 million

 Assigned - $15 million

 Non-spendable - $4 million

10

Page 39 of 431



GENERAL FUND REVENUES ($349 M)

State grants & programs, 
$152 , 44%

Federal grants, $107 , 31%

Harris County allocation & other 
contracts, $46 , 13%

Local billings, $36 , 10%

Investment earnings, $4 , 1%
Other, $4 , 1%

(in millions)

11

Page 40 of 431



GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES ($359 M)

Adult Mental Health, $101 , 28%

Intellectual & Developmental 
Disabilities, $41 , 11%

Child and Adolescent, $22 , 6%

Crisis Center, $84 , 23%

Community Hospital (HCPC), $35 , 10%

General Administration, $42 , 12%

Forensic Services, $32 , 9%

Other, $2 , 1%

(in millions)

12

Page 41 of 431



QUESTIONS ?

Thank you!

13

Page 42 of 431





Page 43 of 431



Page 44 of 431



Page 45 of 431



Page 46 of 431



Page 47 of 431





Page 48 of 431



Page 49 of 431



Page 50 of 431



Page 51 of 431



Page 52 of 431



Page 53 of 431





Page 54 of 431



Page 55 of 431



Page 56 of 431



Page 57 of 431



Page 58 of 431



Page 59 of 431



Page 60 of 431



Page 61 of 431



Page 62 of 431



Page 63 of 431



Page 64 of 431



Page 65 of 431



Page 66 of 431



Page 67 of 431



Page 68 of 431



Page 69 of 431



Page 70 of 431



Page 71 of 431



Page 72 of 431



Page 73 of 431



Page 74 of 431



Page 75 of 431



Page 76 of 431



Page 77 of 431



Page 78 of 431



Page 79 of 431



Page 80 of 431



Page 81 of 431



Page 82 of 431



Page 83 of 431



Page 84 of 431



Page 85 of 431



Page 86 of 431



Page 87 of 431



Page 88 of 431



Page 89 of 431



Page 90 of 431





DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 17346796 

Origination 07/2024 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective N/A 

Last Revised N/A 

Next Review N/A 

Owner Joseph Gorczyca 

Area Human 
Resources 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

HR.A.36 Continuing Employee Communication and 
Engagement 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to develop a strategic framework for enhancing all employees' voices and 
engagement across the organization.  The goal of this policy is to establish an equitable and fair process 
for every employee to have opportunities to influence, to build trust and to contribute to a positive work 
environment. 

2. DEFINITIONS: 
The following definitions shall apply: 

1. "Board" shall mean the Board of Trustees of the Harris Center. 

2. "CEO" shall mean the Chief Executive Officer of the Harris Center. 

3. "Employee labor organization" shall be defined consistent with TEX. GOV'T CODE §617.001, that is, any 
organization in which employees participate and that exists in whole or in part, to deal with Harris Center 
concerning grievances, labor disputes, wages, hours of employment, working conditions and that does 
not claim the right to strike. 

4. "Employee representatives" shall mean the representatives of the employee labor organizations. 

5. "Employee Communication Plan" refers to all the measures and methods employed by Harris Center 
Executive Management to engage with front-line employees, solicit feedback, encourage good morale 
and staff retention, and improve working conditions and relationships. 

HR.A.36 Continuing Employee Communication and Engagement. Retrieved 01/2025. Official copy at
http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/17346796/. Copyright © 2025 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Page 1 of 5

Page 91 of 431

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7537467
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7537467
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


DRAFT

3. POLICY: 
It is the policy of The Harris Center to develop and implement ongoing processes and programs that 
promote each employee's engagement and improve each employee's experience. The Harris Center has 
a workforce comprised of employees who utilize their skills and talents to deliver quality behavioral 
healthcare and IDD services to Harris County residents. The Harris Center values all employees and is 
committed to continue to develop a work environment in which every employee's voice, suggestions and 
views are respected and sought out without fear of reprisal. 

The Harris Center leadership shall work collaboratively with all employees and utilize their collective 
experiences and feedback to improve retention, employee satisfaction, performance, patient care and 
the overall employee experience. The Harris Center shall establish robust mechanisms for soliciting 
each employee's voice and feedback to ensure the Harris Center aligns its policies, practices and 
priorities with the evolving needs and expectations of the workforce. 

A. COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT 

Crucial components of incorporating each employee's’ voice and perspectives into the Harris Center’s 
policies, practices, priorities and other continuous improvement initiatives include, but are not limited to: 

• Developing an Employee Communication Plan 

•  Evaluate the ongoing impact of the Employee Communication Plan 

• Annual employee surveys soliciting anonymous feedback 

• Routine meetings with Employee groups 

• Regular Townhall meetings at various Harris Center locations 

• Regular employee forums to have dialogue with the CEO and/or other members of the Harris 
Center leadership team 

• Employee Suggestion program for the improvement and implementation of new ideas 

• Team building exercises through collaborative workshops and retreats 

• Celebrate festive events and occasions, such as Employee Appreciation Day 

• Establishing a regular recurring meeting with Employee Labor Organization(s) 

1. MONITORING AND COMPLIANCE 

The development, implementation, evaluation and monitoring of the Employee Communication Plan and 
related initiatives shall be the responsibility of the Vice President of Human Resources.  

2. COMMUNICATION SCHEDULE 

Routine updates at Board meetings, including employee engagement activities, updates from meetings 
with employee labor organizations, the level of employee engagement and policy proposals, will be 
provided by the CEO and Vice President of Human Resources. Also, Harris Center staff will receive 
regular communication via CEO videos, the Harris Center newsletter and Intranet about employee 
engagement initiatives and opportunities for employees to provide feedback. Communication will be 

HR.A.36 Continuing Employee Communication and Engagement. Retrieved 01/2025. Official copy at
http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/17346796/. Copyright © 2025 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Page 2 of 5

Page 92 of 431



DRAFT

provided to inform employees of updates from suggestions and opportunities identified. These 
communications will be done consistent with employee feedback about preferred types, style and 
means of communication. 

 Updates from meetings with employee labor organizations will be provided to the Board by the CEO at 
the next Board meeting. Updates will include any recommendations to the Board and an account of the 
discussions that have taken place in the meetings with employee labor organizations. In addition to 
Public Comment opportunities and the CEO's report, employee labor organization representatives shall 
have an opportunity to provide a written report related to wages, hours and conditions of employment 
and the notes from the employee labor organization meetings to the Board in the Board packet. 
Employee labor organizations are responsible for adhering to all Harris Center Board meeting 
submission deadlines. 

[PENDING BOARD APPROVAL] Also, employee labor organizations shall have the opportunity to present 
at four (4) Board meetings per year provided that they submit a written request to the Board Chair and 
CEO at least nine (9) calendar days prior to the Board meeting. All topics and presentations must be 
related to wages, hours, and conditions of employment and matters covered by personnel policies. The 
written request must include  a brief description and summary of the topic.  All supporting documents 
and presentation materials must accompany the written request. All reports shall be limited to ten (10) 
minutes unless the Board approves additional time.Employee labor organizations may request additional 
opportunities to report to the Board outside of the four (4) opportunities already allotted per year by the 
Board. Written requests for additional opportunities to report  to the Board are subject to approval of the 
Board Chair. 

B. HARRIS CENTER EMPLOYEE LABOR ORGANIZATIONS OR 
UNIONS 

The Harris Center’s Executive leadership and the Board of Trustees support employees’ right to form 
and/or join a union without facing retaliation or disciplinary action.  As a public entity, the Harris Center is 
legally prohibited from collective bargaining that involves a process in which the Harris Center and its 
Board conducts negotiations with representatives of a union with a goal towards reaching a binding, 
enforceable and bilateral agreement between the Harris Center and a union or labor organization. See
Tex. Government Code Ch. 617.  In accordance with Tex. Government Code Ch. 617, the Harris Center is 
also legally prohibited from recognizing a union or labor organization as the bargaining agent for a group 
of employees. 

1. EMPLOYEE LABOR ORGANIZATION MEETINGS 

 The scope of Employee Labor Organization(s) meetings, activity, and discussions shall include wages, 
hours, employment conditions and all matters covered by personnel policies of the Harris Center. 

The Employee Labor Organization(s) meeting shall be composed of up to five representatives from 
employee labor organizations as designated by the organizations and the CEO or designee(s). 

[PENDING BOARD APPROVAL] Twelve (12) meetings per calendar year shall be held. Any member of the 
Employee Labor Organization(s) meeting may request items related to wages, hours and conditions of 

HR.A.36 Continuing Employee Communication and Engagement. Retrieved 01/2025. Official copy at
http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/17346796/. Copyright © 2025 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Page 3 of 5

Page 93 of 431



DRAFT

employment to be placed on the agenda for discussion. Proposed agenda items must be submitted, in 
writing, to the CEO designee at least one week prior to the scheduled meeting. The meeting agenda shall 
be included with the  meeting notification. 

[PENDING BOARD APPROVAL] A written request from the CEO or the employee representatives for 
additional meetings may be submitted. The written request must state the purpose for the proposed 
meeting and include the meeting agenda. A meeting may be scheduled as soon as possible following 
the receipt of the request based on the availability of all parties. 

Good faith efforts will be made to provide information relevant to the agenda in advance of the meetings 
upon request by the Employee Labor Organization(s). As a governmental entity, the Harris Center is 
required to adhere to the Texas Public Information Act.  The Texas Public Information Act remains an 
additional available option for the public to request public information. 

Best efforts will be made to schedule meetings without conflict with employment duties of employee 
representatives participating in the meeting. When a scheduled meeting conflicts with any participant's 
work duties, the CEO's applicable management representative will, to the extent client services are not 
adversely impacted, arrange for that participant to be released from normal work duties to attend the 
meeting. The meeting can be rescheduled if requested by the meeting participants due to schedule 
conflicts. 

2. EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 

Harris Center employees and Employee Labor Organization employee representative(s) are permitted to 
meet with, talk to, share information (printed, verbal, or electronic), and generally engage with one 
another regarding the activities of an Employee Labor Organization before or after those employees' 
shifts or during those employees' breaks or lunch hour in designated locations in Harris Center facilities, 
provided they coordinate with the appropriate supervisor at the work location and that such engagement 
does not impact with work duties or client care. Preparation for any union activities, including, but not 
limited to, meetings or union organizing activities, must be conducted outside the union members' 
regularly scheduled work hours. [PENDING BOARD APPROVAL] 

3. REPRESENTATION 

The Harris Center has an employee complaint, grievance and resolution process outlined in the 
Employee Handbook.  Consistent with Harris Center's current practice, every employee filing a grievance 
related to their wages, hours or work conditions may opt to have a representative (including someone 
from an employee labor organization) of their choice represent them. Employees who receive coaching 
or disciplinary action may include their comments and perspective in response to those actions in a 
manner that is included in their personnel file.  Additionally,  employees placed on probation, a 
Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) or terminated by the Harris Center have the right to appeal. With 
advance notice, employees are permitted to have representation (including someone from an employee 
labor organization) at the appeal review hearing. [PENDING BOARD APPROVAL] 

HR.A.36 Continuing Employee Communication and Engagement. Retrieved 01/2025. Official copy at
http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/17346796/. Copyright © 2025 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Page 4 of 5

Page 94 of 431



DRAFT
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

4.  PAYROLL DEDUCTION OF MEMBERSHIP DUES [PENDING BOARD 
APPROVAL] 

Upon written request by an Employee Labor Organization(s), the Harris Center will collaborate with the 
Employee Labor Organization(s) to develop reasonable procedures for monthly payroll deduction of 
union membership dues. The Harris Center shall remit the dues collected to the Employee Labor 
Organization(s). Each Employee Labor Organization shall ensure employees are offered an alternative 
means by which to pay monthly membership dues other than payroll deduction. 

4. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
This policy applies equally to all Harris Center employees. 

5. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS: 
HR.A.10 Equal Employment Opportunity 
     

HR.A.5 Employee Counseling, Supervision, Progressive Discipline and Termination 
     

HR.A.29 Time and Attendance 

 

6.  PROCEDURE: 
N/A 

7. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 
Collective Bargaining and Strikes, Tex. Government Code Ch. 617 

HR.A.36 Continuing Employee Communication and Engagement. Retrieved 01/2025. Official copy at
http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/17346796/. Copyright © 2025 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Page 5 of 5

Page 95 of 431

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13233619/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13233625/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/12415851/latest




Financial Statements Update
Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2024

Presented by: Stan Adams, Chief Financial Officer
Thania Gonzalez, Controller

Page 96 of 431



Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget* 
For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2024

*Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting (Unaudited)

Page 97 of 431



Capital Outlay - $11.6M

• $8.3M Actual planned capital 
outlay out of reserves:

• $7.9M addition to Construction 
improvement

• $0.4M addition to Building & 
Improvements and Equipment

• FY 2025 – Bond Series 2024 –
• Reimbursement: $2.5M - FY 2024 

Expenditures: Sept 2023 to 
August 2024

Page 98 of 431



FY 2024 Capital Budget –
Facilities Projects as discussed August 2023

Page 99 of 431



Capital Outlay - $11.6M

• $3.3M – Accounting treatment per 
GASB 87- Leases and GASB 96 –
SBITAs

• Requires recognition of NPV of 
total payment of all years of the 
new Leases & new SBITAs as an 
asset and a liability.

• “Capital Outlay” offset by 
“Issuance of Debt - Leases & 
SBITAs”

Page 100 of 431



Debt Service - $1.5M

• Budget: $1M
• Actual: $1.5M current year principal and 

interest expenditures
• Accounting treatment per GASB 87-Leases and 

GASB 96 – SBITAs

• In general, requires payments to be recognized 
as related principal and interest

• Reclassification of current year payments out of 
operating expenses into “Debt Service”

• Leases – Expenditures planned to be spent 
primarily under “Purchases, Repairs and 
Maintenance of Vehicles & Equipment” -
Approx $852K

• SBITAs - Expenditures planned to be spent 
primarily under “dues & subscriptions” and 
“software”  - Approx. $732K

Page 101 of 431



Balance Sheet* 
August 31, 2024

*Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting (Unaudited)

Page 102 of 431



Thank you.

Page 103 of 431





Page 104 of 431



Page 105 of 431



Page 106 of 431



Page 107 of 431



Page 108 of 431



Page 109 of 431



Page 110 of 431





Page 111 of 431



Page 112 of 431



Page 113 of 431



Page 114 of 431



Page 115 of 431



Page 116 of 431



EXHIBIT F-11 



Page 117 of 431



Page 118 of 431



Page 119 of 431



Page 120 of 431



Page 121 of 431



Page 122 of 431



Page 123 of 431



Page 124 of 431



Page 125 of 431



Page 126 of 431



Page 127 of 431



Page 128 of 431



Page 129 of 431



Page 130 of 431



Page 131 of 431



Page 132 of 431



Page 133 of 431



Page 134 of 431



Page 135 of 431



Page 136 of 431



Page 137 of 431



Page 138 of 431



EXHIBIT F-12 



Page 139 of 431



Page 140 of 431



Page 141 of 431



Page 142 of 431



Page 143 of 431



Page 144 of 431



Page 145 of 431



Page 146 of 431



Page 147 of 431



Page 148 of 431



Page 149 of 431



Page 150 of 431



Page 151 of 431



Page 152 of 431



Page 153 of 431



Page 154 of 431



Page 155 of 431



Page 156 of 431



Page 157 of 431



Page 158 of 431



Page 159 of 431



Page 160 of 431



Page 161 of 431



Page 162 of 431



Page 163 of 431



Page 164 of 431



Page 165 of 431



Page 166 of 431



Page 167 of 431



Page 168 of 431



Page 169 of 431



Page 170 of 431



Page 171 of 431



Page 172 of 431



Page 173 of 431



Page 174 of 431



Page 175 of 431



Page 176 of 431



Page 177 of 431



Page 178 of 431



Page 179 of 431



Page 180 of 431



EXHIBIT F-13 



Page 181 of 431



Page 182 of 431



Page 183 of 431



Page 184 of 431



Page 185 of 431



Page 186 of 431



Page 187 of 431



Page 188 of 431



Page 189 of 431



Page 190 of 431



Page 191 of 431



Page 192 of 431



Page 193 of 431



Page 194 of 431



Page 195 of 431



Page 196 of 431



Page 197 of 431



Page 198 of 431



Page 199 of 431



Page 200 of 431



Page 201 of 431



Page 202 of 431



Page 203 of 431



Page 204 of 431



Page 205 of 431



Page 206 of 431



EXHIBIT F-14 



Page 207 of 431



Page 208 of 431



Page 209 of 431



Page 210 of 431



Page 211 of 431



Page 212 of 431



Page 213 of 431



Page 214 of 431



Page 215 of 431



Page 216 of 431



Page 217 of 431



Page 218 of 431



Page 219 of 431



Page 220 of 431



Page 221 of 431



Page 222 of 431



Page 223 of 431



Page 224 of 431



Page 225 of 431



Page 226 of 431



Page 227 of 431



Page 228 of 431



Page 229 of 431



Page 230 of 431



Page 231 of 431



EXHIBIT F-15 



Supplier Diversity 
Report
Q1 FY2025

Presented by: Stanley Adams, CFO, MBA
January 21, 2025

Page 232 of 431



Overview

• RFP Advertisement – Examples

• Q1 FY2025 HUB Spent Report

Page 233 of 431



RFP Advertisements – Example (Defender Network)
Page 234 of 431



RFP Advertisements – Example (Houston Chronicle)
Page 235 of 431



RFP Advertisements – Example (La Informacion)
Page 236 of 431



RFP Advertisements – Example (Forward Times)
Page 237 of 431



RFP Advertisements – Example (WBEA)
Page 238 of 431



Q1 FY2025 HUB Report (1 of 2)

* Did not renew HUB certification during FY2023

Vast majority of the Agency’s Historically Underutilized Business vendors are located in the Greater Houston area

Page 239 of 431



Q1 FY2025 HUB Report (2 of 2)

• Q1 FY2025 HUB spend = $910,850

• Q1 FY2025 discretionary spend = $6,016,088

• HUB spend % = 15% 

• Exclusion categories from discretionary spend

• Intergovernmental contracts
• Key service contracts with non-profits (Easter Seals)
• University systems (BCM for residency program)
• Enterprise software (EHR, ERP)
• Leases
• Supported housing
• Pharmaceuticals 

• Utilities
• Physician services
• Trade organizations (National Council, Texas Council)
• Employee reimbursements

Page 240 of 431



Thank you.

Page 241 of 431



EXHIBIT F-16 



January 28, 2025
Presented by: Stan Adams, Chief Financial Officers

Financials by Clinic + 
NPC
Q1FYTD FY2025 

Page 242 of 431



Northwest Community Service Center  

2

FY2025 Q1 Financial Performance 

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

      $4,489,566
($5,568,349)
($1,078,784)

FY2025 Clinical Performance  

Annual Patient Visits                          13865
Average Monthly Patient V    4622
Average No Show 37.00%
Average Patient Wait Time                 29 Minutes
Average Third Next Available                      1.01 Day
Average Patient Satisfaction                         85%

Clinic Information 
Address        3737 Dacoma St
Facility Size                40,000 Sq Ft
Clinic FTE’s        139

Page 243 of 431



Northwest Community Service Center

3

• Service Description Adult Mental Health 
• Address 3737 Dacoma St
• Patients Served 4,219
• FTEs 139
• Facility Size 40,000 sq ft 

Q1FYTD 2025 Financial Performance 

+
-
=

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

$         4,489,566
5,568,349

($         1,078,784)

Page 244 of 431



Northeast Community Service Center  

4

FY2025 Q1 Financial Performance 

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

       $2,965,530
($4,835,527)
($1,869,996)

FY2025 Clinical Performance  

Annual Patient Visits                           9773
Average Monthly Patient V     3258
Average No Show                       40.00%
Average Patient Wait Time                 31 Minutes
Average Third Next Available                       1.25Day
Average Patient Satisfaction       87%

Clinic Information 
Address                                            7200 N Loop East Fwy
Facility Size                18,000 Sq Ft
Clinic FTE’s      78

Page 245 of 431



Northeast Community Service Center  

5

• Service Description Adult Mental Health 
• Address 7200 N Loop East Fwy
• Patients Served 2,534
• FTEs 78
• Facility Size 18,000 sq ft 

Q1FYTD 2025 Financial Performance 

+
-
=

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

          2,965,530
4,835,527

($         1,869,996)

Page 246 of 431



Southeast Community Service Center  

6

FY2025 Q1 Financial Performance 

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

         $6,170,966
($8,450,438)
($2,279,472)

FY2025 Clinical Performance  

Annual Patient Visits                           17063
Average Monthly Patient V     5688
Average No Show 35.00 %
Average Patient Wait Time                 20 Minutes
Average Third Next Available                      1.42 Day
Average Patient Satisfaction       88%

Clinic Information 
Address         5901 Long Drive
Facility Size                45,000 Sq Ft
Clinic FTE’s        165

Page 247 of 431



Southeast Community Service Center  

7

• Service Description AMH & CAS 
• Address 5901 Long Dr.
• Patients Served 4,641
• FTEs 165
• Facility Size 45,000 sq ft 

Q1FYTD 2025 Financial Performance 

+
-
=

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

$         6,170,966
8,450,438

($          2,279,472)

Page 248 of 431



Southwest Community Service Center  

8

FY2025 Q1 Financial Performance 

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

         $5,702,653
($7,986,109)
($2,283,456)

FY2025 Clinical Performance  

Annual Patient Visits                           19790
Average Monthly Patient V     6597
Average No Show                                               36.00 %
Average Patient Wait Time                 36 Minutes
Average Third Next Available                     1.40 Day
Average Patient Satisfaction       87%

Clinic Information 
Address                       9401 Southwest Fwy
Facility Size                37,770 Sq Ft
Clinic FTE’s        181

Page 249 of 431



Southwest Community Service Center  

9

• Service Description AMH & CAS 
• Address 9401 Southwest Fwy
• Patients Served 4,830
• FTEs 181
• Facility Size 37,770 sq ft (clinic space)  

Q1FYTD 2025 Financial Performance 

+
-
=

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

$       5,702,653
7,986,109

($         2,283,456)

Page 250 of 431



Neuro Psychiatric Center

10

FY2025 Q1 Financial Performance 

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

         $4,076,086
($5,520,910)
($1,444,824)

FY2025 Clinical Performance  

Annual Patient Visits                             N/A
Average Monthly Patient V      N/A
Average No Show                                                    N/A
Average Patient Wait Time                             N/A
Average Third Next Available                             N/A
Average Patient Satisfaction                             N/A

Clinic Information 
Address                                1502 Taub Loop
Facility Size                37,308 Sq Ft
Clinic FTE’s        153

Page 251 of 431



Neuro-Psychiatric Center (NPC)  

11

• Service Description Psychiatric Emergency  
• Address 1502 Taub Loop
• Patients Served 1,555
• FTEs 153
• Facility Size 37,308 sq ft  

Q1FYTD 2025 Financial Performance 

+
-
=

Revenues
Expenses
Gross Margin

        $         4,076,086
5,520,910

($          1,444,824)

Page 252 of 431



12

           
  Northwest CSC Northeast CSC Southeast CSC Southwest CSC Neuro Psychiatric Center

           
Revenues          

Harris County and Local                                   45,948                                   12,468                                 118,007                                 307,804                                        1,476,841 
PAP / Samples                                 781,118                                 739,261                                 920,396                                 787,794                                               9,205 
State General                                           -                                             -                                       9,855                                           -                                               15,970 
State Grants                              2,337,884                                 776,784                              3,553,947                              3,239,908                                        2,139,689 
Federal Grants                                 692,738                                           -                                             -                                   155,047                                                     -   
3rd Party Billings                                 229,239                              1,185,979                                 865,294                                 738,618                                                     -   

Total Revenues                                 402,638                                 251,038                                 703,467                                 473,482                                           434,381 

 
         

Expenses          
Salaries                              2,997,513                              2,523,057                              4,733,338                              4,535,984                                        3,969,126 
Fringe                                 848,969                                 794,843                              1,413,258                              1,386,487                                           977,662 
Contract Labor                                           -                                       1,200                                           -                                     53,866                                                     -   
Travel & Training                                   38,029                                   10,987                                   71,494                                   17,313                                               6,302 
Contracts and Consultant                                     4,459                                   19,886                                     6,995                                   16,792                                           182,838 

Supplies                                   30,949                                     5,503                                   17,425                                   19,629                                             11,913 

Food                                     1,815                                        205                                     1,429                                     2,352                                                     -   
Drugs                                 138,324                                   43,017                                   96,734                                   71,567                                             13,943 
PAP Drugs                                 781,837                                 739,261                                 920,396                                 787,794                                               9,205 
Pharmacy                                     3,752                                        294                                     9,686                                     3,169                                             25,858 
Pharmacy Use Fee                                 310,779                                 206,544                                 311,511                                 227,373                                             26,730 
Equipment (Purch, Rent, Maint)                                 169,847                                 354,865                                 489,370                                 326,235                                           136,117 

Software (Purch, Rent, Maint)                                     1,090                                           -                                             -                                       2,000                                                     -   
Building (Purch, Rent, Maint)                                 189,239                                   85,095                                 260,056                                 160,458                                             54,003 
Vehicle (Purch, Rent, Maint)                                           -                                             -                                     28,494                                           -                                                 6,421 
Telephone and Utilities                                   37,951                                   32,006                                   63,080                                   56,969                                             10,992 
Insurance, Legal, Audit                                     4,345                                     4,117                                   12,797                                   (4,206)                                               8,233 

Dues & Subscriptions                                          71                                          45                                           -                                             -                                                    375 

Other                                     9,381                                   14,602                                   14,376                                 322,327                                             81,191 
Expense Total                              5,568,349                              4,835,527                              8,450,438                              7,986,109                                        5,520,910 

         
Gross Margin  $                        (1,078,784)  $                        (1,869,996)  $                        (2,279,472)  $                        (2,283,456)  $                                   (1,444,824)

Q1FYTD 2025 Detailed Financials 
Page 253 of 431



Thank you.

Page 254 of 431



EXHIBIT F-17 



Revenue Management 
Metrics

January 28, 2025
Presented by: Stan Adams, Chief Financial Officer

Page 255 of 431



Overview

• Payor Mix • Revenue Cycle 
Performance Metrics
§ Days in Accounts Receivable 
§ Claims & Collections

Page 256 of 431



Payor Mix

Page 257 of 431



Payor Mix

Medicaid 47.6%

Self-pay 35.6%

Medicare 6.2%

Private 10.6%

Note: Payor Mix based on patient visit coverage in Q1 FY2025 

Page 258 of 431



Revenue Cycle 
Performance Metrics 

Page 259 of 431



Days in Accounts Receivable
• Days in AR is an industry standard for measuring the effectiveness of an organization’s collection efforts.  
• The metric is calculated by dividing the total AR by the average daily revenue.  
• The data source for Days in AR for this chart is the Epic Patient Billing Dashboard and Epic Financial Pulse.

Da
ys

 in
 A

R

Top 25th Percentile  
18.9

Benchmarking in Epic EHR for the Center is in comparison with large, multi-specialty, safety net organizations (143 service areas)    

Median 26.4

Dec-2
2

Jan
-23

Fe
b-23

Mar-
23

Apr-2
3

May
-23

Jun-23
Jul-2

3

Aug-2
3

Se
p-23

Oct-
23

Nov-2
3

Dec-2
3

Jan
-24

Fe
b-24

Mar-
24

Apr-2
4

May
-24

Jun-24
Jul-2

4

Aug-2
4

Se
p-24

Oct-
24

Nov-2
4

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

14.7 14.7 14.0 13.5 13.3 13.8
12.7 12.0 11.8 11.3 11.9 12.2

13.5
11.7 11.4

12.4
10.9 10.4 10.2 11.0

9.5 9.6 9.5 9.7

Page 260 of 431



Claims and Collections

Insurance Net Collections Rate by Financial Class*

FINANCIAL CLASS COLLECTION %

Traditional Medicaid 95%
Managed Medicaid 98%
Traditional Medicare 92%
Managed Medicare 86%
MMP 95%
CHIP 95%
Commercial 90%

The Harris Center Median Top 25th Percentile
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% 96.4% 93.7% 97.4%
Insurance Net Collections Rate

• Insurance Net Collections Rate is the ratio of matched insurance payments to net insurance resolution activity (payments and adjustments, not including allowances) 
for charges that went to zero active AR within the prior quarter (91 days).  

• The data source for Insurance Net Collections Rate is the Epic Financial Pulse reports. 
• Benchmarking in Epic EHR for the Center is in comparison with large, multi-specialty, safety net organizations.

* Q1 FY2025 

Average Monthly Count of Claims

FY2025 Q1 FY2024 FY 2023  FY 2022
32,830 29,151 32,490 32,020

Page 261 of 431



Thank you.

Page 262 of 431



EXHIBIT F-18 



MDI Medical Directors Education: 

CCBHC Medical Directors and Quality 
Measurement – Key Insights and Practical 
Examples, CQI Plan, and Link to Payment
January 23, 2025

Page 263 of 431



Disclaimer

1

This session is not a CMS- or SAMHSA-
funded or sponsored event. While this 
session is intended to provide context 
and information, the National Council 
team and presenters are unable to 
answer any inquiries on behalf of CMS 
or SAMHSA. Any questions related to 
the funding opportunity itself will 
need to be directed to your funding or 
project officer.

Page 264 of 431



How to Enable Closed Captions 
(Live Transcript)
Next to “Live Transcript”, click the arrow button for options on closed captioning and 
live transcript.

Page 265 of 431



Today’s Session: Slides and Recording

3

Slides and the session recording link will be available on the CCBHC Success Center 
website under “Past Events” within 2 business days. 

Page 266 of 431

https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/events/
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/events/


Speakers

4

Luming Li, MD
Chief Medical Officer, The Harris 
Center for Mental Health & IDD 

Joe Parks, MD
Principal Medical Advisor,
National Council for Mental 
Wellbeing

Page 267 of 431



Agenda 

• Medical Director & Quality 
Measurement
oMedical director involvement in 

clinical quality 
oCQI Plan
oKey Insights and Examples

• CCBHC Performance and Payment  

• Q&A
5

Page 268 of 431



Medical Director & Quality 
Measurement

6

Page 269 of 431



Medical Director Involvement in Clinical Quality

7

“The Medical Director is involved in the aspects of the CQI plan that apply to the 
quality of the medical components of care, including coordination and integration 
with primary care”

• Medical Director develops protocols for screening common physical health 
conditions.
• Medical Director establishes protocols conform to screening recommendations of 

USPSTF

Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinic (CCBHC) Certification Criteria Updated March 2023 (samhsa.gov)

Page 270 of 431

https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-criteria-2023.pdf


Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) Plan

8

• Addresses how the CCBHC will review known significant events including, at a 
minimum: 
o (1) deaths by suicide or suicide attempts of people receiving services; 
o (2) fatal and non-fatal overdoses; 
o (3) all-cause mortality among people receiving CCBHC services; 
o (4) 30-day hospital readmissions for psychiatric or substance use reasons; 
o (5) such other events the state or applicable accreditation bodies may deem 

appropriate for examination and remediation as part of a CQI plan

Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinic (CCBHC) Certification Criteria Updated March 2023 (samhsa.gov)

Page 271 of 431

https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-criteria-2023.pdf


Assessing Organizational Approach to Quality

Leadership/Governance

Oversight Responsibility for 
Quality

Resources

Tools to support Quality 
(Incident Reporting, 

Dashboards)

Quality Expertise

Formal or Informal Training

Informatics/Data

Clinical Workflows and Data 
Reporting – inputs, outputs

Executive Supports

Board and Executive Team 
(Knowledge and Training)

Page 272 of 431



Assessing Medical Director Knowledge about 
Quality

10

• Quality Science – extensive knowledge base and structure on tools/measurement 
approach

• Tools to get started
o Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI) Open School
o Specialized Quality Training Programs (i.e. Johns Hopkins, Intermountain, etc.)
o Quality project mentorship (Certifications in Lean, Six Sigma)

Page 273 of 431



Example: Developing a CQI Plan

• Goals
• Governing Body
• Leadership
• Review Committees

o Closed Records Review 
o Medical Peer Review 
o Pharmacy Peer Review 
o Nursing Peer Review 
o Licensed Professional Review 
o Institutional Review Board (IRB)

• System Quality, Safety and Experience 
Committee
o Pharmacy and Therapeutics
o Infection Prevention
o System Accreditation
o PI Councils
o Internal Learning Collaboratives
o Care Pathways 

11

Page 274 of 431



Example: Mortality Review

12

• Mortality (Suicide, Overdoses, All Cause): Closed Records Review Committee
o Chaired by VP Quality
o Incident Reporting Process (RL Datix Software) for all Death events reported to 

Staff
• Quarterly/Biannual Matching with Medical Examiners Data 

o Monthly Review Meeting
o Membership includes Clinical Providers and Department Leaders

Page 275 of 431



Example: Incident Review 
• Sentinel Events: 

o Root Cause Analysis (lengthier review with 
investigative process and recommendations)

o Timeline analysis, detailed review of 
departmental involvement in case and 
opportunities for improvement

• High-Risk Events: 
o Precursor Safety Events or Events with High-Risk 

Exposure (Rights Violation, Elopement, 
Legal/Risk Implications, Staff/Patient Safety)

o Clinical leadership across departments to review 
incident, assess for individual and systems 
improvements using Just Culture approach

• Routine Review: 
o Reviewed and closed by Local Unit Leaders, 

learnings disseminated at local level

• Incidents are trended and analyzed, and reported 
(System Quality, Safety and Experience Committee)

13

Page 276 of 431



Example: Depression Remission Project

Charter Team

• Clinical
• Medical

Nursing
• SW/Clinicians
• Pharmacists

• Operations
• Quality

• Data Analytics
• PI (Lead)

• Informatics

Early Discoveries / Tests of Change

• Process Improvements
• PHQ-2 then triggering PHQ-9  Modify to PHQ-9 only
• Infrequent collections of PHQ-9s  At least monthly 

for moderate & severe MDD
• PHQ-9s collection on all patients  Only collect for 

patients with MDD (except on initial intake)
• Treatment

• Accurate Chart Capture of Diagnosis
• Chart audits not showing consistently implemented 

MDD treatment  Develop recommended 
algorithm/care pathway for MDD

Goal: The purpose of this project is to increase the six-month remission rates of Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) for 
adult patients with an MDD Dx by 5 percentage points for fiscal year (Calculated Baseline # -> Improvement by 5%). 

Page 277 of 431



Depression Remission Measure: Observations 
& Suggestions

15

• Measure currently already part of CCBHC performance
• Measure is remission in 6 months (PHQ-9 < 5) 

o Benchmarks not yet available 
o Likely will be low percentage improvement 

• As medical director, can emphasize measure as an opportunity to promote 
evidence-based treatment (measure is stringent) 
o Understand measure definitions
o Informatics to help support role

Page 278 of 431



CCBHC Performance and Payment

16

Page 279 of 431



PPS Rate Setting Formula

17

• Allowable costs include direct costs (e.g. salaries, supplies), allocated indirect costs (e.g. rent, 
insurance); and anticipated direct/indirect costs.

• One visit = one day or month in which a “qualifying encounter” took place, regardless of number of 
services provided during that day or month.

Page 280 of 431



PPS Structure and Options

18

• Daily Rate
o PPS-1: One payment per client for any day in which the client receives at least one service
o PPS-3: One payment per client for any day in which the client receives at least one service, 

which includes a Special Crisis Service rate component

• Monthly Rate
o PPS-2: One payment per client for any month in which the client receives at least 1 service
o PPS-4: One payment per client for any month in which the client receives at least 1 service, 

which includes a Special Crisis Service rate component
o Rate may be stratified by population complexity, with higher rates for higher-complexity clients 

and lower rates for the general population

• Quality Bonus Payments are optional in PPS-1/3 and required in PPS-2/4.

• CCBHCs must file annual cost reports and states must rebase PPS rates at least every three years

Page 281 of 431



Special Crisis Service Rates

19

• Under PPS-3 and PPS-4, the Special Crisis Service (SCS) rates allow states to set at least one of three 
separate monthly rates for CCBHCs providing crisis services. 

• The three categories of Crisis Services for which SCS rates can be set are: 
o Mobile Crisis Services as outlined under section 9813 of the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)
o CCBHC Mobile Crisis Services that do not meet the criteria above but meet criteria described in 

section 4.C of the updated SAMHSA CCBHC Criteria.
o On-site CCBHC crisis stabilization services.

Page 282 of 431



Six Measures Required for Quality Bonus Payments (QBP)

20

1. Comprehensive Diabetes Care: Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) Control for Patients with 
Diabetes (HBD-AD) - new measure since 2024

2.  Depression Remission at Six Months (DEP-REM-6) - was optional prior to 2024
3. Time to Services (I-SERV) - new measure since 2024
4. Follow-Up After Hospitalization for Mental Illness, ages 18+ (adult) (FUH-AD) 
5. Follow-Up After Hospitalization for Mental Illness, ages 6 to 17 (child/adolescent)  

(FUH-CH) 
6.  Initiation and Engagement of Substance Use Disorder Treatment (IET-AD) 

Page 283 of 431



Required Measures Optional for QBP

21

7. Follow-Up After Emergency Department Visit for Substance Use (FUA-CH and FUA-
AD)  - new measure since 2024

8. Plan All-Cause Readmissions Rate (PCR-AD) 

9. Follow-Up Care for Children Prescribed Attention- Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 
(ADHD) Medication (ADD-CH)

10. Preventive Care and Screening: Unhealthy Alcohol Use: Screening and Brief    
Counseling (ASC) - new measure since 2024

11. Screening for Depression and Follow-Up Plan (CDFCH and CDF-AD) 

Page 284 of 431



Non-Required Measures Optional for QBP

22

12. Child and Adolescent Major Depressive Disorder (MDD): Suicide Risk Assessment 
(SRA) (SRA-C) 

13. Adult Major Depressive Disorder: Suicide Risk Assessment (SRA) (SRA-A)

14. Controlling High Blood Pressure (CBP-AD) 

15. Weight Assessment and Counseling for Nutrition and Physical Activity for 
children/Adolescents (WCC-CH) 

Page 285 of 431



Ground Rules

23

• PPS- 1 (daily general PPS) and PPS-3 (daily crisis PPS option) MAY include a QBP
• PPS- 2 (monthly general PPS) and PPS-4 (monthly crisis PPS option) MUST include a 

QBP
• No QPB is allowed soley for reporting CCBHC quality measures
• The CCBHC MUST meet the threshold for ALL SIX required QBP measures to receive 

any QBP 
• QBPs shall be made for achieving quality related targets within a specified timeframe 

and also year-over-year improvements in quality outcomes
• Consequences for not meeting the QBP thresholds

o No QBP 
o PPS payments remain unchanged
o The QBP is not treated as a revenue offset against cost the PPS rate

Page 286 of 431



States Design the QBP Methodology

24

•  The threshold that triggers payment on each individual measure 
o (e.g., the percentage of improvement in a quality metric within a particular 

period)

• The methodology for making the payment 
o on a per claim basis or as a lump sum payment; and 
o how often payment is made) 

• The amount of payment.

Page 287 of 431



Other State Flexibilities

25

• Setting their QBP thresholds to have different targets for each individual measure 
based on national, statewide or provider specific data. 
• In addition to single numeric thresholds, states can also set thresholds based on a 

provider specific amount of improvement in a performance year. 
• Making weighted QBPs to CCBHCs who achieve on quality measures, where the 

amount providers receive varies by quality measure. 
• States may also tier QBPs made to providers where different payments can be made 

based on the level of achievement at or above the threshold for each measure. 

Page 288 of 431



State of QBP Systems

26

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-
2023.pdf 

Page 289 of 431

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf
https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf


Award of QBPs

27https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-
report-congress-2023.pdf 

Page 290 of 431

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf
https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf


Award of QBPs Continued

28https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-
congress-2023.pdf

Page 291 of 431

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf
https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf


CCBHC PPS and QBP Resources

29

• Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinics Demonstration Program: Report to 
Congress, 2023 
https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6
b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf

• Section 223 Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinic (CCBHC) Demonstration 
Prospective Payment System (PPS) Guidance Updated February 2024 
https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/financial-management/downloads/section-
223-ccbh-pps-prop-updates-022024.pdf 

Page 292 of 431

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf
https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/6b9cdcb7cb75ec2c59a029b40d6b2e63/ccbhc-report-congress-2023.pdf
https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/financial-management/downloads/section-223-ccbh-pps-prop-updates-022024.pdf
https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/financial-management/downloads/section-223-ccbh-pps-prop-updates-022024.pdf


Questions?

??

Page 293 of 431



CCBHC Forum at NatCon25

31

• What: National Council is hosting a full-day pre-conference CCBHC Forum 
• When: Sunday, May 4, 2025
• Who: Designed for everyone- state health officials, policymakers, CCBHCs, advocacy 
groups, researchers and other stakeholders.
• Forum activities include:

• Joint programming with National Council’s Crisis Response Services Summit, 
exploring how the CCBHC model enhances effective crisis systems 

• Deep-dives into current CCBHC topics such as evaluating statewide impact, DCOs, 
SUD care, children’s services, and more 

• Registration is available now! CCBHC E-Grantees will receive a half day registration. 

Page 294 of 431

https://natcon25.eventscribe.net/aaStatic.asp?SFP=TUZFVlNBWVNAMTk1NzRAUmVnaXN0cmF0aW9u


Page 295 of 431



EXHIBIT F-19 



December 11, 2024

CCBHC Performance Measures: 
What Does This Mean for the Medical Director?

Page 296 of 431



Disclaimer

1

This session is not a CMS- or SAMHSA-
funded or sponsored event. While this 
session is intended to provide context 
and information, the National Council 
team and presenters are unable to 
answer any inquiries on behalf of CMS 
or SAMHSA. Any questions related to 
the funding opportunity itself will need 
to be directed to your funding or 
project officer.

Page 297 of 431



How to Enable Closed Captions 
(Live Transcript)
Next to “Live Transcript”, click the arrow button for options on closed captioning and 
live transcript.

Page 298 of 431



Today’s Session: Slides and Recording

3

Slides and the session recording link will be available on the CCBHC Success Center 
website under “Past Events” within 2 business days. 

Page 299 of 431

https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/events/
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/events/


4

Today’s Presenter 

Luming Li, MD, MHS
National Council for Mental 

Wellbeing, MDI
Co-Chair

Page 300 of 431



Learning Objectives

• Provide an overview of the 
performance measures for 
CCBHCs
oQuality Measurement Basics
oDescriptive Data for Caseload
oMeasures (Required and 

Optional)

Page 301 of 431



Q&A Poll

6

• 1. What is your level of confidence on quality management as related to CCBHC 
performance measures?
o Very confident
o Somewhat confident
o Not confident at all
o Never thought about it yet

Page 302 of 431



Quality Measurement 
Basics

7

Page 303 of 431



Quality Measures

8

• Quality Measures: standards for measuring 
performance of healthcare providers to the 
populations and patients they serve
oAggregated organizationally
o Types of measures: 
• Structural (i.e. adopting EHR)
• Process (i.e. follow-up after ED visit)
• Outcome (i.e. depression remission at 6 

months)

Page 304 of 431



Quality Measures

9

• Measure specifications include: 
oNumerator: number meeting standard 
oDenominator: total population being measured

• Example: Depression Remission at 6 months
oNumerator: # patients with measured improvement by measure 

definition
oDenominator: total # patients with MDD Diagnosis (exclusions 

include Bipolar disorder, personality disorder, schizophrenia, etc.)

Page 305 of 431



10

Page 306 of 431



Q&A Poll

11

• 1. Are you currently collecting the MDD Remission Measure?
oWe are doing it
oWe are working on it
oWe know about it but not yet
oThis is the first time I’m hearing about this

Page 307 of 431



CCBHC Performance Measures: SAMHSA 
Updated Criteria

12

• SAMHSA: March 2023 Certification Criteria 
• Includes Performance Measures for CCBHCs: 

https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-criteria-2023.pdf 
• Section 223 CCBHC Demonstration States

o Demonstration Year being on or after July 1, 2024
• Quality Measure Templates and Specifications 

o Manual: https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-quality-measures-
technical-specifications-manual.pdf 

o Data Reporting Template: https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-
data-demonstration-templates.xlsx 

Page 308 of 431

https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-criteria-2023.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-quality-measures-technical-specifications-manual.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-quality-measures-technical-specifications-manual.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-data-demonstration-templates.xlsx
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ccbhc-data-demonstration-templates.xlsx


CCBHC Quality Measure Requirements

13

State-Collected 
Measures
•Required: 13
•Optional: 2

Clinic-Collected 
Measures
•Required: 5
•Optional: 5

Page 309 of 431



State Collected Measures

14

• State-collected measures: 
oBased on administrative claims, 

encounter, and pharmacy data, 
surveys already being collected

oCalculated by the state for each 
CCBHC

o State sends both state-collected 
and clinic-collected results to 
SAMHSA, 12 months after 
Measurement Year

Page 310 of 431



Descriptive Data: Caseload Characteristics

15

• Age
• Sex
• Gender Identity (optional)
• Ethnicity
• Race
• Insurance Status
• Veteran or Military Status
• Total Clinic Population 

Page 311 of 431



16

Page 312 of 431



17

Page 313 of 431



Q&A Poll

18

• 1. Which required five clinic-based measures are you currently collecting?
o We are collecting these measures
o We are not collecting these measures
o I don’t know 

• 2. Which required state-based measures have your state been collecting? (That 
you’re aware of?)
o The state is requesting data for these measures
o The state is not requesting data for these measures
o I don’t know 

Page 314 of 431



Discussion/Follow-up

19

• What are next steps or other information/topics that would be helpful?

Page 315 of 431



Bonus: Medical Director Role in 
Performance Management and 

Quality Measurement

20

Page 316 of 431



Learning Objectives
Part II: Discuss how the Medical Director can set the stage to create an 
environment that yields positive performance measure outcomes

oGovernance/Oversight
o Levers of influence 
• CQI Plan
• Change Management

21

Page 317 of 431



Conceptual Framework
Organizational 
Size Medical Director Role Quality Team Supports Medical <-> Quality Interface

$1-10M 0.1-0.2 FTE, primarily clinical

Limited,
Executive team members may 
be wearing multiple hats, 
including quality

Medical leader with limited 
capacity/resources and training to 
participate in quality efforts, tasked 
to support clinical decision-making

$11-100M 0.3-0.5 FTE, combination 
administrative/clinical

Moderate,
Some dedicated quality staff

Medical leader with more flexibility 
to get involved in CQI Planning, 
Committee Development, 
Measurement and QI Projects

$101+M 0.6-1 FTE, primarily 
administrative

Most robust,
Dedicated quality/IT teams

Medical lead with significant 
oversight responsibilities for 
quality/safety, reporting functions; 
may have quality teams reporting 
as downline management 
responsibilities

22

Page 318 of 431



Q&A Poll

23

• 1. How much protected/dedicate time do you have for the medical 
director role?
o <10% time
o 10-20% time
o 21-40% time
o 41-60% time
o 61-80% time
o 81-100% time

Page 319 of 431



Governance/Oversight & Levers of Influence

• CQI Plan
• Change 

Management

Page 320 of 431



Questions & 
Comments

If you haven’t done so already, 
please place any questions you 
have in that chat!

What other topics are you 
interested in for future sessions?

Page 321 of 431



CCBHC Success 
Center Support

26

CCBHC Success Center News and Events 
Subscription Link: 
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/
ccbhc-success-center/implementation-
support/#subscribe-form.

Questions? Contact us at:
CCBHC@TheNationalCouncil.org

Visit our Success Center website at: 
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/c
cbhc-success-center/

Page 322 of 431

https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/implementation-support/#subscribe-form
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/implementation-support/#subscribe-form
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/implementation-support/#subscribe-form
mailto:CCBHC@TheNationalCouncil.org
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/
https://www.thenationalcouncil.org/program/ccbhc-success-center/


27

Thank You!
Thank you for attending today’s 

webinar.

Slides and the session recording 
link will be available on the CCBHC 

Success Center website under 
“Events” > “Past Events” within 2 

business days. 

Your feedback is important to us!

Please complete the brief event survey 
that will open in a new browser window at 

the end of this meeting. 

You may also scan the QR code (below) to 
fill out the survey! 

Page 323 of 431

https://thenationalcouncil-org.zoom.us/survey/inMPvGZroKadiWTMlC2En6QBbHNdFiRX4wDV8swqVYui8PGrZ0o.FYBvZwYXqtcThKWA/view?id=_WmoRWNpQa28BO55W4T_DQ#/sharePreview


Page 324 of 431



EXHIBIT F-20



December 2024

Children’s Behavioral 
Health Strategic Plan

Fiscal Years 2025–2029

Page 325 of 431



1 

Table of Contents 

Acknowledgements ...................................................................................... 3 

Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan Subcommittee Membership ............ 4 

Mission, Vision, and Guiding Principles ........................................................... 7 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................... 9 

Recommendations Summary ...................................................................... 12 

Introduction ............................................................................................. 17 

Adverse Childhood Experiences .................................................................. 17 

Collective Traumatic Experiences ............................................................... 19 

COVID-19 Pandemic ................................................................................ 19 

School Safety ......................................................................................... 20 

Profile of Texas Children ............................................................................. 22 

Socioeconomic Status and Insurance Coverage .............................................. 23 

Public Education ...................................................................................... 26 

Behavioral Health ..................................................................................... 27 

Waitlists for Behavioral Health Services ......................................................... 29 

Child Welfare ........................................................................................... 32 

Intake and Investigation and Child Protective Investigations ................................ 33 

DFPS Referrals as a Means to Access Behavioral Health Services ........................... 33 

Juvenile Justice ..................................................................................... 34 

The Behavioral Health Continuum of Care for Children ..................................... 37 

Systems of Care: A Framework for Children’s Behavioral Health Governance, 
Funding, and Coordination of Care .............................................................. 37 

Gaps in Services and Infrastructure .............................................................. 39 

Service Delivery System Supports ................................................................ 41 

Behavioral Health Parity ............................................................................ 41 

Behavioral Health Workforce...................................................................... 44 

Data and Health Information Technology ....................................................... 58 

Behavioral Health Awareness ..................................................................... 60 

Behavioral Health Prevention and Early Intervention Care .................................. 61 

Behavioral Health Outpatient Care ............................................................... 65 

Page 326 of 431



2 
 

Behavioral Health Residential Care .............................................................. 71 

Behavioral Health Inpatient Care ................................................................. 77 

Behavioral Health Crisis Care ..................................................................... 78 

Conclusion ............................................................................................... 82 

APPENDIX A: Coordinated Expenditure Report ................................................ 83 

APPENDIX B: Cover Art ............................................................................. 104 

 
 
 

Page 327 of 431



3 

Disclaimer 

This report was developed by the Texas Statewide Behavioral Health Coordinating 
Council’s (SBHCC) Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan Subcommittee. The 
recommendations were not authored by and do not reflect the views and opinions 
of the Texas Health and Human Services system, its component agencies, or staff.

Page 328 of 431



4 

Acknowledgements 

Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan 
Subcommittee Membership  
The Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan represents voices from across 
Texas, including mental health, substance use, and criminal justice professionals, 
people with lived experience and their families, community leaders, and program 
and policy subject matter experts across other stakeholder systems. Every effort 
was made to ensure the strategic plan for Texas children is reflective of the goals 
and priorities of diverse stakeholders.  

Thank you to the members of the Statewide Behavioral Health Coordinating 
Council’s (SBHCC) Children’s Behavioral Health Subcommittee. Your enthusiasm, 
expertise, and commitment to ensure children and caregivers have access to 
timely, affordable, quality, and effective behavioral health services is inspirational. 
SBHCC members are noted with an asterisk.   

Kim Bean 
Texas Department of State 
Health Services 

Evan Norton, Psy.D.* 
Texas Juvenile Justice 
Department 

Luanne Southern 
Texas Department of Family 
and Protective Services 

Dr. Courtney Harvey* 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission 

Dr. Jeffery Matthews 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission 

Tracy Levin’s 
National Training and 
Technical Assistance Center 
for Child, Youth, and Family 
Mental Health 

Trina Ita* 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission 

April Zamora* 
Texas Department of 
Criminal Justice  

Julie Wayman* 
Texas Education Agency 

Dr. Ryan Van Ramshorst 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission 

Jonas Schwartz* 
Texas Workforce 
Commission 

Dr. Nancy Treviño* 
Texas Tech University 
Health Sciences Center 

Leela Rice 
Texas Council of Community 
Centers 

Lysette Galvan 
National Alliance on Mental 
Illness Texas 

Janie Stubblefield 
Behavioral Health Executive 
Council 

Brooke King 
Texas Department of Family 
and Protective Services 

Jamie Bernstein 
Supreme Court of Texas 
Children's Commission 

Milbrey Raney 
Supreme Court of Texas 
Children's Commission 

Page 329 of 431



5 
 

Susan Garnett 
My Health My Resources 
Tarrant County 

Jenny Goode 
Betty Hardwick Center 

Katy Bourgeois 
Texas Alliance for Child and 
Family Services 

Stacy Wilson 
Children's Hospital 
Association of Texas 

Greer Gregory 
Texas Association of Health 
Plans 

Jana Eubank 
Texas Association of 
Community Health Centers 

Christine Bryan 
Texas Hospital Association/ 
Clarity Child Guidance 
Center 

Sherry Rumsey 
Texas Department of Family 
and Protective Services 

Tracy Spinner 
Collaborative Task Force on 
School Mental Health 
Services 

Lacey Coyne 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission 

Dr. Rishi Sawhney 
The University of Texas at 
Austin, Dell Medical School/ 
CommunityCare 

Daniel Gunter 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission 

Dr. Christopher Greely 
Texas Pediatric Society 

Julie Bourne 
Texas Family Voice Network 

Dr. Nhung Tran 
Texas Medical Association 

Daniela De Luna 
Texas Association of 
Community Health Centers 

Tamara Gavin 
Texas Association of Health 
Plans 

Naomi Alvarez 
Texas Association of Health 
Plans 

Michal Pankratz 
Texas Department of Family 
and Protective Services 

Alyssa Martinez 
Center for Young Minds 
Youth Council 

Dr. Jamie Freeny 
Mental Health America of 
Greater Houston 

Verlyn Johnson 
Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission’s 
Behavioral Health Advisory 
Committee-Children and 
Youth Behavioral Health 
Subcommittee 

Dr. Molly Lopez 
The University of Texas at 
Austin-Texas Institute for 
Excellence in Mental Health 

Shruthi Arismendez 
Texas Department of State 
Health Services 

We would like to give a special thanks to the following organizations and individuals 
for sharing their time and expertise throughout the work of the subcommittee.  

• The Meadows Mental Health Policy Institute, Amy Felker, and Nelson Jarrin  

• The Hogg Foundation for Mental Health, Shannon Hoffman, and Alison Mohr 
Boleware 

• Texas A&M University School of Public Health and College of Medicine, Dr. 
Marcia Ory, and Dr. Israel Liberzon  

Page 330 of 431



6 

The Statewide Behavioral Health Coordinating Council is grateful for the time and 
contributions provided to the development of the strategic plan by members of the 
public, staff at member agencies, and the organizations listed above.  

Page 331 of 431



7 

Mission, Vision, and Guiding Principles 

The 88th Texas Legislature directed the Statewide Behavioral Health Coordinating 
Council (SBHCC) to establish a subcommittee to develop a strategic plan focused on 
the mental health and substance use [hereafter referred to as behavioral health]1 
needs of children and offer a blueprint for understanding and meeting these needs 
over time.  

Per the 2024-25 General Appropriations Act, House Bill (H.B.) 1, 88th Legislature, 
Regular Session, 2023 (Article IX, Health-Related Provisions, Sec. 10.04(g)) the 
plan must incorporate the full continuum of care needed to support children and 
families and include: 

(1) descriptions of who provides what services to which children;
(2) strategies to identify and address gaps in care;
(3) discussion of workforce shortages;
(4) information on funding and reimbursement; and
(5) children-specific data and expenditure information.

The subcommittee met July 2023 through July 2024 to complete and submit the 
plan to the Legislative Budget Board and the Governor’s Office by December 1, 
2024. 

VISION: 
All Texas children have access to a comprehensive and equitable continuum of 
behavioral health care that is available, accessible, affordable, and improves their 
quality of life.  

MISSION: 
To strengthen the collaboration of state and local efforts to weave behavioral health 
supports and services into seamless systems of care for children and their 
caregivers. 

1 Per the American Medical Association, behavioral health generally refers to mental health 
and substance use disorders, life stressors and crises, and stress-related physical 
symptoms. Behavioral health care refers to the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of 
those conditions. 

Page 332 of 431



8 

GUIDING PRINCIPLES: 
1. Children and their caregivers have access to a range of developmentally

appropriate services, provided in the least restrictive environment, that are
culturally and linguistically responsive and address their emotional,
behavioral, social, educational, and physical needs.

2. Children and their caregivers have access to services that are integrated at
the system and practice levels, cross administrative and sustainable funding
boundaries, and promote continuity of care with agreements between child-
serving agencies and programs.

3. Children and their caregivers receive individualized treatment that is
developed in partnership with them and recognizes their unique needs and
strengths.

4. Prevent or lessen the impact of behavioral health conditions in children by
investing in upstream initiatives that target the promotion, prevention, early
identification, and intervention of behavioral health conditions.

5. Improve outcomes for children and their caregivers by investing in evidence-
based, promising, and practice-based services and supports that are cost and
clinically effective.

6. Develop and track outcomes at the system, practice, and child and family
levels to assess the effectiveness of behavioral health services and
incorporate continuous accountability and quality improvement processes to
enhance service provision.

Page 333 of 431



9 

Executive Summary 

According to the United States (U.S.) Census Bureau, one of every 10 people under 
the age of 18 in the U.S. lives in Texas.2 In 2022, the Substance Abuse and Mental 
Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) estimated that of the 3.8 million children 
in Texas between the ages of 9 and 17, up to 500,000 had a serious emotional 
disturbance (SED)3 causing moderate symptoms and/or functional impairment.4 
The 2021-2022 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) indicated that up 
to 7.8 percent of Texas children ages 12-17 had a substance use disorder in the 
past year (i.e., 2021 onward). 5  

Supporting children’s recovery from mental and substance use conditions is 
possible and can be achieved through effective implementation of local and state-
level Systems of Care.6 

Meeting the behavioral health needs of children in Texas requires: 

● Strengthening public-private partnerships at the state and local level;
● Strengthening insurance parity laws and enforcement;
● Strengthening the array of behavioral health services in the commercial

insurance market to keep pace with the public sector;
● Braiding funding to support the total cost of care;

2 Young Texans: Demographic Overview.   
3 Section 531.251, Texas Government Code, defines “Serious emotional disturbance” as a 
mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder of sufficient duration to result in functional 
impairment that substantially interferes with or limits a person’s role or ability to function in 
family, school, or community activities. 
4 https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt42790/adults-with-smi-and-
children-with-sed-prevalence-estimates-in-2022.pdf.  
5 NSDUH State Estimates. 
6 The-Evolution-of-the-SOC-Approach-FINAL-5-27-20211.pdf.  

A system of care is a multi-sector partnership intended to provide a mechanism 
for planning, financing, evaluating, and ensuring the availability of and children’s 
access to behavioral health services and supports. It is inclusive of behavioral 
health promotion, prevention, early identification and intervention, treatment, 
and recovery designed to meet the unique needs of children and their caregivers. 
The goal of systems of care is to help children thrive at home, school, 
communities, and adulthood.   

Page 334 of 431

https://comptroller.texas.gov/economy/fiscal-notes/archive/2020/feb/texans.php#:%7E:text=Texas%20is%20growing%20fast%2C%20and,the%20U.S.%20lives%20in%20Texas.
https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt42790/adults-with-smi-and-children-with-sed-prevalence-estimates-in-2022.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt42790/adults-with-smi-and-children-with-sed-prevalence-estimates-in-2022.pdf
https://datatools.samhsa.gov/saes/state
https://wraparoundohio.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/The-Evolution-of-the-SOC-Approach-FINAL-5-27-20211.pdf


10 
 

● Increasing reimbursement rates for behavioral health services in commercial 
and public insurance markets to maintain and expand the capacity of the 
provider system to meet current and future demand for services; and  

● Strengthening the behavioral health workforce recruitment, retention, and 
expertise. 

Of note, it will require a multi-biennia strategy to enhance the Children’s 
Behavioral Health Care Continuum. The Children’s Behavioral Health Care 
Continuum is a tiered model of services and supports for children that increase in 
intensity, cost, and length of treatment based on the severity, complexity, and 
acuity of their needs. The tiers are fluid, meaning, children may move up or down 
these tiers at various stages of living with their condition. 

 

The subcommittee developed recommendations that reflect solutions to the 
following gaps identified: 

● Behavioral health parity;  
● Rates of reimbursement for behavioral health services;  
● Behavioral health workforce;  
● Behavioral health data and health care information technology; and 
● Crisis, outpatient, residential and inpatient care.  

 

 

Page 335 of 431



11 
 

The table on the following page includes a summary of recommendations that could 
enhance access to behavioral health services, the delivery of timely, affordable, 
quality, and effective behavioral health services, continuity of care, and health and 
recovery outcomes for children and their caregivers. The recommendations are 
listed by category:  

● The System of Care Philosophy: Framework for Children’s Behavioral 
Health Governance, Funding, and Coordination of Care 

● Service Delivery System Supports: Supports that shore up the 
availability, accessibility, affordability, efficacy, and outcomes of behavioral 
health services. 

● Behavioral Health Awareness: Strategies that increase public knowledge 
about behavioral health to promote widespread understanding, reduce 
stigma, and foster positive help-seeking attitudes. 

● Behavioral Health Prevention and Early Intervention Care: Care 
delivered to children in a community-based setting to facilitate early 
identification and initial connection to services that may reduce the incidence, 
prevalence, and severity of behavioral health conditions.  

● Behavioral Health Outpatient Care: Care delivered to children in office or 
community-based settings that varies in frequency of contact and types of 
services based on the acuity of behavioral health conditions. 

● Behavioral Health Residential Care: Care delivered to children in a non-
hospital, residential setting that requires increased frequency of contact and 
services that respond to the acuity of behavioral health conditions. 

● Behavioral Health Inpatient Care: Care delivered to children in a hospital-
based setting that reduces imminent risk of harm to self or others, prevents 
deterioration of mental or physical health, and prepares for transition to less 
restrictive settings and long-term intensive treatment.  

● Behavioral Health Crisis Care: Care delivered to children in an outpatient 
or crisis facility environment, or in the community, that reduces imminent 
risk of harm to self or others or deterioration of the child’s mental or physical 
health. 

 
 

Page 336 of 431



12 
 

Recommendations Summary 

 

The System of Care Philosophy Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 
Number 

Amend Texas Government Code, Section 531.251, to establish a state multi-sectoral children’s behavioral health 
advisory team to advance statewide implementation of the System of Care. 

 

38 

Establish a Texas Children’s Behavioral Health Training and Technical Assistance Center.  

      

38 

Service Delivery System Supports Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 
Number 

Amend Texas Insurance Code, Section 1355.001, to add a definition for Serious Emotional Disturbance.  
 

42 

Fund the Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) to expand the number of Certified Family Partners and 
make Certified Family Partner services a Medicaid state plan benefit. 

           

51 

HHSC should expand the qualifications required to serve as a Qualified Mental Health Professional-Community 
Services.  

 

51 

Join the Counseling Compact and Social Work Compact, by amending Texas Occupations Code Chapters 503 and 
505, respectively.  

 

52 

Page 337 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm#531.251
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/IN/htm/IN.1355.htm#1355.001
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.503.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.505.htm


13 
 

Amend Human Resources Code, Chapter 32, to authorize Licensed Marriage and Family Therapist Associates, 
Licensed Professional Counselor Associates, and Licensed Master Social Workers to provide and be reimbursed for 
counseling services under the Medicaid state plan.        

55 

Fund the Texas Child Mental Health Care Consortium to expand the Community Psychiatry Workforce Expansion 
Initiative to include other mental health professions.          

56 

Fund the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board to implement the Behavioral Health Innovation Grant Program 
under Texas Education Code, Section 61.9991, Subchapter RR.             

56 

Establish a data governance committee for children’s behavioral health. 
      

59 

Invest in modernizing data systems to strengthen data sharing, data collection, data storage, and data reporting to 
improve continuity of care for children served in the state system.        

59 

Strengthen data workforce capacity through human capital investment in data teams. 
      

59 

Behavioral Health Awareness Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 

Amend Chapter 1001 Texas Health and Safety Code, Subchapter H, to permit HHSC to contract with Regional 
Education Service Centers (ESCs) in addition to LMHAs, LBHAs to deliver Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) training 
and fund HHSC to expand MHFA training infrastructure. 

 

 

 

 

               

60 

Page 338 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/ED/htm/ED.61.htm#61.9991
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/HS/htm/HS.1001.htm#1001.201


14 
 

Behavioral Health Prevention and Early Intervention Care Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 

Fund TEA to issue discretionary grants to school districts to replicate Project Advancing Wellness and Resiliency in 
Education (AWARE) Texas and deliver technical assistance with resources to increase student access to mental 
health services and supports aligned to statutory requirements for safe and supportive schools.       

61 

Establish a mental health allotment for schools separate from the school safety allotment.  

      

62 

Fund HHSC to expand the Children’s System Navigator program. 

             

63 

Fund HHSC to expand substance use youth prevention programs.  

             

64 

Behavioral Health Outpatient Care Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 

Fund HHSC to include Coordinated Specialty Care for First Episode Psychosis, Family Functional Therapy, and 
Multisystemic Therapy as Medicaid state plan benefits.       

65 

Fund HHSC to include Intensive Outpatient services and Partial Hospitalization services as Medicaid state plan 
benefits.       

68 

Fund HHSC to increase rates for the Youth Empowerment Services Waiver Program and address administrative 
barriers to serving children with complex needs. 

              

68 

Modernize Utilization Management Guidelines for the Texas Resilience and Recovery Treatment model to permit new 
evidence-based practices and broader curriculum usage. 

               

69 

Page 339 of 431



15 
 

Amend Chapter 531, Government Code, and fund HHSC to implement the Healthy Transitions: Improving Life 
Trajectories for Youth Grant program.       

70 

Fund HHSC to expand Outpatient Biopsychosocial Services statewide. 

                

70 

Fund the Supreme Court of Texas Permanent Judicial Commission on Children, Youth and Families (Children’s 
Commission) to expand implementation of state and local dual status initiatives.       

71 

Behavioral Health Residential Care Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 

Fund HHSC to establish Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facilities as a Medicaid state plan Benefit. 
      

72 

Fund HHSC to expand the Residential Treatment Center Project to include increasing rates for services. 

                  

73 

Fund HHSC to expand youth substance use treatment programs and the resources available to the youth treatment 
provider network. 

                

74 

Behavioral Health Inpatient Care Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 

Fund HHSC to increase rates for inpatient providers serving children with co-occurring mental health and 
Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (IDD) and those with co-occurring complex medical conditions.  

 

 

      

77 

Page 340 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/gv.531.htm


16 
 

Behavioral Health Crisis Care Implementation Action 
Required 

Page 

Fund HHSC to Expand Youth Crisis Outreach Teams as a statewide service available 24/7. 
               

78 

Fund HHSC to expand crisis respite units serving children with behavioral health conditions and/or IDD conditions.  
      

79 

Fund HHSC to cover crisis services such as in-home and out-of-home crisis respite, extended observation, and crisis 
stabilization services as a Medicaid state plan benefit, to the extent allowable under federal requirements.       

80 

Page 341 of 431



17 
 

Introduction 

Behavioral health is one component of a child’s overall well-being. Meeting 
children’s behavioral health needs requires a multi-faceted approach, including 
supporting caregivers and families, ensuring safe and supportive schools, and 
increasing access to child-serving programs.7 A child’s development is influenced by 
caregiver capacity to foster a healthy environment, family interactions, child 
daycare and school environments, friendships, neighborhoods, and more.8 
Childhood development is also impacted by broader circles of community influence 
that shape a child’s experiences and view of the world around them. These factors 
include economic circumstances, mass media, and available health care systems.  

Adverse Childhood Experiences 
Childhood experiences shape the physical, mental, and emotional development that 
later influences the ability to enjoy secure relationships and physical and emotional 
well-being in adulthood. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), as described by 
Finkelhor (2020), are “a cluster of childhood experiences thought to be particularly 
damaging to healthy development” and have been shown to have long-term 
negative effects on health including behavioral health.9 ACEs, when they occur 
before age 18, include the following: abuse, neglect, parental divorce, and other 
types of adversity, such as bullying, poverty, community violence, and natural 
disasters.10 

In 2022, an estimated 19 percent of children in Texas experienced two or more 
ACEs by age 18.11   

Figure 1 reflects the long-term impact of ACEs if the traumatic experiences are 
unacknowledged or left untreated.12  

 

 

 

 
7 American Psychological Association, Children’s mental health.  
8 Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives.  
9 Trends in Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) in the United States.  
10 HHSC Texas Health Steps: Addressing ACEs During Texas Health Steps Checkups.  
11 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).  
12 Adverse childhood experiences.  

Page 342 of 431

https://www.apa.org/topics/children/mental-health#:%7E:text=Mental%20health%E2%80%94an%20essential%20part,on%20the%20inside%20and%20outside.
http://ereserve.library.utah.edu/Annual/PSY/6391/Huebner/ecology.pdf
https://www.unh.edu/ccrc/sites/default/files/media/2022-02/trends-in-adverse-childhood-experiences_0.pdf
https://www.txhealthsteps.com/static/courses/ACES-CS-21/sections/section-1-1.html
https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/dell/legislative-initiatives/docs/2022/ACES-Report-102622.pdf
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/epub/10.1177/1755738020964498


18 
 

Figure 1. Long-Term Impact of ACEs 

 

Experiencing a higher number of ACEs is associated with both social-emotional 
deficits and developmental delay in early childhood. Positive parenting practices, 
however, demonstrate robust protective effects independent of the number of 
ACEs. This supports promotion of positive parenting practices at home, especially 
for children exposed to high levels of adversity.13  

A 10 percent reduction in ACEs could equate to $56 billion in savings and other 
economic and health benefits, including a 15 percent reduction in the number of 
adults who are unemployed, a 44 percent reduction in adults with depression, and a 
33 percent reduction in adults who smoke.14 

ACEs can be preventable through caregiver, familial, and community-level 
interventions. Examples of these interventions include: 

● Strengthening a family’s financial stability through paid time off, flexible and 
consistent work schedules, and child tax credits; 

 
13 Positive Parenting in the Face of Early Adversity: Does it Really Matter?.  
14 We Can Prevent Childhood Adversity.  

Page 343 of 431

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10954083/


19 
 

● Teaching healthy relationship skills, including appropriately managing 
conflict, developing emotional intelligence, and healthy dating practices; and 

● Lessening immediate and long-term harms through interventions such as 
creating access to family-centered treatment for substance use conditions.15 

ACEs do not have to determine a child’s future. Prevention and early intervention 
strategies can reduce their prevalence and impact, increasing children’s 
opportunities for healthy adulthood.  

Collective Traumatic Experiences 

Hirschberger (2018) defines collective trauma as “the psychological reactions to a 
traumatic event that affect an entire society; it does not merely reflect a historical 
fact, the recollection of a terrible event that happened to a group of people.”16 
Texas children have faced collective traumatic experiences including the examples 
outlined below.  

COVID-19 Pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic profoundly shifted children’s social realities. The isolation 
period created through lockdowns and social distancing did more than separate 
youth from their peers; it fostered a sense of loneliness and disconnect in children 
of all ages.17 Children’s emotional and psychological development happens through 
direct interactions with peers. School closures, suspension of extracurricular 
activities, and the shift to remote learning created a void for these social 
interactions. Isolation exacerbated children’s feelings of loneliness, leading to a 
surge of behavioral health challenges. The inability to engage in face-to-face 
interactions and participate in shared experiences stunted the development of vital 
social skills, which intensified the sense of being alone. 

The COVID-19 pandemic is an example of a collective traumatic experience with 
long-lasting impacts to communities, families, and children. Prior to the pandemic, 
the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention suggests that 1 in 5 American 
children, ages 3-17 had an emotional, developmental, mental, or behavioral health 
condition.18 A review of several studies conducted between early 2020 and 2021 
revealed that globally, the prevalence of anxiety and depression in youth doubled 

 
15 We Can Prevent Childhood Adversity  
16 Collective Trauma and the Social Construction of Meaning.   
17 Loneliness and Well-Being in Children and Adolescents during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A 
Systematic Review.  
18 Protecting youth mental health: The U.S. Surgeon General's Advisory.  

Page 344 of 431

https://vetoviolence.cdc.gov/apps/aces-infographic/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6095989/pdf/fpsyg-09-01441.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9955087/pdf/children-10-00279.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9955087/pdf/children-10-00279.pdf
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/surgeon-general-youth-mental-health-advisory.pdf


20 
 

during the pandemic, with 25 percent of youth experiencing depressive symptoms 
and 20 percent experiencing anxiety. 19  

In Texas, more than 14,000 children lost a caregiver to COVID-19.20 The loss of a 
caregiver can increase the likelihood of experiencing poverty, behavioral health 
conditions, abuse, neglect, exploitation, delayed development, reduced access to 
education, and institutionalization. Adverse experiences increase children’s need for 
physical, behavioral, and health-related social services and supports.21 

School Safety 

The Texas School Safety Center reports that a safe school environment is “one free 
from bullying, violence, and substance use and one which promotes physical, 
mental, and behavioral health.”22 A 2018 survey conducted on behalf of the 
American Psychological Association (APA), which included youth ages 15-17, found 
that 56 percent experienced stress associated with school safety.23 Data from the 
2022 Texas School Survey of Drug and Alcohol Use reflected that 36 percent of 
students surveyed reported alcohol use, an increase from the 2020 survey. The 
2020-2022 survey also noted increased tobacco and prescription drug use, while 
reported marijuana use remained steady.24  

Incidences of mass violence, alcohol, and drug use, bullying, and other direct or 
secondary traumatic events may become a part of a child’s collective memory and 
storytelling through their high degree of social media utilization. The APA reports 
U.S. teens spend an average of 4.8 hours a day on social media sites. 25 While there 
are benefits to the use of social media, such as forming online friendships and 
creative expression, there is also the opportunity for emotional harm. For example, 
46 percent of adolescent girls ages 13-17 report that social media impacts their 
body image.26 In a similar study, 75 percent of adolescents report that social media 
sites do a fair to poor job addressing cyberbullying.27  

ACEs and collective traumatic experiences influence children’s behavioral health and 
illuminate that behavioral health services and supports should not solely be those 
offered to an individual child, but should be inclusive of caregivers, broader support 

 
19 Global Prevalence of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms in Children and Adolescents 
During COVID-19.   
20 More than 14,000 Texas children have lost a caregiver due to COVID-19.  
21 COVID-19-Associated Orphanhood and Caregiver Death in the United States.  
22 A Parent's Guide to School Safety Toolkit.   
23 Stress in America Generation Z.   
24 Texas Health Data - Texas School Survey of Drugs & Alcohol Use.  
25 Teens are spending nearly 5 hours daily on social media. Here are the mental health 
outcomes.  
26 Social Media and Youth Mental Health.  
27 Social Media and Youth Mental Health. 

Page 345 of 431

https://www.kvue.com/article/news/investigations/defenders/more-than-14000-texas-children-lost-caregiver-to-covid/269-c6a19d66-33a7-437a-9845-e014a00ecd43
https://watermark.silverchair.com/peds_2021053760.pdf?token=AQECAHi208BE49Ooan9kkhW_Ercy7Dm3ZL_9Cf3qfKAc485ysgAAAzUwggMxBgkqhkiG9w0BBwagggMiMIIDHgIBADCCAxcGCSqGSIb3DQEHATAeBglghkgBZQMEAS4wEQQMpdrFBrjv8zxUBuK7AgEQgIIC6PTV6WGJMltc4CB6TAiW-RpuCukoQkIaVKY2ijO7IEyAgKfi23tK8AjyWu_dxfGHgNjdUCg1lz86VnEEgcWLSBUiRY0Ai-dcInoYDSeiLx-yi-xa6MpAoO1pAESkQMgdLykTA5lMouqHurW2-FWFQr_0sVM1ShS8hjnAWLjke5-jg6mwNZi82YFLR5f6SvDyAm17xGnQFEnaN5LGVtBoh-tqRpG4r6sZtpbk8mW1JkJJoQtWyoSkuWSInaxWwXX6vK3VT9ZlVjenrTF5EhkWG14gAE7xA176UUUwLmbByYt2CcT-mWMwR_Jv1IwHNqIuYp8XjZ8GEwNumVL1hcIiHE1AzGorMhOvcyi5TO-Kek8v7Ttb_RBNgQjv3H-c8mQFO5X5EYxgoujiFloq6F5WD_fIIhk2rg-EpWeJHYEqJJeMVkgIAmTiVEK93pe1LPEZ9WvQIhhN42WXfzjBFimDWvTRwRF08c0zZfhRjZUQLjfOl15OZoRkFRUCXSSxgFbvt5_zcjJ2wEqPlDCBylEslWBHorxBJMSkFlmL7Eaz67kbKENN7__9KpY4ldGwgZaALR5sMU3wieQVqsbsbDqEwguw2jkyLkK737a6ReZzZ-wgRAFj3c4JOARUujgn3tgFFPq7GWb1djv-LVh-FAeTM_AF69U-zASe581mgMqIHAoWys1m7njLSyxT3ARYM0v9qke1ZFg-z5o_3ZLF9Hl3gCeijW749oPTx9p4-SWEaM4QRnIF_KWiPcxD1oRH1foQN9vlK4dck0LrEMzgJ1DtQbJoEbHt5edzwIIcYfRTFctCj3RG3Lm7lTiHmmw1LLq5_hsj0y19_8OJ_ENuteagxb4jRZpd6P4kZJ8iDW4imjeWzyDiNuK0eRagBmRf5KVfVvO70XA___KzcChesbuPB3TJgOS6Fy5QXmSRJWyF3U2i6yChdDi1_ptSTAxWObmkScjm1xQLIA8w5ffsyCwueUz-u0FU7KNgUA
https://txssc.txstate.edu/tools/parent-safety/3-bhss/3-0-bhss.html
https://locker.txssc.txstate.edu/3d9f74e4c4da5530690774e505762b35/Stress-Gen-Z.pdf
https://healthdata.dshs.texas.gov/dashboard/drugs-and-alcohol/surveys/texas-school-survey-of-drugs-and-alcohol
https://www.apa.org/monitor/2024/04/teen-social-use-mental-health#:%7E:text=4.8%20hours%20Average%20number%20of%20hours%20a%20day,accounting%20for%2087%25%20of%20their%20social%20media%20time.
https://www.apa.org/monitor/2024/04/teen-social-use-mental-health#:%7E:text=4.8%20hours%20Average%20number%20of%20hours%20a%20day,accounting%20for%2087%25%20of%20their%20social%20media%20time.
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/sg-youth-mental-health-social-media-advisory.pdf
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/sg-youth-mental-health-social-media-advisory.pdf


21 
 

systems, and community-and system-level interventions. In Texas, these upstream 
programs include Healthy Outcomes through Prevention and Early Support 
(HOPES), home visiting programs, Fatherhood EFFECT (Educating Fathers for 
Empowering Children Tomorrow), Family and Youth Success, and Help Me Grow. 
The recommendations in this strategic plan do not include these types of upstream 
interventions, as these programs do not typically provide children’s behavioral 
health services. However, the subcommittee acknowledges that access to these 
types of services may prevent or mitigate behavioral health conditions in children 
downstream.  

Page 346 of 431



22 
 

Profile of Texas Children 

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, one of every 10 people under the age of 18 
lives in Texas. In 2022, 24 percent of the 30 million people in Texas were children 
under the age of 18.28 That same year, Texans experienced 12.9 live births per 
1,000 people, seven percent higher than national rates.29 Figure 2 reflects the total 
number of children in Texas in 2021 and 2022. 

Figure 2. Total Number of Children Living in Texas  

 

In 2022, of the seven million children in Texas, under 18, 51 percent were male 
and 49 percent were female. Figure 3 reflects the percentage of children in Texas 
under 18 by ethnic and racial category for 2021 and 2022.30 

 

 
28 Texas Demographic Center - 2022 Estimates.   
29 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. National 
Vital Statistics System, Natality on CDC WONDER Online Database. Data are from the 
Natality Records 2016-2022, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics 
jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program. Accessed at 
http://wonder.cdc.gov/natality-expanded-current.html on Jul 16, 2024, 10:30:57 AM.  
30 https://www.census.gov/data-
tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5
_17_fam. 

1,
97

1,
47

3

1,
95

9,
52

8

2,
12

1,
44

2

2,
13

6,
95

7

1,
66

1,
67

9

1,
68

1,
76

8

1,
66

0,
91

6

1,
68

9,
20

8

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

2021 2022

N
um

be
r 

of
 C

hi
ld

re
n

Total Number of Children Living in Texas, 
2021-2022

Source: Texas Demographic Center

Under 5 years 5 to 9 years 10 to 13 years 14 to 17 years

Page 347 of 431

https://www.demographics.texas.gov/Estimates/2022/#pageContent
http://wonder.cdc.gov/natality-expanded-current.html
https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5_17_fam
https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5_17_fam
https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5_17_fam


23 
 

Figure 3. Percent of Children Living in Texas by Race/Ethnicity 

 
The Texas Demographic Center (TDC) projects the Texas population will rise to 
about 47.3 million people by 2050. Across the state, TDC predicts a 43 percent rise 
in the under 18 population, or 3.2 million more children. That’s more than seven 
times the 5.8 percent growth expected for the nation’s child population. By 2050, 
22.7 percent of Texas’ population, or 10.7 million, will be under 18.31 

Socioeconomic Status and Insurance Coverage 
Poverty, lack of access to quality education, homelessness, and limited resources 
contribute to stress and mental health challenges in children. Economic differences 
can contribute to difficulties accessing behavioral health services and other 
supports. 

If Texas were a country, it would be the eighth largest economy in the world, with a 
market value of all finished goods and services totaling $2.4 trillion.32 Despite the 
thriving economy, some Texas families experience significant financial challenges. 
In 2022, 19 percent of children under the age of 18 were in poverty33 and over 20 
percent of Texas households with children voiced little to no confidence in their 

 
31 Young Texans: Demographic Overview.  
32 https://comptroller.texas.gov/economy/fiscal-notes/economics/2024/big-map/.  
33 https://www.census.gov/data-
tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5
_17_fam.  

31% 31%

49% 49%

12% 12%
4% 4%4% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2021 2022

Pe
rc

en
t 

of
  
C
hi

ld
re

n

Percent of Children Living in Texas by Race/Ethnicity, 
2021-2022

Source: Texas Demographic Center

Non-Hispanic White Hispanic Non-Hispanic Black

Non-Hispanic Asian Non-Hispanic Other

Page 348 of 431

https://comptroller.texas.gov/economy/fiscal-notes/archive/2020/feb/texans.php#:%7E:text=Texas%20is%20growing%20fast%2C%20and,the%20U.S.%20lives%20in%20Texas.
https://comptroller.texas.gov/economy/fiscal-notes/economics/2024/big-map/
https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5_17_fam
https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5_17_fam
https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=48&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=us&s_measures=5_17_fam


24 
 

ability to pay the next rent or mortgage payment on time.34 Table 2 reflects 2022 
federal poverty thresholds.35 

Table 2. 2022 Federal Poverty Thresholds 

A family is in poverty if: 1 Adult 1 Adult + 
1 Child 

2 Adults + 
1 Child 

2 Adults + 
2 Children 

The yearly income for the 
family is at or below 
federal poverty level 

$15,230 $20,172 $23,566 $29,678 

Equivalent to hourly wage 
at or below federal poverty 
level (If one adult works 
full-time) 

 
$7.32 
 

$9.70 $11.33 $14.27 

 

In addition to housing, childcare is a major driver of family financial stress. In 2021, 
the U.S. Department of the Treasury reported the average family with at least one 
child under the age of 5 would need to devote roughly 13 percent of family income 
to cover the cost of childcare,36 which many families cannot afford. The same report 
noted fewer than 20 percent of eligible families received federal Child Care and 
Development Funds.  

A 2019 study published by the Texas Alliance for Health Care, reported if Texas did 
not proactively address the issue of uninsured Texans, by 2040, over 6.1 million 
people will be uninsured, equating to an economic loss of $178.5 billion.37 In 2022, 
16.6 percent of Texans (4.9 million) had no health insurance. This is a decrease 
from 18 percent in 2021.38 In 2022, most Texans with health insurance had 
employer-based coverage (51.4 percent), followed by Medicaid (16.9 percent), 
Medicare (14.2 percent), direct purchase (12.2 percent), TRICARE (3 percent), and 
Veterans Health Administration benefits (2.3 percent).39  

In 2022, 10.9 percent of Texas children under 19 lacked health insurance coverage. 
Figure 4 reflects coverage by insurance type or no health insurance in 2021 and 
2022.40  

 
34 Households with children where there was little or no confidence in ability to pay their 
next rent or mortgage payment on time | KIDS COUNT Data Center (aecf.org). 
35 Poverty Thresholds.   
36 The-Economics-of-Childcare-Supply-09-14-final.  
37 The_Impact_of_Uninsurance_on_Texas_Economy_20190108.pdf.  
38 Percentage of Population Without Health Insurance Coverage by State.  
39 Percentage and Type of Health Insurance Coverage by State.   
40 U.S. Census Bureau, 2008 to 2022 American Community Surveys (ACS). 

Page 349 of 431

https://datacenter.aecf.org/data/tables/10880-households-with-children-where-there-was-little-or-no-confidence-in-ability-to-pay-their-next-rent-or-mortgage-payment-on-time?loc=45&loct=2#detailed/2/45/true/2458,2463,2448,2418,2112,2104,2102,2101,2099,2098/any/21154
https://datacenter.aecf.org/data/tables/10880-households-with-children-where-there-was-little-or-no-confidence-in-ability-to-pay-their-next-rent-or-mortgage-payment-on-time?loc=45&loct=2#detailed/2/45/true/2458,2463,2448,2418,2112,2104,2102,2101,2099,2098/any/21154
https://www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/demo/income-poverty/historical-poverty-thresholds.html
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/The-Economics-of-Childcare-Supply-09-14-final.pdf
http://wrgh.org/docs/The_Impact_of_Uninsurance_on_Texas_Economy_20190108.pdf
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/percentage-without-health-insurance-coverage-by-state-2021-2022.html
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/percentage-type-health-insurance-coverage-by-state-2021-2022.html


25 
 

Figure 4. Percent of Children Under the Age of 19 by Insurance Status, 
Texas 2021 and 2022 

 

In state fiscal year (SFY) 2023, 4.2 million children were enrolled in Children’s 
Medicaid41 and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP). Figure 5 reflects 
children’s enrollment in Texas by age group for SFY 2021 through 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
41 Includes STAR Health, the Medicaid managed care program for children in state 
conservatorship.  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Public-Veterans Health…
Public-Medicare
Public-Medicaid

Government-Managed-TRICARE
Private-Direct Purchase
Private-Employer Based

Uninsured

Percent of Children Under the Age of 19 by Insurance 
Status, Texas 2021 and 2022

Source: U.S. Census Bureau

2021 2022

Page 350 of 431



26 
 

Figure 5. Medicaid Enrollment by Age Group and Fiscal Year  

 

In SFY 2021, 3,362,788 children were enrolled in Medicaid (i.e., 1,036,211 children 
under age five, 942,366 children ages 5-9, 733,973 children ages 10-13, and 
650,238 children ages 14-17.) In SFY 2022, 3,674,370 children were enrolled in 
Medicaid (i.e., 1,106,656 children under age five, 1,037,132 children ages 5-9, 
786,904 children ages 10-13, and 743,678 children ages 14-17.) In SFY 2023, 
3,813,434 children were enrolled in Medicaid (i.e., 1,145,170 children under age 
five, 1,073,054 children ages 5-9, 803,412 children ages 10-13, and 791,798 
children ages 14-17.) 

The overall decrease in Medicaid enrollment may be attributed to children 
transitioning from Medicaid to CHIP. As children enrolled in Medicaid get older the 
Medicaid income limits decrease. However, older children and youth may qualify for 
CHIP which has a higher income limit of 201% of the Federal Poverty Level.  

Public Education 
In the 2022-23 academic school year, there were 5.5 million students enrolled in 
Texas public schools. Within this population, 703,058 students received special 
education services, an increase of 10.6 percent from the 2021-2022 academic year, 
and a 16 percent increase from the 2020-2021 academic year.42  

 
42 2023 TEA Pocked Edition. 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

Under 5 5 to 9 10 to 13 14 to 17

Medicaid Enrollment by Age Group and Fiscal Year, 
Texas 2021-2023 

Source: Health and Human Services Commission

SFY 2021 SFY 2022 SFY 2023

Page 351 of 431

https://tea.texas.gov/about-tea/news-and-multimedia/2022-23-tea-pocket-edition.pdf


27 
 

In SFY 2022, total public education spending was $80.64 billion, or $14,928 per 
student.43 This includes one-time allotted funding the Texas Education Agency 
(TEA) received for 2022-25 to secure Texas schools. Figure 6 reflects the 
breakdown of these funds and annual funding for ongoing safety and mental health 
expenditures. 

Figure 6. Funding to Secure Texas Schools and Ongoing Safety and Mental 
Health Expenditures 2022-2025  

 

 

Behavioral Health  
In 2022, SAMHSA, estimated that of the 3.8 million children in Texas between the 
ages of 9 and 17, up to 500,000 had an SED causing moderate symptoms and/or 
functional impairment.44 The 2021-2022 NSDUH indicated that up to 7.8 percent of 
Texas children ages 12-17 had a substance use disorder in the past year.45  

 
43 2023 TEA Pocked Edition.  
44 https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt42790/adults-with-smi-and-
children-with-sed-prevalence-estimates-in-2022.pdf 
45 NSDUH State Estimates.  

Page 352 of 431

https://tea.texas.gov/about-tea/news-and-multimedia/2022-23-tea-pocket-edition.pdf
https://datatools.samhsa.gov/saes/state


28 
 

In response to the 2021 Texas Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance (YRBS) System 
survey,46 29.7 percent of children 15 and under and 32 percent of 16-17 year-olds 
reported their mental health was not good most of the time or always.47 
Additionally, 8.3 percent of children 15 and under and 16.3 percent of 16-17 year-
olds reported binge drinking.48 In the same survey, children reported use of 
marijuana, cocaine, ecstasy, heroin, inhalants, methamphetamines, and pain 
medication.49 

The rate of suicidal ideation, or seriously considering attempting suicide, is also an 
indicator of behavioral health concerns in children. Figure 7 outlines the percentage 
of Texas and U.S. high school students who seriously considered attempting suicide 
in the past 12 months. In 2021, 21.7 percent of high school students in Texas 
seriously considered suicide, up from 18.9 percent in 2019.50 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
46 The Texas Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System survey, initiated in 1991, is a 
federally funded, classroom-based survey conducted every two years on odd years to 
monitor priority health risk behaviors that contribute substantially to the leading causes of 
death, disability, and social problems among youth and adults in the United States. 2021 
data is the most current data available.  
47 Texas Health Data - Youth Risk Behavior Survey.   
48 Binge drinking was defined as having four or more drinks of alcohol in a row for female 
students or five or more drinks in a row for male students within a couple of hours, on at 
least 1 day during the 30 days before the survey. 
49 The sample size for the 2021 Texas Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System survey was 
small. Reported results should be used with caution, but nonetheless provide a degree of 
insight into the health risk behaviors of high school students. 
50 Texas Health Data - Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) 

Page 353 of 431

https://healthdata.dshs.texas.gov/dashboard/surveys-and-profiles/youth-risk-behavior-survey#:%7E:text=The%20Texas%20Youth%20Risk%20Behavior%20Surveillance%20System%20%28YRBSS%29%2C,among%20youth%20and%20adults%20in%20the%20United%20States.
https://healthdata.dshs.texas.gov/dashboard/surveys-and-profiles/youth-risk-behavior-survey


29 
 

Figure 7. High School Students Who Seriously Considered Suicide Within 
the Referenced Year in Texas and the U.S.    

 

Females are nearly twice as likely as males to seriously consider suicide. The rate at 
which they considered suicide increased from 23.2 percent to 28.2 percent between 
2001 and 2019, while the rate for males increased from 12.5 percent to 15.3 
percent. Between 2000 and 2022 youth suicide mortality rates increased 30.4 
percent, with rates rising from 9.2 deaths per 100,000 population to 12.51 

Waitlists for Behavioral Health Services 

Currently, Texas lacks a centralized method for collecting data on wait times to 
access behavioral health services, regardless of funding source, provided by 
independent practitioners, behavioral health practitioners, or those affiliated with 
healthcare organizations, residential treatment centers, hospitals, or many other 
types of treatment locations. Pockets of this information are available based on 
waitlists maintained by state agencies for the facilities or services they administer, 
trade associations that may collect this information from the organizations they 
represent, and locally maintained data, but there is no data available to provide a 
comprehensive picture of wait times across the state.  

 
 
 

 
51 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics on CDC 
WONDER.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

2001 2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2017 2019 2021

P
er

ce
n

t 
of

 S
tu

d
en

ts
High School Students Who Seriously Considered Suicide 

in the Past 12 Months, Texas and the U.S., 
YRBS 2001-2021

Texas U.S.

Page 354 of 431



30 
 

Children’s Community Mental Health Services Waitlist 

HHSC is required to report on waiting lists for mental health services to the 
Legislative Budget Board and Governor.52 Quarterly waitlists are point-in-time 
calculations of the total number of people waiting for community mental health 
services provided by the Local Mental Health Authorities (LMHAs) and Local 
Behavioral Health Authorities (LBHAs). For SFY 2023, quarters 3 and 4, and SFY 
2024, quarters 1 and 2, there was no waitlist for children’s community mental 
health services.53  

Though there was no waitlist for children’s community mental health services in 
quarters 1 and 2 of SFY 2024, 365 and 300 children, respectively, were 
underserved in that time. The term “underserved” is used to designate a person 
who received a lower level of care than recommended based on assessment scores. 
LMHAs and LBHAs report workforce shortages are a major factor in underserving 
children. These workforce shortages are exacerbated by competition for qualified 
staff employed with other child serving agencies, many of which can pay higher 
salaries than the public mental health system. Improved reimbursement rates could 
help address this concern. 

Youth Substance Use Treatment Services Waitlist 

HHSC-funded substance use services available to children 17 years of age or 
younger include: Outpatient, Intensive Residential, Supportive Residential, and Co-
Occurring Psychiatric and Substance Use Disorder (COPSD) treatment. The severity 
of the substance use disorder (SUD) determines the treatment needed. 

Licensed facilities provide treatment services for children with SUD helping them 
learn, build, and practice skills for their recovery. Treatment services include 
counseling, case management, education, and recovery skills training. Treatment 
options are:  

● Intensive residential treatment for children with high severity needs, 
provides at least 35 hours per week at a licensed treatment center while 
allowing youth to attend school while in treatment; 

● Supportive residential treatment for children with moderate severity 
needs, provides at least six hours per week; 

● Outpatient treatment services for children with lower severity needs, are 
provided in a community clinic setting for children who do not need a highly 
structured environment and can live at home; and 

 
52 2024-25 General Appropriations Act, House Bill (H.B.) 1, 88th Legislature, Regular 
Session, 2023 (Article II, HHSC, Rider 45)  
53 Reporting of Waiting Lists for Mental Health Services.  

Page 355 of 431

https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/mhs-waiting-lists-may-2024.pdf


31 
 

● COPSD offers adjunct services provided to children where both mental 
health and substance use issues are addressed concurrently. 54   

 

Substance use treatment waitlists are point-in-time calculations of the total number 
of children who waited for substance use services during the respective quarter of 
the reporting period. Table 3 summarizes the number of children on the waiting list 
for these services during SFY 2023, quarters 3 and 4, and SFY 2024, quarters 1 and 
2, and the average number of days on the waitlist. 

Table 3. Number of Children Waiting for Substance Use Treatment Services 
for SFY 2023, Q3-Q4, and SFY 2024, Q1-Q2  

Treatment Service Waitlist, SFY 
2023, Q3-Q4 

Waitlist, SFY 
2024, Q1-Q2 

Average Days 
on Waitlist 

Supportive 
Residential or 
COPSD  

0 0 0 

Intensive 
Residential  7 11 4.5 

Outpatient  58 26 20 

HHSC is the payor of last resort for substance use treatment, and many children 
are recipients of Medicaid. Youth with Medicaid benefits must use those state-
federal funded services before accessing state-only funded services.  

In addition, due to funding challenges, some HHSC-funded substance use service 
providers have been unable to continue providing services for youth, limiting access 
to services. There are 42 youth substance use treatment providers across the state. 
Of those, only five providers offer residential treatment. Additionally, only two of 
those residential providers accept females in addition to males. 

Inpatient Care Waitlist 

 
54 COPSD services aim to offer an integrated, comprehensive, and coordinated approach to 
assisting individuals in managing both mental health and substance use issues 
simultaneously. Components such as case management and referrals are utilized to ensure 
access to the appropriate level of care. 

Page 356 of 431



32 
 

HHSC created the Inpatient Care Waitlist (ICW)55 as a centralized electronic record 
of individuals waiting for inpatient psychiatric hospital services in Texas.56 The ICW 
is exclusively a civil waitlist, including children and adults with non-forensic 
commitments who need this level of care. LMHA and LBHAs provide ICW data to 
HHSC. Like all waitlists, the ICW data is a point-in-time calculation subject to daily 
fluctuations. For SFY 2023, quarter 3 through SFY 2024, quarter 4,296 children 
were on the ICW for an average of 43 days.  

Child Welfare 
The Texas Department of Family and Protective Services (DFPS) is the agency 
responsible for protecting children and youth whose safety has been compromised 
by abuse and/or neglect. DFPS serves approximately 18,00057 children on any 
given day. Many DFPS-involved children have experienced considerable trauma 
which can significantly impact their overall health and well-being. To support their 
healing and recovery, DFPS is responsible for assuring both primary and behavioral 
healthcare is accessible to children and youth in conservatorship.   

The needs of DFPS-involved children and families are multifaceted, complex, and 
often reflect unidentified or unmet needs, such as: 

• Unemployment, or employment with insufficient income; 
• Unsafe and/or unaffordable housing; 
• Food insecurity; 
• Unidentified or unmet mental health and substance use conditions; and 
• Lack of familial or community support. 

DFPS works with communities to promote safe and healthy families with the 
overarching goal to protect children from abuse, neglect, and exploitation. DFPS 
works with community partners to promote healthy child development and increase 
protective factors through the preservation of family and kinship relationships as 
well as community connections and supporting the caregiver’s capacity to meet the 
physical, behavioral, and educational needs of the child.58 

 
55 This is not a waitlist for state hospital services exclusively, but it is for any child, 
adolescent, or adult with non-forensic commitments who requires an inpatient level of care 
but for whom no resource is available in the local service area.   
56 For more information, refer to Information Item F – ICW Helpful Information/FAQs, 
located at Community Mental Health Contracts | Texas Health and Human Services.  
57DFPS Data Card FY2023, 
https://www.dfps.texas.gov/About_DFPS/Data_Book/documents/DFPS_Data_Card.pdf. 
58 https://acfmain-stage.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/fact-
sheet%202020.pdf.  

Page 357 of 431

https://www.hhs.texas.gov/providers/behavioral-health-services-providers/behavioral-health-provider-resources/community-mental-health-contracts
https://acfmain-stage.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/fact-sheet%202020.pdf
https://acfmain-stage.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/fact-sheet%202020.pdf


33 
 

Intake and Investigation and Child Protective Investigations 

The role of DFPS Statewide Intake is to assess all reports of abuse, neglect, or 
exploitation and route them to the local office. In SFY 2023, Statewide Intake 
processed 814,091 contacts of which 310,539 were related to child protective 
reports of abuse and neglect. Intakes that met the legal definition of abuse and 
neglect 59 were referred to Child Protective Investigations for investigation of the 
allegations of abuse or neglect. While the investigation is occurring, children and 
families receive services in their home, or the child(ren) may be removed due to an 
immediate safety issue and placed with other family members, fictive kin, or in 
foster care. In SFY 2023, there were 163,855 completed investigations. Of these, 
13,959 were referred to Family Preservation Services and 5,060 resulted in 
removals from the home.   

DFPS Referrals as a Means to Access Behavioral Health Services 

There are some instances in which families are referred to DFPS solely for the 
purpose of receiving children’s behavioral health services. This scenario includes 
self-referrals by families who make the decision to give up custody of their child 
with the assumption that DFPS has a means to access needed services beyond 
those the family has access to.   

Conservatorship relinquishment decisions are often made due to the escalation of 
the child’s behavioral health needs as she or he grows older resulting in situations 
that may become untenable for the family as they consider the health and safety of 
the child, their family, home, and community. When a child enters foster care due 
to conservatorship relinquishment, the case is categorized as Refusal to Accept 
Parental Responsibility (RAPR). There are some situations which result in joint 
managing conservatorship to obtain mental health services the child needs – often 
residential treatment. If joint managing conservatorship is granted, the family must 
exhaust services available to them first and must be willing to work toward a goal 
of reunification. 

Between four to five percent of youth placed into DFPS conservatorship are there 
because of RAPR. These children have unique, high needs and limited family 
support. As of December 31, 2023, 80 percent of children removed due to RAPR 
have emotional or mental disorders. Reasons for RAPR can include a lack of 
available behavioral health or IDD services, lack of medical services or solely to 
obtain behavioral health services. One of the reasons for prioritizing the prevention 
of RAPR situations is that custody relinquishment is a significant trauma for a young 
person who may have already experienced trauma in his or her past and many 

 
59 59 Family Code Chapter 261. Investigation Of Report Of Child Abuse Or Neglect 
(Texas.Gov) 

Page 358 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/FA/htm/FA.261.htm#261.001
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/FA/htm/FA.261.htm#261.001


34 
 

children in these situations, due to the impact of trauma on their behavioral health, 
may become Children Without Placement (CWOP). A CWOP event is when a child or 
youth is without placement for at least two consecutive, uninterrupted nights.60 

Table 4 reflects the number of children at various stages of DFPS services in SFY 
2023. 
 
Table 4. Number of Children at Various Stages of DFPS services in SFY 
2023 

Stage of DFPS Service SFY 2023 Totals 

Contacts processed by Statewide Intake 814,091 

Children and families received Family-Based Safety 
Services / Family Preservation Services 

13,959 

Children in Kinship Care Placement 6,088 

Children in state conservatorship 18,812 

Adoptions consummated 4,181 

 

Juvenile Justice61 

Since 2005, the state’s juvenile secure facility population has decreased by 85 
percent. However, there has been a six percent increase from the SFY 2021 
average to SFY 2023, and the population continues to grow. Almost 99 percent of 
children in the Texas juvenile justice system are served at the county level, with 
only one percent referred for state-level services. County probation departments 
serve children adjudicated on misdemeanor and felony offenses, while the Texas 
Juvenile Justice Department (TJJD) just serves those adjudicated on felony 
offenses. The 164 juvenile justice probation departments are governed by Juvenile 
Boards with county contributions totaling 73 percent of funds and TJJD contributing 
the other 27 percent. TJJD is governed by a board appointed by the Governor and 
provides secure correctional facilities, halfway houses, contracted care, and parole 
services, as well as setting policy for state services and county level regulations.  

 
60 https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/may-2024-hhsc-exec-council-
agenda-item-1g.pdf.  
61Information in this section derived from a formal presentation developed by TJJD and 
delivered to the Children’s Mental Health Strategic Plan Subcommittee titled TJJD State 
Secure Facilities: Programming Overview. 

Page 359 of 431

https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/may-2024-hhsc-exec-council-agenda-item-1g.pdf
https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/may-2024-hhsc-exec-council-agenda-item-1g.pdf


35 
 

Figure 8 reflects the ages of children served by TJJD in 2023. 

Figure 8. Ages of Children Served by TJJD in 2023 

 

 

In SFY 2023, 14.3 percent of children admitted to TJJD custody had an ACEs score 
62of 0 to 1, 27.7 percent had an ACEs score of 2 to 3, 27.7 percent had a score of 4 
to 5, 17.7 percent had a score of 6 to 7, and 12.7 percent had a score of 8 to 10. 
The top five ACEs experienced were: separated or divorced parents (85.2 percent), 
an incarcerated household member (68 percent), household substance use (54.6 
percent), history of family violence (42.3 percent), and history of emotional abuse 
(35.2 percent).  

In 2023, 90 and 91 percent of children admitted to TJJD had identified mental 
health or substance use needs, respectively, with conditions including depression, 
anxiety, bipolar disorder, disruptive mood dysregulation disorder, and early onset 
psychosis. TJJD provides a variety of behavioral health programming, including the 
Mental Health Treatment Program, Crisis Stabilization Unit, Behavior Stabilization 
Unit, and substance use services. TJJD’s licensed mental health professionals are 
trained in the following treatment modalities, including: 

● Eye Movement Desensitization Reprocessing (EMDR); 
● Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; 
● Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics; 

 
62 The “ACE Score” Is the number of ACEs a person experienced. The ACE Score serves as a 
proxy for the level of adversity and has a “dose” relationship to adult health issues: The 
higher the ACE score, the more likely a person is to experience serious health challenges. 

0.2% 2.3%
5.7%

15.1%

34.3%

42.4%

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

10-12 13 14 15 16 17 or Older

P
er

ce
n

t 
of

 P
op

u
la

ti
on

Age in Years

Children Served by TJJD by Age, Texas 2023
Source: Texas Juvenile Justice Department

Page 360 of 431



36 
 

● Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT); and 
● Attachment Based Family Therapy.  

 

Page 361 of 431



37 
 

The Behavioral Health Continuum of Care for 
Children 

Systems of Care: A Framework for Children’s 
Behavioral Health Governance, Funding, and 
Coordination of Care 
The core of the System of Care (SOC) approach is multi-sector collaboration at local 
and state levels, including, providers of behavioral health, early childhood, child 
welfare, education, juvenile justice, and recreational and vocational services to 
ensure individualized treatment for children and families is informed by their unique 
needs and strengths.  

Outcomes of the SOC approach include decreases in behavioral and emotional 
symptoms, suicide rates, substance use, and juvenile justice involvement. 
Additional benefits include increased school attendance, improved grades, and more 
stable living situations. Families have reported reduced caregiver strain, improved 
family functioning and problem-solving skills, and increased capacity to handle their 
child’s challenging behaviors.63 

The SOC is a nationally recognized framework for the provision of children’s 
behavioral healthcare. In Texas, the SOC is codified in Chapter 531, Texas 
Government Code, Section 531.251, and requires HHSC to partner with state 
agencies to implement at state and local levels. Implementation is targeted toward 
youth who have or are at risk of developing an SED, are receiving residential or 
inpatient mental health services, or are at risk of being removed from their home 
and placed in a more restrictive treatment setting. The state-level SOC, led by 
HHSC, is directed to identify local, state, and federal funding required to finance the 
infrastructure and provider system needed to support state and local SOC efforts.   

Currently, no general revenue is allocated to HHSC to support state or local SOC 
infrastructure (e.g., personnel, behavioral health services and supports, and 
program evaluation). Since 1997, SAMHSA has awarded HHSC funding to 
implement the SOC in several communities. However, funding amounts, limitations 
on acceptable expenditures, and the focus of grants, have hindered local 

 
63 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health 
Services Administration, Center for Mental Health Services (2015). The Comprehensive 
Community Mental Health Services for Children with Serious Emotional Disturbances, Report 
to Congress, 2015. 

Page 362 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm#531.251
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm#531.251


38 
 

sustainability, effectiveness, and outcomes, ultimately limiting coordination of care 
and reducing access to care for children and families. 

To strengthen state and local level implementation of the SOC approach, the 
subcommittee has the following recommendations.  

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Amend Texas Government Code, Section 531.251, to establish state level 
multi-sectoral children’s behavioral health advisory team to advance 
statewide implementation of the SOC.  

A state-level children’s behavioral health advisory team composed of multi-sectoral 
representatives (including local agency, family, and youth perspectives) is intended 
to provide a mechanism for planning, financing, evaluating, and ensuring the 
availability of, and access to, behavioral health services and supports.  

The advisory team, at a minimum, will be responsible for the following: 

● Identifying and eliminating state policy barriers to coordination between 
child-serving entities; 

● Determining ways in which agencies’ funding streams and requirements can 
be streamlined and better coordinated;  

● Supporting communities to operate and sustain local SOC and Community 
Resource Coordination Groups that operate under the SOC framework; 

● Assisting communities with developing and implementing children’s 
behavioral health service plans that align with and further implementation of 
the Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan; 

● Partnering with local teams to identify and address state and/or local policy 
or administrative issues that interfere with the local implementation of the 
children’s behavioral health service plan; and 

● Providing biennial reports to the Legislature on implementation of the 
Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan.  

Recommendation  
Establish a Texas Children’s Behavioral Health Training and Technical 
Assistance Center.  

The Texas Children’s Behavioral Health Training and Technical Assistance Center 
would serve as a centralized clearinghouse for disseminating children’s behavioral 
health information through training and technical assistance for Texas-based 
individuals and organizations who care for and/or provide services and supports to 
children with behavioral health and co-occurring conditions.  

Page 363 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm#531.251


39 
 

The state Multi-Sectoral Children’s Behavioral Health Advisory Team would 
collaborate to design and oversee the Center implementation, modeling it after the 
Texas School Safety Center, designated in Chapter 37, Subchapter G, of the Texas 
Education Code and the Governor’s Homeland Security Strategic Plan. 

Gaps in Services and Infrastructure 
In order to better understand Texas’ behavioral health care ecosystem, the 
subcommittee conducted a review of state and national literature, consulted with 
select organizations with expertise in health systems (both nationally and Texas-
specific), disseminated surveys, interviewed youth and families with lived 
experience, and leveraged its own collective expertise.  

Thematically, the following emerged as the most significant areas of need to 
enhance access to behavioral health services: the delivery of timely, affordable, 
quality, and effective behavioral health services; continuity of care in behavioral 
health services; and health and recovery outcomes for children and their 
caregivers. 

 

Page 364 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/ED/htm/ED.37.htm#37.201
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/ED/htm/ED.37.htm#37.201
https://gov.texas.gov/uploads/files/press/HSSP_2021-2025.pdf


40 
 

Foundationally, the Behavioral Health Services Continuum of Care for Children 
begins with service delivery system supports that shore up service availability, 
accessibility, affordability, and efficacy. Service delivery system supports include: 

● Compliance with and strong enforcement of state and federal parity laws;  
● Reimbursement rates that reflect the rising costs of providing care for 

populations experiencing increased severity, complexity, and acuity of 
symptoms;  

● A behavioral health workforce with sufficient capacity and expertise; and 
● High-quality data and modernized data systems that inform program design 

and implementation, ensure continuity of care for children served by multiple 
systems, and improve health outcomes.  

In the absence of this infrastructure, children and their caregivers are at risk of 
experiencing some of the issues highlighted earlier (e.g., ACEs, extended wait times 
for behavioral health services, juvenile justice involvement, and suicide).  

Figure 1. The Children’s Behavioral Health Care Continuum 

Page 365 of 431



41 
 

The next layer of the continuum is behavioral health awareness, which refers to 
strategies that increase public knowledge about behavioral health to promote 
widespread understanding, reduce stigma, and foster positive help-seeking 
attitudes. 

The care section of the continuum consists of a tiered model of services and 
supports that increase in intensity, cost, and length of treatment based on severity, 
complexity, and acuity. These tiers are fluid, meaning, that children and their 
caregivers may move down and up these tiers at various stages of managing their 
behavioral health condition. 

The continuum begins with prevention and early intervention, delivered in a 
community-based setting to facilitate early identification and initial connection to 
services that may reduce the incidence, prevalence, and severity of behavioral 
health conditions. Most children who require some level of behavioral health 
intervention will not require care beyond this tier. 

Outpatient care is delivered in office- or community-based settings that varies in 
frequency of contact and types of services based on the acuity of behavioral health 
conditions. 

Residential care is delivered in a non-hospital, residential setting that requires 
increased frequency of contact and services that respond to the acuity of behavioral 
health conditions. 

Inpatient care is delivered to children in a hospital-based setting that reduces 
imminent risk of harm to self or others, deterioration of mental or physical health, 
and prepares for transition to less restrictive settings and long-term intensive 
treatment. 

Crisis care is delivered in a community or facility-based setting that reduces 
imminent risk of harm to self, others, or further deterioration of mental or physical 
health. Crisis care may be provided at any tier of the Continuum.  

 

Service Delivery System Supports 

Behavioral Health Parity 

Parity64 laws require health plans covering behavioral health services to provide the 
same level of coverage as offered for medical and surgical benefits, with respect to: 

 
64 Insurance coverage and parity for mental health and substance use disorder 
services.   

Page 366 of 431

https://www.tdi.texas.gov/health/mental-health-parity-overview.html
https://www.tdi.texas.gov/health/mental-health-parity-overview.html


42 
 

● Annual and lifetime limits on coverage; 
● Financial requirements including deductibles, copayments, coinsurance, out-

of-pocket expenses; 
● Quantitative treatment limitations including limits on the frequency of 

treatment, number of visits, days of coverage, or other similar limits on the 
scope or duration of treatment; and 

● Non-quantitative treatment limitations such as medical management 
standards, step therapy and fail-first requirements, formulary design, 
availability of coverage for services delivered by out-of-network providers 
and network tier design, standards for provider participation, payment 
methodologies, and other plan processes that limit or restrict coverage or 
access to treatment. 

The behavioral health and well-being of children and their families requires 
investing in strategies to promote coverage and lower barriers to access, ensuring 
that insurance providers adhere to state and federal parity laws, and continuing to 
implement the strategies in the Texas Mental Health Condition and Substance Use 
Disorder Parity Strategic Plan. The subcommittee recommends the following action 
to advance behavioral health parity for children. 

Recommendations  

Recommendation  
Amend Texas Insurance Code, Section 1355.001, to add a definition for 
Serious Emotional Disturbance.  

Chapter 1355, Texas Insurance Code, Section 1355.001, includes a definition for 
serious mental illness (SMI) that lists applicable psychiatric illnesses defined by the 
APA in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual. Federally, the term SMI is specific to 
people who are 18 or older, while the term SED refers to similar mental health 
challenges when experienced by children up to age 18. Currently, the Texas 
Insurance Code does not include an SED definition.  

H.B. 10, 85th Legislature, Regular Session, 2017, strengthened behavioral health 
parity laws, but did not add a definition for SED, limiting its effectiveness among 
children. Adding a definition for SED to the Insurance Code would provide the state 
a benchmark by which to measure compliance with federal parity standards as they 
relate to children. The definition for SED can be taken from Chapter 531, Texas 
Government Code, Section 531.251, “Serious emotional disturbance means a 
mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder of sufficient duration to result in 
functional impairment that substantially interferes with or limits a person's role or 
ability to function in family, school, or community activities.” Leveraging of such a 
strategy may positively impact a family’s ability to afford care for their children with 

Page 367 of 431

https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/laws-regulations/reports-presentations/2021/mhcsud-parity-strategic-plan-august-2021.pdf
https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/laws-regulations/reports-presentations/2021/mhcsud-parity-strategic-plan-august-2021.pdf
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/IN/htm/IN.1355.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/IN/htm/IN.1355.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm#531.251
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm#531.251


43 
 

high acuity behavioral health needs perhaps diverting them from higher tiers of 
care and systems such as DFPS and TJJD. 

Rates of Reimbursement for Behavioral Health Services 

Providers on the subcommittee agreed that children served today often have 
significantly different clinical profiles than those served even a decade ago, noting 
many children with unstable family structures, significant histories of trauma, 
including human trafficking and physical and sexual abuse, substance use, and 
multi-system involvement (e.g., with child welfare, juvenile justice, and health and 
human services agencies).  

Meeting these children’s needs requires a high degree of service coordination 
involving multiple organizations. They often need an array of high-intensity services 
which current rates of reimbursement for services do not adequately support. 
Reimbursement rates should reflect the increasing severity, complexity, and acuity 
of the conditions being treated, and the rising costs of providing appropriate care.  
This is reflected in the workforce available and accessible to provide behavioral 
health services. For example, in 2023, the Texas Behavioral Health Executive 
Council (BHEC) surveyed psychologists, marriage and family therapists, 
professional counselors, and social workers licensed to practice in Texas. In 
response to the question “Do you or your employer accept or bill insurance (e.g., 
Blue Cross Blue Shield, United Healthcare) for services you provide?” 45 percent 
reported not accepting or billing insurance for services. When asked “Do you or 
your employer accept or bill Medicaid (e.g., CHIP, School Health and Related 
Services [SHARS]) for services you provide?” 65.5 percent responded no.  

The Texas Mental Health Condition and Substance Use Disorder Parity Strategic 
Plan noted a significant disparity in reimbursement rates between mental health 
and medical providers. Mental health providers often received lower reimbursement 
rates compared to their medical counterparts for similar services. This financial 
imbalance has contributed to difficulties in attracting qualified professionals. 

There is an abundance of literature that supports the data collected by the BHEC 
and the Texas Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Parity Workgroup65 and 
contextualizes the quantitative data on this matter. Often, examples of reasons 
cited for non-acceptance of insurance include low rates of reimbursement, 
workforce shortages, and the amount of time spent completing paperwork towards 

 
65 The authorizing statute for the Texas Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Parity 
Workgroup expired September 1, 2021, and this workgroup is no longer operational.  

Page 368 of 431

https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/laws-regulations/reports-presentations/2021/mhcsud-parity-strategic-plan-august-2021.pdf
https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/laws-regulations/reports-presentations/2021/mhcsud-parity-strategic-plan-august-2021.pdf


44 
 

billing for services rendered.66,67 The subcommittee developed several 
recommendations for increasing rates of reimbursement for programs or treatment 
environments effective in helping children with complex trauma histories and 
behavioral health conditions.  

Behavioral Health Workforce  

Significant workforce shortages mean Texas’ behavioral health providers lack 
sufficient capacity to deliver care to everyone who needs it. The shortage is felt 
throughout the system, among licensed, certified, and non-credentialed 
professionals. As the demand for services continues to rise, the shortage of 
qualified, skilled professionals presents a formidable barrier in access to timely and 
appropriate care. In December 2020, the SBHCC’s Behavioral Health Workforce 
subcommittee published Strong Families, Supportive Communities: Moving Our 
Behavioral Health Workforce Forward which includes short, mid, and long-term 
action items to solutioning behavioral health workforce shortages.  

During the strategic planning process, members of the subcommittee hosted focus 
groups with youth, young adults, and caregivers with lived experience receiving 
behavioral health services. Participants described access to behavioral health 
services and supports being impacted by workforce shortages, workforce expertise, 
and rates of reimbursement for these services.  

Navigation and Access to Behavioral Health Services 

Caregivers trying to meet their children’s needs often find it overwhelming to 
navigate different service delivery systems. Caregivers in focus groups voiced a 
desire to be able to talk to someone who can help them understand what services 
are available, eligibility requirements, and how to access care. Helping caregivers 
navigate complex systems requires empathy, clear communication, and an 
understanding of the available services and supports, but does not require a 
licensed workforce. Certified Family Partners (CFPs), Mental Health Peer Specialists 
(MHPSs), Recovery Support Specialists (RSSs), and Community Health Workers 
(CHWs) or Promotoras, are among the professionals that could assist in this 
process. CFPs, MHPs, and RSSs are a group of professionals with lived experience 
having or supporting someone who has behavioral health conditions. These 
individuals have experience navigating and accessing behavioral health services. 
CHWs help people gain access to needed services and build individual, community, 
and system capacity through outreach, patient navigation and follow-up, 

 
66 Frustrated You Can't Find A Therapist? They're Frustrated, Too : Shots - Health 
News:NPR.  
67Acceptance of insurance by psychiatrists and the implications for access to mental health 
care.  

Page 369 of 431

https://mentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/behavioral-health-workforce-workgroup-report-dec-2020.pdf#:%7E:text=Strong%20Families,%20Supportive%20Communities:%20Moving%20our%20Behavioral%20Health
https://mentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/behavioral-health-workforce-workgroup-report-dec-2020.pdf#:%7E:text=Strong%20Families,%20Supportive%20Communities:%20Moving%20our%20Behavioral%20Health
https://txhhs.sharepoint.com/sites/O365-OMHCStakeholderEngagementStrategicPlanning/Shared%20Documents/General/CMHSP/Draft%20Report%20and%20Stakeholder%20Input/Frustrated%20You%20Can't%20Find%20A%20Therapist?%20They're%20Frustrated,%20Too%20:%20Shots%20-%20Health%20News:NPR
https://txhhs.sharepoint.com/sites/O365-OMHCStakeholderEngagementStrategicPlanning/Shared%20Documents/General/CMHSP/Draft%20Report%20and%20Stakeholder%20Input/Frustrated%20You%20Can't%20Find%20A%20Therapist?%20They're%20Frustrated,%20Too%20:%20Shots%20-%20Health%20News:NPR
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3967759/pdf/nihms554088.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3967759/pdf/nihms554088.pdf


45 
 

community health education and information, informal counseling, social support, 
advocacy, and participation in clinical research.68 

School-Based Behavioral Health Services 

Focus group participants voiced a desire for more access to behavioral health 
services and supports provided in school settings. In 2019, the District Leadership 
Forum69 reported that teachers lose an estimated average of 144 minutes per week 
managing student behavioral disruptions in the classroom, equating to 14.5 school 
days per year. In the 2023 Texas Teacher Poll: Listening to the Educator 
Experience, 94 percent of respondents felt they needed support in handling student 
discipline, and that having campus administrators address this need would create a 
positive work culture and environment.70 

 

State investments in training and response would equip more schools and staff to 
recognize mental and behavioral health challenges and make a connection to 
services and supports when a need is identified, as necessary. Having a range of 
services and supports in schools is a strategy to support staff and reach children 
before they are in crisis by providing low-intensity, non-clinical support. For 
students who may need more support, available resources provide an opportunity 
to collaborate with parents in connecting youth and their family to mental health 
care. 

For example, in 2019, through S.B. 11, the Texas Legislature created the Texas 
Child Mental Health Care Consortium (Consortium), to improve access to children’s 
behavioral health services through collaboration among all 12 academic health 
related institutions, state agencies, and non-profit organizations. The Consortium 
operates the Texas Child Health Access Through Telemedicine (TCHATT). This 
school-based telehealth initiative is designed to identify needs early and provide 
assessments and short-term intervention. As of October 2024, TCHATT is available 
in 6,611 campuses, representing 860 school districts. Based on these numbers, 4.1 
million children could potentially be served through TCHATT. 

Youth focus group participants also reported that mental health and behavioral 
health stigma is present in schools. Due to this, students are apprehensive to speak 
about their behavioral health needs and confide in adults who may be able to help 

 
68 Community Health Worker or Promotor(a) Training Certification Program | Texas DSHS.  
69 https://pages.eab.com/rs/732-GKV-655/images/BreakingBadBehaviorStudy.pdf.  
70 https://charlesbuttfdn.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/2023-teacher-poll.pdf.  

50% of teachers reported not having adequate training and support 
from their campus to respond to a student mental health crisis. 

Page 370 of 431

https://www.dshs.texas.gov/community-health-worker-or-promotora-training-certification-program
https://pages.eab.com/rs/732-GKV-655/images/BreakingBadBehaviorStudy.pdf
https://charlesbuttfdn.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/2023-teacher-poll.pdf


46 
 

them. Youth Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) is an 8-hour training course for adults 
who regularly interact with children between the ages of 12-18. The training 
introduces participants to the signs and symptoms of behavioral health concerns 
and gives an overview of common treatments and community-based resources. 
There are no degree requirements or other academic prerequisites to become 
certified to teach MHFA or be trained in MHFA. In Texas, the Legislature has 
invested in making MHFA available to all levels of professionals working in school 
settings. Similarly, the Consortium uses federal COVID-19 relief funds to provide 
Youth Aware of Mental Health (YAM) training in participating schools. YAM is an 
evidence-based mental health awareness curriculum for students from 8th to 12th 
grade. 

Youth focus group participants voiced a need for suicide prevention resources. 
Caregivers and all levels of professionals working in school settings can obtain 
evidence-based suicide prevention training. Some trainings are free while others 
have a cost. Like MHFA, there are no degree requirements, or other academic 
prerequisites to become certified to teach these courses, or to receive the training. 
For example, the Texas Suicide Prevention Collaborative (TxSPC) and its coalition 
partners, LMHAs and LBHAs, some universities, and other organizations provide 
Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) and Ask About Suicide to Save 
a Life training. TxSPC also developed the Texas Advancing Suicide Safer Schools 
Roadmap, free for Texas schools, with online resources for suicide prevention, 
intervention, and postvention planning.71  

HHSC and TEA collaborate to identify and publish a list of evidence-based practices 
for suicide prevention, and other mental health promotion topics, pursuant to 
Chapter 38, Subchapter G, Texas Education Code. The list is reviewed and updated 
annually.72  

As with any other entity or system across the state, there are varying needs from 
community to community and there is not a one-size-fits all approach for districts 
to support the mental health and well-being of its students and staff; needs may 
differ from campus to campus. Funding TEA to issue discretionary grants to school 
districts aligned to statutory requirements for safe and supportive schools and 
establishing a school mental health allotment could provide flexibility in assisting 
their efforts. 

Behavioral Health Services for Special Populations 

Caregivers participating in the focus groups voiced a need for providers who 
understand how to serve children and families with complex and intergenerational 
trauma histories and children with co-occurring behavioral health conditions and 

 
71 https://txspc.learnworlds.com/course/texas-advancing-suicide-safer-schools-roadmap.  
72 https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/best-practices/.  

Page 371 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/ED/htm/ED.38.htm
https://txspc.learnworlds.com/course/texas-advancing-suicide-safer-schools-roadmap
https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/best-practices/


47 
 

IDD Assisting children and families with these needs requires initial and ongoing 
training for all levels of staff providing care.  

Although some licensed professionals have received this in the course of earning 
their degree, not all programs include it, and training differs in quality and quantity. 
In 2019, The Arc and the Family Support Research and Training Center conducted 
focus groups with disability, mental health, and education professionals to explore 
their perceptions of training needs for serving individuals with co-occurring 
behavioral health conditions and IDD.73 They identified the following major gaps: 

● Misperceptions about the capabilities of people with IDD and mental health 
conditions; 

● Uncertainty on how to effectively communicate with people with IDD and 
mental health conditions; 

● No strength-based or keen understanding of the needs of people with IDD 
and mental health conditions; 

● Lack of understanding of available programs and services and how service 
systems interact; and 

● Uncertainty on how to collaborate across the disability, education, and 
mental health systems. 

This lack of knowledge can impact wait times for services, decisions regarding 
admission to care in certain treatment environments, the treatment regimen, and 
ultimately, health outcomes of the children and families served. HHSC partners with 
the University of Texas Health San Antonio, Department of Psychiatry and 
Behavioral Sciences, to promote workforce development in understanding the 
needs of and how to treat individuals with co-occurring mental health conditions 
and IDD through the Mental Health Wellness for Individuals with Intellectual and 
Developmental Disabilities training hub.74 Training modules are free and available 
to direct service workers and other healthcare professionals.  

While some organizations require employees to receive training on trauma-
informed care, human trafficking, and other issues involving special populations, 
that build awareness, knowledge, and skills to work with these special populations, 
the state lacks a centralized infrastructure to offer such courses. This is the type of 
training coordination the recommended Texas Children’s Behavioral Health Training 
and Technical Assistance Center could offer. 

Behavioral Health Services: Individual and Family Counseling 

 
73 https://thearc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Training-Needs-of-Professionals-who-
Serve-People-with-IDD-and-Mental-Health-Needs-and-their-Families.pdf.  
74 https://training.mhw-idd.uthscsa.edu/.  

Page 372 of 431

https://thearc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Training-Needs-of-Professionals-who-Serve-People-with-IDD-and-Mental-Health-Needs-and-their-Families.pdf
https://thearc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Training-Needs-of-Professionals-who-Serve-People-with-IDD-and-Mental-Health-Needs-and-their-Families.pdf
https://training.mhw-idd.uthscsa.edu/


48 
 

Caregivers participating in the focus groups voiced a need for individual and family 
counseling services. The behavioral health workforce comprises many professionals 
including primary care physicians, nurses, peers, licensed chemical dependency 
counselors, behavior analysts, occupational therapists, and more. However, 
counseling services in the treatment of mental health, substance use, or behavioral 
health conditions, are solely provided by the below categories of licensed 
professionals. Table 5 is a comparison of these professionals to include the 
minimum degree required for licensure, median salary, interstate licensure 
compacts, and if they are a reimbursable provider under Medicaid. 

 

Page 373 of 431



49 
 

Table 5. Comparison of the Behavioral Health Workforce   

Professional Type 
Number of 

Professionals 
Statewide75 

Minimum 
Degree 

Required 

Median 
Salary76 

Interstate 
Licensure 
Compacts 

Services Medicaid 
Reimbursable and at 

What Percent 

Eligible to Participate in the 
Mental Health Professionals 
Loan Repayment Program 

Psychiatrists 2,651 Doctorate $198,249 Yes77 
Eligible for 100% of 
their Medicaid fee 

schedule 
Yes 

Psychologists 5,138 Doctorate $84,855 Yes78 
Eligible for 100% of 
their Medicaid fee 

schedule 
Yes 

Licensed Specialist 
in School Psychology 
(LSSP) 

4,017 Doctorate $75,438 No Under SHARS Yes 

Licensed 
Psychological 
Associates 

734 Masters $52,360 No 
70% of the rate paid to 

a psychiatrist and 
psychologist. 

No 

Licensed Clinical 
Social Workers 10,675 Masters $44,099 No 

70% of the rate paid to 
a psychiatrist and 

psychologist. 
Yes 

 
75 Data current as of 2023 and pulled from Texas Health Data - Health Profession Supply.  
76 Median salary information based on 2022 data pulled from Wages by MSA - Texas Wages and Employment Projections.  
77 The Interstate Medical Licensure Compact (IMLC) is a voluntary, expedited pathway to licensure for qualifying physicians who wish to practice in multiple states. On 
June 7, 2021, Governor Greg Abbott signed into law H.B. 1616 which was passed by the 87th Texas Legislature, making Texas the 33rd member state to join the 
Compact. 
78 The Psychology Interjurisdictional Compact (PSYPACT) is an interstate compact designed to facilitate the practice of telepsychology and the temporary in-person, face-
to-face practice of psychology across state boundaries. Texas adopted PSYPACT pursuant to H.B. 1501 (86th Leg.) in 2019. 

Page 374 of 431

https://healthdata.dshs.texas.gov/dashboard/health-care-workforce/hprc/health-profession-supply
https://texaswages.com/MSAWages


50 
 

Licensed Master 
Social Workers 12,146 Masters $59,190 No No No 

Licensed 
Professional 
Counselors (LPC) 

25,519 Masters $51,798 No 
70% of the rate paid to 

a psychiatrist and 
psychologist. 

Yes 

LPC Associates 5,903 Masters N/A* No No No 

Licensed Marriage 
and Family 
Therapists (LMFT) 

3,268 Masters $66,275 No 
70% of the rate paid to 

a psychiatrist and 
psychologist. 

Yes 

LMFT Associates 692 Masters N/A* No No No 

Licensed Chemical 
Dependency 
Counselors 

5,936 Associates $55,776 No No Yes 

*This information is not available in the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics website.  
 

While these professionals can provide individual and family counseling services, more specialized therapeutic approaches such as Cognitive Behavioral 
Therapy, DBT, EMDR, and Functional Family Therapy (FFT) may require additional training, certification, and supervision. Simply increasing the number of 
these providers does not ensure a workforce skilled at delivering these types of evidence-based treatment approaches. In addition, training can be 
expensive and policy decisions limit the types of evidence-based approaches that may be provided in certain service delivery systems. Some therapies also 
may not be reimbursable under Medicaid or commercial insurance plans. 

Page 375 of 431



51 
 

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to expand the number of Certified Family Partners and make 
Certified Family Partner services as a Medicaid state plan benefit.  

Family partner services are provided to the family of a child receiving mental health 
services. Services are provided by a CFP or a family partner waiting to complete 
CFP training. A CFP is a person who has lived experience parenting a child with 
mental, emotional, or behavioral health conditions. They have navigated systems 
on behalf of their child and can articulate their experience. Services include 
providing emotional support, modeling advocacy skills, making referrals, providing 
skills training, and helping identify family supports. Access to family partner 
services can be instrumental in engaging families as active participants in the 
child’s care. 

Currently, HHSC’s CFP initiative is implemented through contracts with 39 LMHAs 
and LBHAs, though there is no dedicated general revenue (GR) funding for this 
initiative. If GR is allocated to support this initiative, it would be used to expand the 
number of CFPs employed in a variety of settings through new or amended 
contracts with governmental entities; or a procurement to contract with 
governmental and non-governmental entities. Though family peer support services 
are reimbursable under Medicaid in the YES program at a payment rate of $6.25 
per 15-minutes79, these services may be provided by professionals other than CFPs, 
and CFP services are not reimbursable under the Medicaid state plan at this time. 
H.B. 1486 85th Legislature, Regular Session, 2017 established a Medicaid peer 
services benefit for adults with mental health and substance use conditions, and 
codified the framework for training, certification, and supervision. The infrastructure 
developed as a result of H.B. 1486 can be leveraged to implement CFP services as a 
Medicaid benefit. 

Recommendation  
HHSC should expand the qualifications required to serve as a Qualified 
Mental Health Professional-Community Services.  

Qualified Mental Health Professional-Community Services (QMHP-CSs) deliver 
mental health rehabilitative and targeted case management services and must 
meet minimum credentialing requirements as described in Title 1, Chapter 353, 
Texas Administrative Code (TAC), §353.1415 and 26 TAC Chapter 306 Subchapter 
G. 

Medicaid benefit policy and administrative code rule changes are underway to 
change the qualifications for QMHP-CS’ for Mental Health Targeted Case 

 
79 Youth Empowerment Services (YES) Waiver Payment Rates Effective April 1, 2021.  

Page 376 of 431

https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=1&pt=15&ch=353&rl=1415
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=1&pt=15&ch=353&rl=1415
https://pfd.hhs.texas.gov/sites/rad/files/documents/long-term-svcs/2021/2021-yes-rates.pdf


52 
 

Management and Mental Health Rehabilitative services to allow persons with a 
bachelor’s degree in a non-human services field with at least one year of experience 
in a program within an organization that provides mental health and/or substance 
use disorder services to deliver these services.  

Recommendation  
Join the Counseling Compact and Social Work Compact, by amending Texas 
Occupations Code, Chapters 503 and 505, respectively.  

Interstate licensure compacts create mutual professional licensing practices among 
joining states while ensuring quality and safety and safe-guarding state 
sovereignty.80 As of 2023, Texas is a member of five professional compacts: the 
Nurse Licensure Compact (NLC), the Interstate Medical Licensure Compact (IMLC), 
the Physical Therapy (PT) Compact, the Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 
Compact, and the Psychology Interjurisdictional Compact (PSYPACT).81 The 
counseling and social work compacts are the same in form and function to 
previously referenced compacts.  

Effective September 2024, 37 states have joined the counseling compact and 21 
have joined the social work compact.  

Figure 9 and Figure 10 are two maps of states with enacted, filed, or no active 
legislation to join the counseling and social work compacts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
80 Compacts-and-Universal-Licensure-Laws-June-2022.pdf.  
81 https://compacts.csg.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CompactChart2023.pdf.  

Page 377 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.503.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.505.htm
https://otcompact.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Compacts-and-Universal-Licensure-Laws-June-2022.pdf
https://compacts.csg.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CompactChart2023.pdf


53 
 

 

Figure 9. States with Enacted, Filed, or No Active Legislation to Join the 
Counseling Compact 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 378 of 431



54 
 

 

Figure 10. States with Enacted, Filed, or No Active Legislation to Join the 
Social Work Compact 

 

In 2020, an advisory body to the Counseling Compact Commission approved 
counseling compact model legislation82 which must be enacted by a state to 
officially join the compact. Conversely, there is also model social work compact 
legislation83 that must be enacted by a state to officially join the social work 
compact.  

The Counseling Compact Commission is not yet issuing compact privileges to 
practice. Throughout 2024, the Counseling Compact Commission is working with 
developers to create the necessary database to receive applications, provide 
interstate data communications, and issue privileges to practice. The Counseling 
Compact Commission anticipates they will begin issuing compact privileges to 
practice in 2025. The Counseling Compact Commission is enacted in some states, 
meaning those states have passed legislation to be part of the compact; however, 
the Counseling Compact Commission is not yet operationalized, meaning the 

 
82 Final_Counseling_Compact_3.1.22.pdf.  
83 Social-Work-Licensure-Compact-Model-Legislation.pdf.  

Page 379 of 431

https://prod761aul1.wpenginepowered.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Final_Counseling_Compact_3.1.22.pdf
https://swcompact.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/30/2024/01/Social-Work-Licensure-Compact-Model-Legislation.pdf


55 
 

process to apply for and receive compact privileges is in progress and will be 
available in 2025. 

Although, the Social Work Licensure Compact has been enacted in at least seven 
states and has reached activation status, multistate licenses are not yet being 
issued. Texas’ implementation process for the Social Work Licensure Compact 
would take an additional 12 to 24 months post passage of the compact law. Texas 
would also need to join the compact before multistate licenses are issued. Joining 
this compact may be a potential strategy in bolstering the workforce and attracting 
much needed talent to Texas in provisioning behavioral health services.  

Recommendation  
Amend Human Resources Code, Chapter 32, to authorize Licensed Marriage 
and Family Therapist Associates, Licensed Professional Counselor 
Associates, and Licensed Master Social Workers to provide and be 
reimbursed for counseling services under the Medicaid state plan.  

Section 32.027, Human Resources Code, should be amended to add subsection 
(m), specifying that a recipient of medical assistance under this chapter may select 
from the following professionals to perform any health care service or procedure 
covered under the medical assistance program if the selected person is licensed and 
authorized by law to perform the service or procedure: 

● An LMSW, as defined by Occupations Code, Section 505.002, who is actively 
pursuing the education and training required to be licensed as an LCSW, as 
defined by that section; 

● An LPC Associate, as described by 22 TAC, Chapter 681, who is working 
toward fulfilling the supervised practice requirements to be licensed as an 
LPC, as defined by Occupations Code, Section 503.002; and 

● An LMFT Associate, as described by 22 TAC, Chapter 801, who is working 
toward fulfilling the supervised practice requirements to be licensed as an 
LMFT, as defined by Occupations Code, Section 502.002.  

In addition, Chapter 32, Human Resources Code, Subchapter B should be amended 
to add section 32.077, to direct professionals listed under Section 32.027(m), 
Human Resources Code, who are selected to provide a health care service or 
procedure covered under the medical assistance program be reimbursed at a rate 
equal to 70 percent of the reimbursement rate established for a licensed 
psychiatrist or psychologist providing a similar service.  

The current mental health workforce in Texas lacks capacity to meet demand for 
individual, group, and family counseling services. Allowing Medicaid reimbursement 
for LMSWs, LPC Associates, and LMFT Associates training for further licensure under 
supervision may incentivize these professionals and their employing organizations 

Page 380 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/HR/htm/HR.32.htm#32.027
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.505.htm#505.002
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.ViewTAC?tac_view=4&ti=22&pt=30&ch=681
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.503.htm#503.002
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.ViewTAC?tac_view=4&ti=22&pt=35&ch=801
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/OC/htm/OC.502.htm#502.002
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/HR/htm/HR.32.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/HR/htm/HR.32.htm#32.027


56 
 

to become Medicaid providers. It may also encourage commercial insurance 
providers to authorize these professionals to be reimbursed through their plans. 

Recommendation  
Fund the Texas Child Mental Health Care Consortium to Expand the 
Community Psychiatry Workforce Expansion Initiative to Include Other 
Mental Health Professions. 

The Texas Child Mental Health Care Consortium (TCMHCC) supports the expansion 
of the child and adolescent psychiatry workforce in Texas through two initiatives: 
the Community Psychiatry Workforce Expansion (CPWE) and the Child and 
Adolescent Psychiatric Fellowships. 

The goals of the CPWE initiative are to: 

● Collaborate and coordinate with community mental health providers to 
expand the amount and availability of mental health care resources by 
developing training opportunities for psychiatry residents and supervising 
residents at facilities operated by LMHAs and by other community mental 
health providers; and 

● Increase the number of Texas-trained psychiatry residents who work in the 
public mental health system upon completion of their residencies. 

In the Fall of 2021, during the third called special session of the 87th Texas 
Legislature, TCMHCC was appropriated $113 million in federal funds from the 
American Rescue Plan Act to enhance and expand initiatives in response to the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. With these funds, CPWE expanded to deliver 
supervised training to students and recent graduates of accredited mental health 
care programs provided in specific health related institutions. Trainees assist in the 
delivery of effective child and adolescent mental health services in regional 
community-based mental health providers. 

Mental health professionals supported through CPWEs expansion include psychology 
graduate students with child practicums and those with child and adolescent 
internships, LPCs, LCSWs, and nurse practitioners in training. Funds would be used 
to continue supervision training for mental health professionals.  

Recommendation  
Fund the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board to implement the 
Behavioral Health Innovation Grant Program under Chapter 61, Education 
Code, Subchapter RR.  

The Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board (THECB) was directed to implement 
the Behavioral Health Innovation Grant Program, however, no dedicated general 
revenue funding was allocated to support implementation, nor has THECB raised 

Page 381 of 431



57 
 

funds to implement the program as statutorily authorized. Under the grant 
program, THECB may award incentive payments to institutions of higher education 
that administer innovative recruitment, training, and retention programs designed 
to increase the number of mental health professionals,84 or professionals in related 
fields. 

The current workforce crisis requires innovative recruitment and retention practices 
to graduate-level behavioral health programs, as well as new ways to incentivize 
licensure and direct behavioral health practice.  

The behavioral health workforce recommendations included are intended to quickly 
help address critical shortages, as are current workforce efforts such as tuition and 
student loan reimbursement programs for mental health professionals. The 
recommendations may yield visible outcomes in three to five years due to 
implementation factors, such as recruitment and training.  

Table 6 reflects workforce recommendations, high-level timeline for 
implementation, and when we could anticipate outcomes based on action by the 
89th Legislative Session. 

Table 6. Workforce Recommendations, Timelines, and Outcomes 

Recommendation 

Anticipated 
Implementation 

for State 
Agencies 

Anticipated 
Implementation 
for Providers or 

Institutions 

Outcomes 
Visibility 

CFP Expansion 
and 
Compensation 

GR allocation:  
12 months: 
September 2026 
 
Medicaid:  
9-12 months: 
September 2025-
September 2026 

GR allocation:  
12 months: 
September 2027 
 
Medicaid:  
12 months: 
September 2027 

GR allocation: 12 
months: 
September 2028 
 
Medicaid:  
12 months: 
September 2028 

 
84 Psychiatrists, psychologists, LSSPs, LCSWs, LPCs, LMFTs, Licensed Chemical Dependency 
Counselors, and Advance Practice Registered Nurses-Psychiatric or Mental Health Nursing 
specialties.  

Page 382 of 431



58 
 

QMHP-CS 
Expanded 
Qualifications 

Non-Medicaid:  
12 months: 
September 2026 
 
Medicaid:  
12-24 months:  
September 2026- 
September 2027 

Non-Medicaid:  
12 months: 
September 2027 

 
 Medicaid:  

12 months: 
September 2028 

Non-Medicaid: 12 
months: 
September 2028 
 
Medicaid:  
12 months: 
September 2029 

Counseling 
Compact 

12 months: 
September 2026 

12 months: 
September 2026- 
September 2027 

12 months: 
September 2027 -
September 2028 

Social Work 
Compact 

12-24 months: 
September 2026-
September 2027 

12-24 months: 
September 2026- 
September 2027 

12 months: 
September 2027 -
September 2028 

LMSW, LPC 
Associate, LMFT 
Associate 
Medicaid 
Reimbursement 

18-24 months: 
September 2026- 
March 2028 

12 months:  
March 2029 

12 months: March 
2030 

Behavioral Health 
Innovation Grant 
Program 

12 months: 
September 2026 

12 months: 
September 2027 

12 months: 
September 2028 

 
Data and Health Information Technology 

Strengthening pediatric behavioral health services within the broad scope and 
complexity of the current healthcare environment requires collection and analysis of 
large amounts of data. The data would be complicated and span many different 
provider sectors and stakeholders. Given this complexity, it will be important to 
have some controls in place, including clear guidelines for data collection, handling, 
storage, and analysis. The aggregate data could be used to ensure high-quality 
care, demonstrate areas for improvement, assess effectiveness of care, evaluate 
the state’s return on investment, and streamline data reporting requirements. A 
centralized data clearinghouse of relevant data, managed by a governance 
committee, would provide oversight of the data usage and report to stakeholders as 
needed. The data collected and warehoused would be kept in accordance with 
national standards and best practices. 

 

Page 383 of 431



59 
 

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Establish a data governance committee for children’s behavioral health. 

This committee will be tasked with:  

● Reviewing and reporting on statutes related to data collection and 
information sharing for child behavioral health programs and related 
supports;  

● Reviewing and inventorying previously collected program information, 
metrics, and other data; and  

● Communicating about trends or aggregate population data collected from 
state-funded programs to both internal and external stakeholders.  

Recommendation  
Invest in modernizing data systems to strengthen data sharing, data 
collection, data storage, and data reporting to improve continuity of care 
for children served in the state system.  

State agencies often use different technology and software for data collection, 
storage, and reporting, making coordination and integration costly and/or 
challenging to accomplish. In addition, the existing data landscape hinders 
agencies’ ability to easily determine the array of services children and caregivers 
receive and identify associated outcomes. Making it easier to safely share 
healthcare information would improve care coordination for children and families 
served by multiple agencies.  

Recommendation  
Strengthen data workforce capacity through human capital investment in 
data teams. 

“Data literacy is when an individual possesses the skills necessary to understand, 
explore, use, make decisions with, and communicate using data.”85 Data specialists 
collaborate with program specialists to design measures of program success, 
interpret data to inform program design and re-design, understand return on 
investment, and more. The state invests billions of dollars to expand and create 
access to behavioral health services, but these investments do not always include 
robust data teams to support the infrastructure needed for the evaluation of 
ongoing implementation. 

 
85 Data literacy is the key to better decisions, innovation, and data-driven organizations.   

Page 384 of 431

https://www.tableau.com/blog/data-literacy-key-better-decisions-innovation-and-data-driven-organizations


60 
 

Behavioral Health Awareness 

Stigma of behavioral health conditions continues to be a barrier to people seeking 
and receiving behavioral health care.86 There is a need to invest in strategies that 
increase public knowledge about behavioral health to promote widespread 
understanding, reduce stigma, and foster positive help-seeking attitudes. 

Recommendation  

Recommendation  

Amend Chapter 1001, Texas Health and Safety Code, Subchapter H, to 
permit HHSC to contract with Regional ESCs in addition to LMHAs, LBHAs, 
to deliver Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) training and fund HHSC to 
expand MHFA training infrastructure. 

H.B. 3, 88th Legislature, Regular Session, 2023, requires school districts to ensure 
each district employee who regularly interacts with students completes an 
evidence-based training program regarding recognition and support of children and 
youth who experience a mental health or substance use issue that may pose a 
threat to school safety. TEA is directed to provide a funding allotment to school 
districts to help cover the costs of employees’ travel, training fees, and 
compensation for the time spent completing the training, if state funding is 
appropriated to TEA for that purpose, and to adopt rules to implement the program. 
TEA in consultation with HHSC, agree that the primary evidence-based mental 
health training program identified that meets the specifications of the bill is Youth 
Mental Health First Aid (YMHFA). While an alternative training program to YMHFA 
has not been identified by the state agencies, school districts have flexibility to 
select an alternative mental health training program if it meets the requirements 
adopted in TEA’s implementing rule. 

HHSC and TEA promote the YMHFA training infrastructure available through the 
LMHAs and LBHAs, as funded by HHSC contracts, to deliver YMHFA training to 
school district employees. However, the LMHA and LBHA MHFA training capacity 
(e.g., number of trainers and funding) is currently insufficient to train the number 
of school district professionals that are anticipated to take the training between 
2025-2029. It is estimated that the statutory requirements equate to a minimum of 
24,834 trainings classes to be held across a 7-year span. This will require a 
minimum of 3,574 training classes be delivered each academic calendar year. 

 
86 Patient and Health Care Professional Perspectives on Stigma in Integrated Behavioral 
Health: Barriers and Recommendations.  

Page 385 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/docs/HS/htm/HS.1001.htm
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9970680/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9970680/


61 
 

Chapter 1001, Texas Health and Safety Code, Subchapter H, relating to Mental 
Health First Aid Training, currently allows for LMHAs and LBHAs to contract with 
Regional ESCs to provide MHFA to school district employees. Due to Chapter 22, 
Texas Education Code, requiring most or all school district employees to be trained, 
statute should be amended to allow HHSC to contract directly with ESCs to provide 
the training if additional funding is available. Additional funding would be required 
to expand the number of professionals certified to teach YMHFA and deliver 
sufficient trainings to meet H.B. 3 training specifications for school district 
personnel.  

Behavioral Health Prevention and Early Intervention Care 

Prevention and early intervention strategies can promote earlier access to 
healthcare and prevent the onset or worsening of behavioral health conditions.87 
There is a need to invest in services and supports that include early identification 
and initial connection to services that may reduce the incidence, prevalence, and 
severity of behavioral health conditions.  

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Fund TEA to issue discretionary grants to school districts to replicate 
Project AWARE Texas and deliver technical assistance with resources to 
increase student access to mental health services and supports aligned to 
statutory requirements for safe and supportive schools. 

The Safe and Supportive School Program (SSSP) is a coordinated, multi-tiered 
support system to address school climate, social and emotional learning, behavioral 
health and wellness, collaborate with community services and supports in 
conducting behavioral threat assessments, and implement a multi-hazard approach 
to prevent, prepare for, respond to, and recover from crisis situations.88 

Under the SSSP, school districts implement a Multi-Tiered System of Supports 
(MTSS), a research-based framework for systemic alignment of school-wide 
practices, programs, and services to support student development, both academic 
and non (e.g., social and emotional needs and behavioral health and wellness) and 
address the physical and psychological safety of all individuals within the school 
community. The MTSS consists of three tiers providing evidence-based 
interventions, from Tier 1 universal supports (e.g., social and emotional skill 
lessons, mental health literacy, bullying and violence prevention programs), Tier 2 
targeted interventions (e.g., social skills groups and mentoring), and Tier 3 

 
87 Prevention and early intervention in youth mental health: is it time for a multidisciplinary 
and trans-diagnostic model for care?.  
88 Texas Education Code, Section 37.115. 

Page 386 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/HS/htm/HS.1001.htm
https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/ED/htm/ED.37.htm#37.115


62 
 

intensive interventions (e.g., individual and family counseling and other specialized 
behavioral health services).   

One way that TEA has implemented MTSS in school districts is through applying for 
and receiving competitive federal grants administered by SAMHSA to implement 
Project AWARE. The focus of Project AWARE is increasing awareness of mental 
health, increasing access to mental health screenings and assessments, and 
increasing access to mental health services and supports with parent/guardian 
permission and family engagement. TEA’s initial Project AWARE grant was 
implemented from 2018-2023 with 15 schools receiving services. Project AWARE 
has resulted in 140,314 trainings to school community members, 16,405 Tier 1 
supports provided to students, 16,569 Tier 2 and 3 services provided to students, 
and 46 policy changes.89  

Federal funds for Project AWARE expire September 2026, and as a result, TEA will 
lose the two employees (i.e., school mental health program specialists) who lead 
project implementation. This will diminish TEA’s capacity to provide statewide 
mental and behavioral health resources and technical assistance supports to 
schools in areas such as mental health promotion, human trafficking, child abuse 
prevention, and substance misuse prevention and intervention. If Project AWARE 
Texas is replicated with state funds, TEA could award additional school districts with 
competitive discretionary grants to increase access to mental and behavioral health 
services and supports. TEA could sustain its school mental health program 
specialists with capacity to deliver technical assistance resources that benefit 
grantees and all Texas schools to increase access to mental health services and 
supports like those successfully provided with federal funds. 

Recommendation  
Establish a mental health allotment for schools separate from the school 
safety allotment.  

Beginning in 2020, TEA received three Elementary and Secondary School 
Emergency Relief (ESSER) funding grants totaling roughly $19 billion.90 In 2022, 
the Collaborative Task Force for Public School Mental Health, issued a survey to 
school districts inquiring about funding sources used to fund behavioral health 
services. Of the respondents, 73 percent of school districts reported primarily using 
ESSER funds to cover the cost of behavioral health services that were provided, 
while 19 percent reported using funds from the School Safety Allotment.91 Several 
other fund sources were reported used by school districts to support mental health 

 
89 AWARE Texas - Texas School Mental Health.   
90 https://www.ncsl.org/in-dc/standing-committees/education/elementary-and-secondary-
school-emergency-relief-fund-tracker.  
91 https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Collaborative-Task-Force-
on-Public-School-Mental-Health-Services-Year-3-Report.pdf.  

Page 387 of 431

https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/aware-texas/
https://www.ncsl.org/in-dc/standing-committees/education/elementary-and-secondary-school-emergency-relief-fund-tracker
https://www.ncsl.org/in-dc/standing-committees/education/elementary-and-secondary-school-emergency-relief-fund-tracker
https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Collaborative-Task-Force-on-Public-School-Mental-Health-Services-Year-3-Report.pdf
https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Collaborative-Task-Force-on-Public-School-Mental-Health-Services-Year-3-Report.pdf


63 
 

(e.g., local funds, Title 1, and State Compensatory Education). However, the largest 
fund source budgeted for mental health related services and supports that was 
reported by school districts in the 2022 Task Force survey (i.e., ESSER) expires 
September 30, 2025. 

Schools are making critical expenditure decisions regarding increasing student and 
family access to behavioral health services and ensuring safe school environments. 
Establishing a separate mental health allotment would support continued focus in 
both critical areas. Allocating a dedicated mental health funding allotment for 
schools was also recommended by the House Bill 906 Collaborative Task Force on 
Public School Mental Health in their 2022 study and evaluation report submitted to 
the Texas legislature.92 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to expand the Children’s System Navigator program.  

HHSC uses Community Mental Health Services Block Grant funds to implement the 
Children’s System Navigator Program93 at six LMHAs and LBHAs. System Navigators 
specialize in enhancing access to mental health services for children and families by 
providing connections to local child-serving agencies, educating community 
partners, building and maintaining relationships with public and private providers, 
sharing information, resource system development, and case staffing.  

The System Navigators developed memorandums of understanding with local ISDs 
to allow on-site access to mental health services, partnered with DFPS and other 
organizations to conduct over 60 case reviews, and provided over 60 trainings to 
LMHA, LBHA, and community partners on accessing children’s mental health 
services. Currently, the six System Navigator programs cover 69 counties, leaving 
185 Texas counties without intensive coordination for children and families.  

Figure 11 is a map of current system navigator sites and counties served. If funded, 
a procurement will determine allocation to additional sites. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
92Collaborative-Task-Force-on-Public-School-Mental-Health-Services-Year-3-Report.pdf 
(schoolmentalhealthtx.org)  
93 Population of focus includes children with intensive behavioral health needs, including 
children at risk of parental relinquishment and children under DFPS conservatorship. 

Page 388 of 431

https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Collaborative-Task-Force-on-Public-School-Mental-Health-Services-Year-3-Report.pdf
https://schoolmentalhealthtx.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Collaborative-Task-Force-on-Public-School-Mental-Health-Services-Year-3-Report.pdf


64 
 

Figure 11. Children’s System Navigator Pilot Program Locations 

 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to expand substance use youth prevention programs.  

Youth prevention programs use the Strategic Prevention Framework (SPF) to 
provide a comprehensive array of services to communities across Texas addressing 
behavioral health promotion and the dangers associated with alcohol, commercial 
tobacco and nicotine products, marijuana, and prescription drug misuse. Youth 
prevention programs focus on three categories of supports (i.e., Universal, 
Selective, and Indicated)94 and provide evidence-based prevention activities and 
strategies from the Center for Substance Abuse Prevention in schools and other 
community sites, which address underlying factors that lead to substance use and 

 
94 Universal programs and practices take the broadest approach and are designed to reach 
entire groups or populations. Universal prevention programs and practices might target 
schools, whole communities, or workplaces. Selective programs and practices target 
individuals or groups who experience greater risk factors (and perhaps fewer protective 
factors) that put them at higher levels of risk for substance misuse than the broader 
population. Indicated programs and practices target individuals who show early signs of 
substance misuse but have not yet been diagnosed with a substance use disorder. These 
types of interventions include referrals to support services for young adults who violate drug 
policies. They also include screening and consultation for the families of older adults who 
are admitted to hospitals with potential alcohol-related injuries. 

Page 389 of 431



65 
 

behavioral health challenges, including ACEs, non-medical drivers of health, or 
other youth, family and community risk and protective factors.  

In fiscal year 2023, 1.8 million youth received universal program services, 1.8 
million received selective program services, and 1.7 million received indicated 
program services. Currently, 48 providers, primarily non-profits, offer youth 
prevention program services in 187 of the 254 counties in Texas. Expanding 
substance use youth prevention programs would create greater access to 
behavioral health promotion services and the dangers associated with alcohol, 
commercial tobacco and nicotine products, marijuana, and prescription drug 
misuse.   

Behavioral Health Outpatient Care 

A robust array of outpatient services provided to children in office or community-
based settings can prevent the need for out-of-home placement, residential 
treatment, or inpatient hospitalization.95 There is a need to enhance the array of 
outpatient behavioral health services to help children develop coping skills, build 
resilience, accomplish personal goals, and prepare for adulthood.  

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to include Coordinated Specialty Care for First Episode 
Psychosis, Family Functional Therapy, and Multisystemic Therapy as 
Medicaid state plan benefits. 

Coordinated Specialty Care for First Episode of Psychosis  

Coordinated Specialty Care for First Episode of Psychosis (CSC-FEP) is an evidence-
based practice for children and young adults who have experienced an episode of 
psychosis. In HHSC’s CSC-FEP program,96 multi-disciplinary teams offer a variety of 
services and supports, including: 

● Psychotherapy, including cognitive behavioral therapy for psychosis; 
● Family education, support, and involvement; 
● Support from peers in recovery from mental illness; 
● Psychotropic medications prescribed by a psychiatrist; and 
● Support for education and employment goals. 

 
95 https://www.cmhnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/The-Evolution-of-the-SOC-
Approach-FINAL-5-27-20211.pdf.  
96 Funded with General Revenue, Community Mental Health Services Block Grant, 
Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act, and the American 
Rescue Plan Act. 

Page 390 of 431

https://www.cmhnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/The-Evolution-of-the-SOC-Approach-FINAL-5-27-20211.pdf
https://www.cmhnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/The-Evolution-of-the-SOC-Approach-FINAL-5-27-20211.pdf


66 
 

Teams are typically composed of a psychiatrist, a Certified Family Partner or Peer 
Specialist, a licensed therapist, and a supportive employment and education 
specialist. CSC-FEP is a time-limited program with a maximum length of stay of 
three years.  

Currently, there are 32 providers delivering CSC-FEP services, through 48 teams, 
across 171 counties. In fiscal year 2023, 1,289 people received CSC-FEP services of 
which 217 were children.97 Among those served, there was a 39 percent decrease 
in the number of crisis encounters and a 65 percent decrease in admissions to 
HHSC-funded inpatient beds. 86.5 percent of participants had no psychiatric 
hospitalizations that fiscal year, and 98 percent had no arrests. 

Texas Medicaid allows managed care organizations to cover CSC-FEP as an in-lieu-
of service (ILOS) on a voluntary basis. ILOSs are services and settings offered by 
managed care organizations that substitute for Medicaid state plan services or 
settings, as allowed by 42 Code of Federal Regulations §438.3(e)(2). Per federal 
regulations, ILOSs must be a medically appropriate and cost-effective substitute for 
the covered service or setting under the state plan. Additionally, the Medicaid 
member must not be required by the MCO to use the ILOS and ILOSs must be 
optional for MCOs to provide. 

Functional Family Therapy  

Functional Family Therapy (FFT) is a family-centered, evidence-based practice for 
treating children with specific mental health needs, primarily related to 
externalizing behavioral issues impacting family dynamics. It is an intensive, short-
term therapeutic model that offers in-home family counseling designed to address 
disruptive behaviors and juvenile delinquency from a relational, family-based 
perspective to improve family relationships. This model assesses family dynamics 
that have contributed to the youth’s behavior, improves communication among 
family members, assists caregivers in learning new parenting skills, and supports 
positive reinforcement within community contexts and relationships. FFT is usually 
delivered through at least weekly sessions, for a duration of three to six months. 

Multisystemic Therapy  

Multisystemic Therapy (MST) is a proven family-and community-based treatment 
for at-risk youth with intensive needs and their families. It has been especially 
effective for treating youth who have committed violent offenses, have serious 
mental health or substance use concerns, are at risk of out-of-home placement, or 
who have experienced abuse and neglect. The 88th Texas Legislature invested 

 
97 From fiscal year 2015-2023, 896 children received CSC-FEP services.  

Page 391 of 431

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-42/chapter-IV/subchapter-C/part-438/subpart-A/section-438.3


67 
 

almost $32.5 million in MST, with continued funding to sustain nine existing teams 
and establish 15 new teams.  

Given that MST services typically last between three to six months and MST teams 
should serve at least 50 youth per year, Meadows Mental Health Policy Institute 
estimates that Texas would need approximately 140 teams to meet statewide 
need.98 New Mexico has successfully implemented MST as a covered Medicaid 
benefit, finding savings by avoiding costs in other systems. 91 percent of youth 
were able to live at home after treatment, 85 percent reduced their substance use, 
and 64 percent had fewer drug related arrests. The state experienced $36.1 million 
in reduced Medicaid expenses and $124.7 million in reduced crime rate expenses 
totaling $73,382 saved per youth participant. Every dollar spent on MST resulted in 
$5.87 in community benefits.99 In Texas, for SFY 2023, 85 children received MST 
services. 76 percent of children were living at home, 84 percent were in school or 
working, and 80 percent had no new arrests.  

Figure 12 is a map of existing MST program locations.  

Figure 12. Multisystemic Therapy Locations  

 

 
98 Multisystemic-Therapy-MST-for-Texas-Youth_June-2024-2.pdf.   
99 https://hsc.unm.edu/medicine/departments/psychiatry/cbh/docs/mstannualreport2005-
2019.pdf.  

Page 392 of 431

https://mmhpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Multisystemic-Therapy-MST-for-Texas-Youth_June-2024-2.pdf
https://hsc.unm.edu/medicine/departments/psychiatry/cbh/docs/mstannualreport2005-2019.pdf
https://hsc.unm.edu/medicine/departments/psychiatry/cbh/docs/mstannualreport2005-2019.pdf


68 
 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to include Intensive Outpatient and Partial Hospitalization 
services as Medicaid state plan Benefits. 

Partial hospitalization (PHP) and intensive outpatient (IOP) services are designed 
for patients who do not need 24-hour residential hospitalization, but who do need 
more intensive services than traditional outpatient treatments offer. In PHP, 
patients can go home in the evening, but still receive many of the benefits of 24-
hour hospitalization stays. IOP therapy programs offer more services than 
traditional outpatient therapy but are less intensive than PHP. Both are more cost-
effective than 24-hour intensive inpatient hospitalizations and can help patients” 
step up” or “step down” from a hospital stay or prevent a stay altogether. 

Currently, Texas Medicaid allows managed care organizations to cover partial 
hospitalization and intensive outpatient services as ILOSs on a voluntary basis. 
ILOSs are services and settings offered by managed care organizations that 
substitute for Medicaid state plan services or settings, as allowed by 42 Code of 
Federal Regulations §438.3(e)(2). Per federal regulations, ILOSs must be a 
medically appropriate and cost-effective substitute for the covered service or 
setting under the state plan. Additionally, the Medicaid member must not be 
required by the MCO to use the ILOS and ILOSs must be optional for MCOs to 
provide. With over five million Texans enrolled in Medicaid, there is an urgent need 
to provide additional mental health services to this population. 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to increase rates for the Youth Empowerment Services (YES) 
Waiver Program and address administrative barriers to serving children 
with complex needs. 

The YES Waiver is a 1915(c) Medicaid Home and Community-based Services 
program designed to meet the needs of children with serious mental, emotional and 
behavioral difficulties in their home or community, rather than an institutional 
setting such as a residential treatment center or inpatient facility. The YES Waiver 
provides intensive services delivered within a strengths-based team planning 
process called Wraparound. Wraparound builds on family and community support 
and utilizes YES Waiver services to help build the family’s natural support network 
and connection with their community. YES Waiver services are family-centered, 
coordinated and effective at preventing out-of-home placement, custody 
relinquishment, and juvenile justice involvement and promoting school success, 
lifelong independence, and self-defined success. 

Providers report challenges with hiring staff or bringing subcontractors into the 
network due to inadequate reimbursement rates, which have remained the same 
for over a decade. Between SFY 2020 quarter 1 and SFY 2023 quarter 4, the 

Page 393 of 431

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-42/chapter-IV/subchapter-C/part-438/subpart-A/section-438.3
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-42/chapter-IV/subchapter-C/part-438/subpart-A/section-438.3


69 
 

program lost 386 YES Waiver providers and the number of providers continues to 
decline due to financial or other challenges to providing care. Though YES Waiver’s 
total slot allocation is 3,591 per waiver year, the program has not been able to 
serve at capacity due to provider shortage. In SFY 2017, 2,780 children were 
served with a steady decline in the numbers served. In SFY 2023, 1,933 children 
were served. This represents a 30 percent decrease in the number of children 
served between SFYs 2017 and 2023. Because the state saves an estimated 
$12,500 per child served in the YES Waiver, further investment in this program is 
vital and will ultimately conserve state resources.  

In SFY 2023, 2,575 children were served in the YES Waiver program. There was a 
48 percent decrease in crisis services before and after receiving YES, and 95 
percent of children aged-out of the program, transitioned to other services, or 
graduated with a transition plan for on-going care. 

 

Recommendation  
Modernize Utilization Management Guidelines for the Texas Resilience and 
Recovery Treatment model to permit new evidence-based practices and 
broader curriculum usage. 

In Texas, the service delivery system for community-based mental health services 
is the Texas Resiliency and Recovery (TRR) model. The TRR model is a framework 
for establishing eligibility for receiving services, determining a level of care to meet 
a child’s needs, and authorizing a level of care. 

To receive these services, children must be between the ages of 3 and 17, reside in 
Texas, have a diagnosis of SED or SMI (other than a single diagnosis of substance 
use or IDD), and be determined eligible based on the Child and Adolescent Needs 
and Strengths (CANS) Assessment. Each level of care has a distinct array of 
services that reflects the intensity of care needed based on the CANS assessment.  

Though the TRR model is based on the provision of evidence-based practices, it was 
developed more than a decade ago and Texas children’s and families’ needs have 
changed, often requiring more intensive evidence-based therapies that are not 
currently reimbursable under TRR. The list of approved evidence-based practices 
should be expanded, as it has created a workforce challenge, and licensed providers 
are unable to fully use their training within the state-funded system. Providers 
report frustration and attribute leaving public practice due to the limited list of 
reimbursable services. Allowing the broadest array of evidence-based practices 
possible will allow individuals to receive the most up-to-date and individualized care 
and help retain providers in the public system. 

Page 394 of 431



70 
 

Recommendation  
Amend Government Code, Chapter 531, and fund HHSC to implement the 
Healthy Transitions: Improving Life Trajectories for Youth Grant program. 

Youth with SED or SMI between the ages of 14 and 17, including those with IDD, 
face a myriad of challenges related to school and work. Some also experience 
homelessness and involvement in the juvenile justice system, increasing admissions 
to hospitals and mental health and correctional facilities. These youth are among 
the least likely to seek help and may “fall through the cracks” lacking the services 
and supports they need to become productive and healthy adults.  

Evidence-based outreach and engagement practices are imperative to create access 
to effective behavioral health interventions and supports. The overall goal of this 
grant program will be to provide developmentally appropriate services and supports 
to youth to address their SMI, SED, and/or IDD needs and connect them to other 
supports that will be critical in readying them for self-sufficiency and transition into 
adulthood and adult systems of care. Services may include screening and 
assessment, evidence-based treatments such as dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) 
and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), wraparound services, and recovery support 
services (e.g., housing, transportation, peer and family support, and vocational and 
educational support and assistance).  

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to expand Outpatient Biopsychosocial Services statewide. 

Outpatient Biopsychosocial Services (OBI) is an existing pilot program at five Local 
IDD Authorities (LIDDA) sites providing mental health outpatient services for people 
with IDD who also have mental health or behavioral needs. The benefits of this 
program include unique services aimed at increasing self-awareness and emotional 
regulation, enhancing social skills, reducing anxiety and stress, and fostering 
greater independence, provided by staff who know and understand the IDD 
population. In SFY 2023, 44 percent of people who received OBI services were 
under the age of 18. Participants experienced a 37 percent decrease in the number 
of days spent in a hospital and a 62 percent decrease in the number of days spent 
incarcerated.  

Only five LIDDAs currently offer specialized outpatient mental health services, they 
could be expanded to the rest of the 39 LIDDAs in Texas. No other publicly funded 
program offers mental health outreach from professionals trained to serve 
individuals with co-occurring behavioral health conditions and IDD, and the 
outcomes achieved by pilot sites demonstrate significant potential savings through 
avoidance of other systems. Expanding this important program could save state 
resources and help individuals stay healthy in their homes and communities.  

Page 395 of 431

https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.531.htm


71 
 

Recommendation  
Fund the Supreme Court of Texas Permanent Judicial Commission on 
Children, Youth and Families (Children’s Commission) to expand 
implementation of state and local dual status initiatives. 

Dual status initiatives are designed to improve practices that directly affect 
outcomes for children who are in child welfare and juvenile justice systems. Using a 
coordinated approach to serving dual status youth can improve the administration 
of justice for children and their caregivers. Having one judge familiar with the 
family can encourage a more holistic approach in both the child welfare and juvenile 
justice cases. With comprehensive information about a youth’s family, behavior, 
and detention history as well as education, mental health, and other needs, judges 
can make better decisions about what services and supports are needed to meet 
the child’s best interests while protecting the community against future delinquent 
conduct.  

Behavioral Health Residential Care 

There is a need to invest in residential behavioral health services for children with 
complex needs that are currently not being met through outpatient care. These 
services are provided in a non-hospital, residential setting that is a 24-hour 
treatment environment designed to better understand and respond to the needs of 
the child.   

New Level of Residential Care 

Currently, there is little to no viable residential treatment options for children with 
high acuity behavioral health needs, including those with complex needs such as 
co-occurring behavioral health conditions and IDD. Many of these children are 
denied admission into residential treatment environments due to a history of or 
current behaviors such as physical aggression, sexual aggression, bullying, 
elopement, emotional dysregulation, and social withdrawal. Additionally, some 
children who would clinically benefit from residential treatment require specialized 
services to address their complex traumatic experiences. 

Often, these children do not meet medical necessity for inpatient hospitalization, 
but exhibit behaviors that pose a level of safety risk to themselves and others, and 
paired with their psychiatric status, require a more intensive residential treatment 
environment to address their needs. Often, caregivers of these children may be 
faced with a decision to relinquish their parental rights to DFPS solely to obtain 
behavioral health services for the child. Creating viable residential treatment 
options would provide an alternative to parental relinquishment, inability to find 
suitable kinship or foster care placements, or extended commitments to TJJD. 

Page 396 of 431



72 
 

As a residential option to meet the needs of children with high acuity behavioral 
health conditions and co-occurring IDD does not exist in Texas, it is difficult to 
definitively identify this type of facility, though there are minimum specifications 
that should be a feature of the residential physical environment and treatment 
offered. The following are examples of considerations for operations: 

• The residential environment should be operated within a trauma-informed 
model of care; 

• The residential environment should be able to accommodate a 
comprehensive array of services meeting the behavioral health, and/or co-
occurring IDD needs of children between the ages of 10-17; 

• The residential environment should support providing developmentally 
appropriate daily living skills that will prepare children to live in the 
community upon discharge, either in a placement (e.g., kinship or foster care 
placement), or independently; 

• The residential environment should be staffed with clinicians who are skilled 
at delivering evidence-based interventions that are diagnostically and 
behaviorally appropriate and effective at meeting the complex needs of 
children; and 

• The residential environment should have effective admission, continuity, 
discharge, and follow-up standards. 

Implementation would require a statutory and rule framework that clearly defines 
organizations eligible to make referrals to the residential facility, the population of 
focus or eligibility criteria, admission processes, licensure requirements, and more. 
In addition, implementation will require funding to operate the residential facility, 
comport with facility infrastructure requirements, and treatment standards. Some 
of the recommendations in this section are meant to provide options for a 
residential environment that could serve children with the needs described above.  

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to establish PRTFs as a Medicaid state plan Benefit. 

A Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facility (PRTF) is any non-hospital facility with a 
provider agreement with a State Medicaid Agency to provide the inpatient services 
benefit to Medicaid-eligible individuals under the age of 21 (psych under 21 
benefit). The facility must be accredited by the Joint Commission or any other 
accrediting organization with comparable standards recognized by the state. PRTFs 
must also meet the requirements in §441.151 through 441.182 Title 42 of the Code 

Page 397 of 431



73 
 

of Federal Regulations. HHSC would need to both create a PRTF license that meets 
these requirements and include PRTF as a Medicaid state plan benefit. 

There are several states that have successfully implemented PRTF standards that 
can serve as valuable examples for Texas, including Alabama, Kansas, Kentucky, 
Louisiana, North Carolina, and Oklahoma. 

Existing Residential Care 

Recommendations  
 
Recommendation  

Fund HHSC to expand the Residential Treatment Center Project to include 
increasing rates for services. 

The Residential Treatment Center (RTC) project is a partnership between DFPS and 
HHSC to provide intensive support for families who are at-risk of relinquishment to 
DFPS due to the acuity of their child’s behavioral health needs. The goal of the RTC 
project is to prevent families from relinquishing their parental rights to DFPS by:  

• Connecting families to behavioral health services available in their 
community through their LMHA or LBHA; and 

• Providing state-funded residential placement to meet their child’s mental 
health needs when families do not have the resources to access residential 
placement.  

In SFY 2023, 249 referrals were made to the RTC project, 98 of which were 
received from DFPS. 42 percent of children referred to the RTC project were not 
receiving behavioral health services through the LMHAs or LBHAs at time of referral 
but were connected to these services through this process. The average length of 
stay in the RTC was 5 months. 22 percent of children referred to the RTC project 
were diverted from RTC placement due to being connected with community-based 
services.  

The mental health acuity of children being referred to the RTC project has increased 
since program inception. Children being referred now often have a history of human 
trafficking, substance use, and IDD, requiring RTC providers to hire a workforce 
skilled in serving children with these needs and modifying program operations to 
accommodate their admission and treatment.  

In SFY 2023, the project increased its rate to align with the current DFPS rate 
structure and to ensure that the RTC project facilities received adequate payment 
based on the needs of children referred and to meet standards of effective service 
delivery. This rate change also increased the provider base from 11 to 19 providers 

Page 398 of 431



74 
 

in SFY 2024. Reimbursement rates should reflect the needs of children referred to 
the RTC project and align with DFPS rates to prevent unintentional competition for 
RTC capacity due to rate differentials where one rate is less than another.  

Figure 13 is a map of residential treatment center locations across the state. 

Figure 13. Residential Treatment Center Locations  

 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to expand youth substance use treatment programs and the 
resources available to the youth treatment provider network. 

SUD youth treatment services engage the child and family in recovery efforts from 
outreach through treatment and continuing care. Treatment approaches are 
evidence-based, holistic in design, and emphasize coordination of care across the 
continuum. Evidence-based techniques and curriculums are required in all 
SUD youth treatment settings. Services include in-person and group counseling, life 
skills, and substance use education. Treatment for youth includes three service 
types:  

● Intensive Residential; 
● Supportive Residential; and 
● Outpatient Treatment. 

Page 399 of 431



75 
 

There are 32 providers of SUD youth treatment programs including LMHAs, LBHAs, 
non-profit organizations, for profit organizations, and other governmental entities.  

In SYF 2023, the Youth Intensive Residential Treatment program served 674 
children, with 48 percent successfully completing treatment. 97 percent of children 
were abstinent at discharge, 91 percent were admitted and involved in on-going 
treatment, 98 percent had no arrest since admission, and 86 percent were enrolled 
in school or vocational training at discharge. Figure 14 is a map of youth intensive 
residential treatment locations and counties served. Expanding youth substance use 
treatment programs and the resources available to the youth treatment provider 
network could increase the number of providers or existing provider capacity to 
serve more youth in geographical areas where care is difficult to access. 

Figure 14. Substance Use Treatment – Youth Intensive Residential 
Locations 

 

In SFY 2023, the Youth Supportive Residential Treatment program served 81 
children, with 85 percent successfully completing treatment. 99 percent of children 
were abstinent at discharge, 100 percent were admitted and involved in on-going 
treatment, 100 percent had no arrest since admission, and 74 percent were 
enrolled in school or vocational training at discharge.  

Page 400 of 431



76 
 

Figure 15 is a map of youth supportive residential treatment locations and counties 
served.   

Figure 15. Substance Use Treatment – Youth Supportive Residential 
Locations  

 

In SYF 2023, the Youth Outpatient Treatment program, served 1,956 children, with 
40 percent successfully completing treatment. 90 percent of children were abstinent 
at discharge, 57 percent were admitted and involved in on-going treatment, 98 
percent had no arrest since admission, and 88 percent were enrolled in school or 
vocational training at discharge.  

Figure 16 contain maps of youth outpatient treatment locations and counties 
served. 

Figure 16. Substance Use Treatment – Youth Outpatient Locations  

Page 401 of 431



77 
 

 

Behavioral Health Inpatient Care 

Behavioral Health Inpatient Care is care delivered to children in a hospital-based 
setting that reduces imminent risk of harm to self or others, prevents deterioration 
of mental or physical health, and prepares for transition to less restrictive settings 
and long-term intensive treatment. The subcommittee recommends that, in making 
decisions regarding inpatient bed capacity, consideration be given to the findings 
from the Texas A&M University System Health Science Center, Article III Study on 
Mental Health Services for Children and Adolescents.  

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to increase rates for inpatient providers serving children with 
co-occurring mental health conditions and IDD and those with co-occurring 
complex medical conditions.  

Capacity limitations mean children are often waiting for an inpatient admission in 
crisis, juvenile detention facilities, emergency rooms, and other places unsuitable to 
meet their needs. In addition, youth with IDD are often denied services from 
private psychiatric hospitals due to potential disruption of the treatment 
environment, or due to diagnostic overshadowing attributed more to their IDD than 
to mental health diagnoses. This population needs increased access to inpatient 

Page 402 of 431



78 
 

psychiatric beds to ensure appropriate evaluation to address diagnostic 
overshadowing, care, and treatment that addresses co-occurring conditions. 
Increasing funding would incentivize more inpatient facilities to serve these 
complex children. 

Behavioral Health Crisis Care 

Behavioral Health Crisis care is care delivered to children in an outpatient or crisis 
facility environment, or in the community, that reduces imminent risk of harm to 
self or others or deterioration of the child’s mental or physical health. 

Recommendations 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to Expand Youth Crisis Outreach Teams as a Statewide Service 
Available 24/7. 

The Youth Crisis Outreach Team (YCOT) pilots are intended to provide in-person 
community-based stabilization and support 24 hours a day, seven days a week, for 
a child in crisis. The diversionary goal aligns with the current statewide Mobile Crisis 
Outreach Team model, but YCOTs focus on enhancing child response and providing 
extended follow-up and linkage to resources. 

During the 88th Legislative Session, HHSC received funding and awarded contracts 
to 8 providers to deliver YCOT services across 32 counties. Current funding does 
not support a full-time 24/7 response, however, and sites are limited. Significant 
investment would be required to ensure capacity for 24/7 statewide coverage, and 
it is unclear that this is what Texas requires. Increasing funding to expand to new 
sites and/or enhance capacity at current sites will help YCOT achieve its great 
potential to significantly benefit Texas children and families. 

Figure 17 is a map of the counties served by YCOT teams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 403 of 431



79 
 

Figure 17. Youth Crisis Outreach Teams Locations  

 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to expand crisis respite units serving children with behavioral 
health conditions and/or IDD.  

Crisis respite programs provide short-term, community-based crisis care 
for people who pose a low risk of harm to themselves or others and do not require 
hospitalization but may have functional impairment that necessitates direct 
supervision and care. This is the least intensive, facility-based crisis option. 
Services may be provided for a few hours or up to seven days. Many of the 
people served in these programs have experienced an event causing significant 
distress, are having housing challenges, or have loved ones or caretakers seeking 
temporary support or supervision. Facility-based crisis respite services have trained 
staff on-site 24 hours per day, seven days per week. Some crisis respites are run 
by peers (people who have at least one cumulative year of receiving mental health 
community services).   

There are 28 crisis respite units across the state, but only 11 that exclusively serve 
children, and one that serves children and adults. In SFY 2023, 77 children were 
served in children’s crisis respite units. The average age of the child was 14 with an 
average length of stay of nine days. There was a 48 percent decrease in crisis 
encounters before and after receiving treatment in the children’s crisis respite unit. 
Figure 18 is a map the existing crisis respite unit locations. 

Page 404 of 431



80 
 

Figure 18. Crisis Respite Units for Children and Adults Locations  

 

Recommendation  
Fund HHSC to cover crisis services such as in-home and out-of-home crisis 
respite, extended observation, and crisis stabilization services as a 
Medicaid state plan benefit, to the extent allowable under federal 
requirements. 

National guidelines identify three core crisis services that should be accessible to 
anyone who is experiencing a behavioral health crisis: regional crisis call centers or 
crisis hotlines, crisis mobile team response, and crisis receiving and stabilization 
facilities.100 While MCOT services are typically reimbursable by Medicaid, more 
nuanced and robust services such as crisis stabilization are not covered by the 
Medicaid state plan. Crisis stabilization allows for better matching of the right 
service for the person’s need with the appropriate type of mental health 
professional. Crisis stabilization is critical to closing the gap in coverage for children 
enrolled in Medicaid and ensuring children with higher behavioral health needs get 
appropriate care, preventing unnecessary and costly emergency room visits or 
hospital stays. These services would benefit youth with IDD, many of whom receive 
or are eligible to receive Medicaid because of their eligibility for Supplemental 

 
100 https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/national-guidelines-for-behavioral-health-
crisis-services-executive-summary-02242020.pdf.  

Page 405 of 431

https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/national-guidelines-for-behavioral-health-crisis-services-executive-summary-02242020.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/national-guidelines-for-behavioral-health-crisis-services-executive-summary-02242020.pdf


81 
 

Security Income or certain Medicaid programs. Existing state and local resources to 
fully meet the crisis stabilization needs of youth with IDD are limited. Crisis respite 
provides critical short-term relief for family or other caretakers struggling to care 
for a loved one with a behavioral health condition and/or IDD. Twenty states cover 
crisis stabilization services as a Medicaid state plan benefit, while 10 states cover 
crisis respite. 

Page 406 of 431



82 
 

Conclusion 

In the last 20 years the number of children who need behavioral health services has 
increased. Caregivers experience unique strains in meeting these children’s needs 
and managing life circumstances (e.g., employment, housing, and childcare) that 
foster safe and healthy environments for their children. 

The Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan subcommittee developed a plan 
focused on children’s behavioral health needs, offering recommendations that would 
take multiple biennia to implement. Successful implementation will require ongoing 
commitment from all branches of government, as well as local, state, and federal 
multi-sector partnerships.  

The Behavioral Health Continuum of Care operated by the state should serve as a 
safety net and be flexible and responsive to the evolving and unique needs of 
children and caregivers. The Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic plan is a living 
document that the SBHCC is committed to adapting based on the evolving 
landscape of Texas and the needs of the most vulnerable children and caregivers. 

The plan is intended to foster an environment in which Texas children and their 
caregivers, based on identified need, have access to compassionate, 
comprehensive, and innovative behavioral health care, that will help develop their 
resilience and enable them to thrive emotionally, mentally, and socially.  

During the Texas Mental Health Creative Arts contest, middle schooler Zoey 
Ramteke wrote a poem about mental health and its importance for all. In parts, she 
wrote: “Family and friends are there to help you sustain. We’ll lend a hand, don’t 
worry about fear. People who struggle with mental health…Together, we can stay 
strong and get through this.”  

Together we can support healthy Texas families for a healthy Texas.  

  

Page 407 of 431



83 
 

APPENDIX A: Coordinated Expenditure Report 

Article I – Office of the Governor 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Specialty Courts 
Program 

Substance Use 
Disorder 

Services - 
Intervention 

B.1.1. 
Criminal 
Justice 

Provides grant funding to specialty courts as 
described in chapters 121-126 and 129-130 
of the Texas Government Code. 

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $629,848 $630,000 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $629,848 $630,000 

Residential 
Substance Abuse 

Treatment 

Substance Use 
Disorder 

Services - 
Intervention 

B.1.1. 
Criminal 
Justice 

Provides grant funding to states and local 
governments in the development and 
implementation of substance use treatment 
programs in correctional and detention 
facilities. 

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $160,277 $160,000 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $160,277 $160,000 

Juvenile Justice & 
Delinquency 
Prevention 

Mental Health 
Services - 

Other 

B.1.1. 
Criminal 
Justice 

Provides grant funding to units of local 
government and non-profit corporations to 
improve the juvenile justice system through 
increased access to mental health and 
substance abuse services. 

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $729,723 $750,000 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $729,723 $750,000 

Office of the Governor, Total  $1,519,848 $1,540,000 

Page 408 of 431



84 
 

Article II – Department of Family Protective Services 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Post-Adoption/ 
Post-Permanency 

Purchased 
Services 

Mental Health 
Services - Other B.1.5 

Provide payments to contractors for short-
term residential behavioral health services 
to provide families with critical supports to 
promote permanency and reduce re-entry 
into the foster care system and dissolution 
of consummated adoptions.    

GR $752,289 $752,289 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $518,053 $518,053 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $1,270,342 $1,270,342 

Substance Abuse 
Prevention and 

Treatment 
Services 

Substance Use 
Disorder Services 

- Intervention 
B.1.7 

Provide payments to contractors for 
substance abuse prevention and treatment 
services (education, counseling, and 
treatment) delivered to individuals to meet 
their needs, where not met by HHSC 
funded services or other community 
services. Services may include: 
• Substance abuse assessment and 
diagnostic consultation. 
• Individual, group and/or family substance 
abuse counseling and therapy, including 
home-based therapy. 

GR $3,744,847 $3,744,847 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $107,813 $107,813 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $3,852,660 $3,852,660 

Other CPS 
Purchased 
Services 

Counseling and 
Therapeutic 

Services 
B.1.8 

Provide payments to contractors for 
counseling and therapeutic services 
delivered to individuals to meet their 
service plan needs, where not met by STAR 
Health or other services.  Services may 
include: 
• Psychological testing, psychiatric 
evaluation, and psychosocial assessments. 
• Individual, group, and/or family 
counseling and therapy, including home-
based therapy.   

GR $10,228,365 $10,228,365 

GR-D   

FF $14,028,814 $14,028,814 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $24,257,179 $24,257,179 

Page 409 of 431



85 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

APS Emergency 
Client Services 

Mental Health 
Services - Other D.1.3 

Provide payments to contractors for mental 
health services to individuals to assess 
capacity and meet their service plan needs 
where services are not already provided 
through HHSC or other funding sources. 

GR $28,959 $28,959 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $159,037 $159,037 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $187,996 $187,996 

Prevention and 
Early Intervention 

Services 

Service 
Coordination/Crisis 

Intervention 
C 

Fund family-strengthening programs and 
initiatives that support healthy parenting 
relationship and positive conflict resolution 
while promoting positive outcomes for 
children, youth, and families to:                                                              
• Mitigate the need for more intensive 
interventions. 
• Make referrals and offer complementary 
auxiliary support to families. 

GR $3,542,151 $3,542,151 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $15,735,923 $15,735,923 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $19,278,074 $19,278,074 

Increase SSCC's 
for Kinship 

Behavioral Health 
Services 

Mental Health 
Services - Other B.1.1 

Contracted SSCC providers currently 
leverage their existing infrastructure and 
provider networks to ensure youth in their 
respective regions have access to care. 
DFPS data reflects the SSCC's ability to 
address the behavioral health needs of 
youth as intended by this model. This 
strategy intends to expand the behavioral 
health funding for SSCC's to specifically 
service children in kinship care and the 
families supporting them. 

GR $1,500,000 $1,500,000 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $1,500,000 $1,500,000 

Sustain Intensive 
Psychiatric 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

B.1.9, E.1.4, 
F.1.1 

DFPS has identified a gap in the service 
delivery system for youth exiting inpatient 
psychiatric treatment. Once the acute 

GR $10,752,192 $10,309,550 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $67,873 $3,955 

Page 410 of 431



86 
 

 

 

 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Stabilization 
Program (IPSP) 

phase has been stabilized, private 
psychiatric hospitals are discharging 
subacute youth who lack readiness to 
return to existing placements or another 
option such as residential treatment 
centers (RTC). This gap has exacerbated 
the children without placement issue that 
the system is currently experiencing. This 
strategy proposes to maintain this initiative 
to continue offering an option in the 
continuum of care that meets the 
behavioral health needs of youth in the 
subacute stage of their recovery while also 
mitigating placement issues for youth.  

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $10,820,065 $10,313,505 

Behavioral Health 
Strategy Team 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

E.1.1, 
E.1.4, 
F.1.1 

To ensure a coordinated and outcome-
based approach to meeting the behavioral 
health needs for youth in DFPS 
conservatorship, this strategy proposes 
funding a dedicated team at DFPS solely 
focused on addressing the strategic, 
coordinated care of youth in 
conservatorship. This inaugural team will 
work closely with DFPS leadership and 
other child-serving institutions, 
stakeholders, and partners to strengthen 
service delivery for youth and families 
engaged with the DFPS system or those at 
risk of coming into conservatorship -5 
FTE’s. 

GR $459,231 $459,231 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $172,931 $172,931 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $632,162 $632,162 

Department of Family Protective Services, Total   $61,798,478 $61,291,918 

Page 411 of 431



87 
 

Article II – Department of State Health Services 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Center for Health 
Statistics Research 

A.1.5 Health 
Data and 
Statistics 

Texas Youth Risk Behavior System 
(YRBS): Survey of a sample of Texas 
high school students that collects 
information on behaviors, including 
suicide ideation and alcohol and 
substance use.    

GR $0 $14,430 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $33,670 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $0 $48,100 

Ryan White 
HIV/AIDS 

Program, Part B 
Grant, and State 

Services 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

A.2.2. HIV/STD 
Prevention 

Mental Health (MH) Services are the 
provision of outpatient psychological and 
psychiatric screening, assessment, 
diagnosis, treatment, and counseling 
services offered to clients living with HIV.  

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $0 $0 

Ryan White 
HIV/AIDS 

Program, Part B 
Grant, and State 

Services 

Substance Use 
Disorder 

Services - 
Outpatient 

A.2.2. HIV/STD 
Prevention 

Substance Abuse Outpatient Care is the 
provision of outpatient services for the 
treatment of drug or alcohol use 
disorders for clients living with HIV. 
Services include screening, assessment, 
diagnosis, and treatment. 

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $0 $0 

Specialized 
Health and Social 

Services 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

B.1.1. Maternal 
and Child 

Health 

Service 1: Regional case management 
staff are active members of the 
Community Resource Coordination Groups 
(CRCG) and provide evidence-based 
technical assistance to families and 
organizations in need of behavioral health 

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Page 412 of 431



88 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

/ disability services. Service 2: Regional 
case management staff coordinate with 
local mental health authorities & parents 
to conduct risk assessments if client 
shows signs of need. Regional THSteps 
staff educate providers on importance of 
conducting risk screenings per periodicity 
schedule for Medicaid recipients. Service 
3: Regional case management/Texas 
Health Steps staff recruit for new 
behavioral health providers in 
underserved areas and coordinate with 
providers in populated areas to assist in 
underserved area via Telehealth or in-
person. 

Subtotal $76,273 $76,273 

Department of State Health Services, Total  $76,273 $124,373 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 413 of 431



89 
 

Article II – Health and Human Services Commission 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

System of Care 
Expansion and 
Sustainability 
Cooperative 
Agreement 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

D.2.2. 
Community 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Children 

The purpose of this program is to 
improve behavioral health outcomes for 
children and youth (birth-21) with 
serious emotional disturbances (SED) 
and their families. This program will 
support the widescale operation, 
expansion, and integration of the 
System of Care (SOC) approach by 
creating sustainable infrastructure and 
services that are required as part of the 
Comprehensive Community Mental 
Health Services for Children and their 
Families Program (also known as the 
Children’s Mental Health Initiative).   

GR $0 $0 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $2,585,775 $2,585,775 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $2,585,775 $2,585,775 

Community 
Mental Health 

Services - 
Children 

(Outpatient) 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

D.2.2. 
Community 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Children 

Outpatient Services include an array of 
community-based services to support 
recovery and resilience of children and 
families.  Examples include medication-
related services, skills training, 
counseling, case management, family 
support services, and crisis intervention 
services.   

GR $71,223,952 $71,223,952 

GR-D   

FF $23,748,415 $23,748,415 

IAC   

Other   

Subtotal $94,972,367 $94,972,367 

Community 
Mental Health 

Services - 
Children 

(Inpatient) 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Inpatient 

D.2.2. 
Community 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Children 

This strategy supports the purchase of 
psychiatric bed days from local, general 
or private psychiatric hospitals using 
funds in the Children's Mental health 
Services Strategy.  These funds are not 
specifically designated for inpatient 
services, but local authorities may use 
them to facilitate access to needed 

GR $761,210 $761,210 

GR-D   

FF   

IAC   

Other   

Page 414 of 431



90 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

inpatient care for individuals 
experiencing acute psychiatric crises.  Subtotal $761,210 $761,210 

Community 
Mental Health 

Services - 
Children (All 

Other) 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

D.2.2. 
Community 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Children 

 
Other funded activities support the 
mental health service delivery system, 
including community center training, 
contracted activities that directly relate 
to mental health community services, 
statewide claims processing, centralized 
program support, and performance 
contract management and quality 
management support costs. 

GR $6,672,390 $6,672,390 

GR-D   

FF $2,438,540 $2,438,540 

IAC   

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $9,110,930 $9,110,930 

DFPS 
Relinquishment 

Slots 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

D.2.2. 
Community 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Children 

 Relinquishment Slots (DFPS) - 
Intensive residential treatment for 
children and youth referred to DFPS who 
are at risk for parental relinquishment of 
rights to solely to a lack of mental 
health resources to meet the needs of 
children with severe emotional 
disturbance whose symptoms make it 
unsafe for the family to care for the 
child in the home.  

GR $5,118,481 $5,118,481 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $5,118,481 $5,118,481 

Community 
Mental Health 

Services - 
Children 

Administration 

Staff 

D.2.7 
Community 
Behavioral 

Health 
Administration 

The purpose of this strategy is to 
support HHSC's administrative support 
needs to oversee the implementation of 
the state’s Community Mental Health 
services for children as described in 
strategy D.2.2. 

GR $2,929,396 $2,973,981 

GR-D   

FF $554,022 $554,022 

IAC $1,396,212 $1,403,909 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $4,879,630 $4,931,912 

Page 415 of 431



91 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Child Advocacy 
Programs (Child 

Advocacy 
Centers) 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

F.3.2 
Child 

Advocacy 
Programs 

Children's Advocacy Centers (CAC) 
provide assistance, advocacy, and 
coordination of multidisciplinary teams 
to serve child survivors of physical 
abuse, sexual abuse, and neglect and 
their families.  

GR $23,942,802 $23,942,802 

GR-D $4,013,500 $4,013,500 

FF $2,779,225 $2,779,225 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $30,735,527 $30,735,527 

Youth 
Empowerment 
Services (YES) 

Waiver 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

D.2.5 
Behavioral 

Health 
Waivers 

Mental Health Services for Children YES 
Waiver - This program provides 
intensive wrap-around services for 
children at risk of hospitalization or 
parental relinquishment due to a need 
for services to treat serious emotional 
disturbance.  Children enrolled in YES 
are eligible for all Medicaid behavioral 
health services as well as those that are 
specific to the YES service array, such 
as adaptive aids and supports, 
specialized therapies, and minor home 
modifications. 

GR $7,545,276 $7,545,276 

GR-D   

FF $6,135,584 $6,135,584 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $13,680,860 $13,680,860 

Community 
Health Crisis 
Services (All 

Other) 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

D.2.3 
Community 
Health Crisis 

Services 

Child Crisis Respite  

GR $5,700,000 $5,700,000 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $5,700,000 $5,700,000 

YCOT GR $7,000,000 $7,000,000 

Page 416 of 431



92 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Community 
Health Crisis 
Services (All 

Other) 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

D.2.3 
Community 
Health Crisis 

Services 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $7,000,000 $7,000,000 

Children with 
Special Needs 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

L.1.2 
IT Oversight & 

Program 
Support 

Children with special needs are children 
that have complex or chronic conditions 
that require a variety of services for the 
children and their families. Most of their 
daily needs are in the form of supports 
and services that are provided 
separately from their medical care.  
Note:  Program area provides strategic 
planning and coordination.  No clients 
served. 

GR $65,551 $65,551 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $65,551 $65,551 

Substance Abuse 
Prevention 

Substance Use 
Disorder 

Services - 
Prevention 

D.2.4 
Substance 

Abuse 
Prevention/ 

Intervention/ 
Treatment 

Substance Use Youth Prevention 
Programs  

GR $39,042,306 $39,042,306 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $39,042,306 $39,042,306 

Substance Abuse 
Treatment 

Substance Use 
Disorder 

D.2.4 
Substance 

Abuse 

Substance Use Treatment for Youth 
(TRY) 

GR $20,066,973 $20,066,973 

GR-D $0 $0 

Page 417 of 431



93 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Services - 
Treatment 

Prevention/ 
Intervention/ 

Treatment 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $20,066,973 $20,066,973 

Substance Abuse 
Intervention 

Substance Use 
Disorder 

Services - 
Recovery 

D.2.4 
Substance 

Abuse 
Prevention/ 

Intervention/ 
Treatment 

Youth Peer Program 

GR $3,200,000 $3,200,000 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $3,200,000 $3,200,000 

Health and Human Services Commission, Total   $236,919,610 $236,971,892 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 418 of 431



94 
 

Medicaid 

Program Summary Description Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 

Medicaid Mental Health Cost Estimate – Medical and Drug – 
Age 0 to 17 

General Revenue $345,454,073 $375,562,345 

All Funds $889,029,891 $947,766,439 

 

CHIP 

Program Summary Description Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 

CHIP Mental Health Cost Estimate – Medical and Drug – 
Age 0 to 17 

General Revenue $8,775,567 $14,282,194 

All Funds $31,911,153 $51,026,059 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 419 of 431



95 
 

Article III – Texas Education Agency 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Rider 85-Fentanyl 
Contamination 

Training 

Education and 
Training 

Strategy 
B.2.2 

Health and 
Safety 

As specified in the rider, funds from the 
Opioid Abatement Account No. 51894 are to 
provide training developed by The University 
of Texas Health Science Center at San 
Antonio utilizing Education Service Center 
(ESC) staff to train school district employees 
regarding the dangers of fentanyl 
contamination. 

GR   

GR-D $2,611,722 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other  $0 

Subtotal $2,611,722 $0 

Rider 88- Mental 
Health Services in 

Out of School 
Time 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

Strategy 
A.2.1 

Statewide 
Educational 
Programs 

As specified in the rider, funding to support 
the TexasPartnership for Out of School Time 
to implement mental health programs in 
community-based out of school time (OST) 
and statewide intermediary infrastructure to 
support OST programs and professionals. 

GR $2,500,000 $2,500,000 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $2,500,000 $2,500,000 

Texas Education Agency, Total   $5,111,722 $2,500,000 

 

Article III – University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

GR $10,263,401 $10,263,401 

Page 420 of 431



96 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Texas Child Mental 
Health Care 
Consortium 

Mental Health 
Services - 

Other 

Statewide 
Behavioral 

Health 
Strategic 

Plan 

Improving mental health care and systems of 
care for the children and adolescents of 
Texas. 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $10,263,401 $10,263,401 

University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, Total   $10,263,401 $10,263,401 

 

Article III – Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
CPAN 

Mental Health 
Services - Other D.1.7. 

Child Psychiatry Access Network. A network 
of child psychiatry access centers that will 
provide consultation services and training 
opportunities for pediatricians and primary 
care providers operating in the center's 
geographical region to better care for 
children and youth with behavioral health 
needs. 

GR $18,539,674 $18,539,674 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $17,045,044 $17,045,044 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $35,584,718 $35,584,718 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
TCHATT 

Mental Health 
Services - Other D.1.7. 

Texas Child Health Access Through 
Telemedicine. Creates or expands 
telemedicine or telehealth programs to 
identify and assess behavioral health needs 
and provide access to MH services. Prioritizes 

GR $80,380,971 $80,380,971 

GR-D   

FF $24,653,978 $24,653,978 

IAC $0 $0 

Page 421 of 431



97 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

the MH needs of at-risk children/youth and 
maximizes the number of school districts 
served in diverse regions of Texas. 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $105,034,949 $105,034,949 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
CPWE 

Workforce 
Development D.1.7. 

Community Psychiatry Workforce Expansion. 
Funds community psychiatric workforce 
expansion projects through partnerships 
between health-related institutions of higher 
education and community mental health 
providers. Develops training opportunities for 
residents and supervising residents. 

GR $16,993,045 $16,993,045 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $13,426,717 $13,426,717 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $30,419,762 $30,419,762 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
CAP Fellowships 

Workforce 
Development D.1.7. 

Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Fellowships. 
Funds additional child and adolescent 
psychiatry fellowship positions at health-
related institutions of higher education. 

GR $5,567,228 $5,567,228 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $5,567,228 $5,567,228 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
Research 

Research D.1.7. 

Research; Development of two research 
networks focused on mental health research 
in the areas of childhood depression and 
childhood trauma with the goal of improving 
systems of care. 

GR $14,790,355 $14,790,355 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $14,790,355 $14,790,355 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
COSH 

Mental Health 
Services - Other D.1.7. 

Centralized Operations Support Hub. The 
COSH provides centralized comms and data 
management systems to health-related 
institutions providing CPAN and TCHATT 
services. The COSH provides high level 
coordination and facilitates collaboration 

GR $1,833,979 $1,833,979 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Page 422 of 431



98 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

between physicians providing CPAN and 
TCHATT consultations through a Medical 
Director position.   

Subtotal $1,833,979 $1,833,979 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
External Eval 

Mental Health 
Services - Other D.1.7. 

External Evaluation. An independent 
evaluation of the programs under the 
TCMHCC. The evaluation centers on a 
systematic approach to planning with 
program-specific comprehensive evaluations. 
Focus is on implementation science, quality 
improvement, and health economics.  

GR $400,000 $400,000 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $400,000 $400,000 

Texas Child 
Mental Health 

Care Consortium - 
Administration 

Mental Health 
Services - Other D.1.7. 

Administration of the Texas Child Mental 
Health Care Consortium including contract 
management, financial management, 
program oversight and monitoring, 
coordination of executive committee 
meetings, program evaluation, etc. 

GR $1,772,706 $1,772,706 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $1,415,703 $1,415,703 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $3,188,409 $3,188,409 

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, Total   $196,819,398 $196,819,398 

 

Article IV – Supreme Court of Texas 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Texas Judicial 
Commission on 
Mental Health 

Education and 
Training 

B.1.4 Judicial 
Commission 
on Mental 

Health 

Annual Judicial Summit on Mental Health - 
Youth Track Education and Workshops  

GR $254,060 $264,060 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

Page 423 of 431



99 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $254,060 $264,060 

Texas Judicial 
Commission on 
Mental Health 

Information 
Technology 

B.1.4 Judicial 
Commission 
on Mental 

Health 

Judicial Commission on Mental Health - 
Youth Resources on a Youth Tab of the 
Texas County Innovations in Mental Health 
Map. 

GR $40,414 $50,414 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $40,414 $50,414 

Texas Judicial 
Commission on 
Mental Health 

Staff 

B.1.4 Judicial 
Commission 
on Mental 

Health 

JCMH staff works to create (i) judicial 
training, both in-person and online, (ii) 
tools and resources for judges such as a 
Bench Book and a Court Improvement 
Guide, (iii) juvenile law peer to peer 
support through correspondence from a 
Jurist in Residence, (iv) guidance on 
judicial leadership, and (v) increased 
collaboration among the many legal 
stakeholders. 

GR $674,906 $674,906 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $674,906 $674,906 

Texas Judicial 
Commission on 
Mental Health 

Workforce 
Development 

B.1.4 
Judicial 

Commission 
on Mental 

Health 

Youth Systems Sequential Intercept Model 
(SIM) Mappings - SIM Mappings bring a 
community of youth serving organization 
together to identify their resources, gaps, 
and processes for all the agencies and 
courts that involve youth with mental 
illness, substance use disorder, or 
intellectual and developmental disabilities.  

GR $116,560 $116,560 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Page 424 of 431



100 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Subtotal $116,560 $116,560 

Supreme Court of Texas, Total   $1,085,940 $1,105,940 

 

Article V – Texas Department of Criminal Justice 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Special Needs 
Programs and 

Services/TCOOMMI 
- Juvenile 

Mental Health 
Services - 
Outpatient 

B.1.1. 

Provide grants for community-based 
treatment programs, funding a continuity 
of care program and responsive system 
for local referrals from various entities for 
juvenile offenders with special needs 
(serious mental illness, intellectual 
disabilities, terminal/serious medical 
conditions, physical disabilities). 

GR $3,863,995 $4,073,987 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $3,863,995 $4,073,987 

Texas Department of Criminal Justice, Total   $3,863,995 $4,073,987 

 

Article V – Texas Juvenile Justice Department 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Special Needs 
Diversionary 

Program 

Mental Health 
Services - 

Other 

A.1.3. 
Community 
Programs 

Provides grants to probation departments 
for mental health treatment and 
specialized supervision to rehabilitate 

GR $1,895,175 $1,895,175 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

Page 425 of 431



101 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

juvenile offenders and prevent them from 
penetrating further into the criminal 
justice system. 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $1,895,175 $1,895,175 

Community 
Programs 

Mental Health 
Services - 

Other 

A.1.3. 
Community 
Programs 

Provides assistance to local juvenile 
probation departments for community-
based services for misdemeanors, 
enhanced community-based services for 
felons, and other behavioral health 
programs. 

GR $36,706,104 $36,706,104 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $1,150,000 $1,150,000 

Subtotal $37,856,104 $37,856,104 

Commitment 
Diversion 
Initiatives 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

A.1.5. 
Commitment 

Diversion 
Initiatives 

Funding to local juvenile probation 
departments for community based and/or 
residential alternatives to commitment to 
state residential facilities. 

GR $19,492,500 $19,492,500 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $19,492,500 $19,492,500 

Mental Health 
Services Grants 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

A.1.7 Mental 
Health 
Service 
Grants 

Provide grants and technical assistance to 
local juvenile probation departments for 
mental health services. 

GR $14,178,353 $14,178,353 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $14,178,353 $14,178,353 

Regional Diversion 
Alternatives 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

A.1.8. 
Regional 
Diversion 

Alternatives 

Provide discretionary grants to local 
juvenile probation departments to build 
additional mental health resources. 

GR $4,875,000 $4,875,000 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Page 426 of 431



102 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Subtotal $4,875,000 $4,875,000 

Psychiatric Care Mental Health 
Services - Other 

B.1.1. 
Orientation 

and 
Assessment 
and B.1.7 
Psychiatric 

Care 

Psychiatric services provided by contract 
psychiatric providers for services to youth 
who are assigned to intake and 
assessment unit or to youth who later 
develop a mental health need while in 
TJJD residential facilities.  

GR $2,720,734 $2,720,734 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $2,720,734 $2,720,734 

General 
Rehabilitation 

Treatment 

Mental Health 
Services - Other 

B.1.8. 
Integrated 

Rehabilitation 
Treatment 

Supports all rehabilitation treatment 
services to target population including 
case management, correctional 
counseling, ongoing assessment of risk 
and protective factors, case planning, 
review by multi-disciplinary team (MDT), 
crisis intervention and management, 
reintegration planning and family 
involvement. 

GR $8,568,615 $8,008,951 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $8,568,615 $8,008,951 

Specialized 
Rehabilitation 

Treatment 

Mental Health 
Services - 

Other 

B.1.8. 
Integrated 

Rehabilitation 
Treatment 

TJJD administers four specialized 
treatment programs: sexual behavior, 
capital and serious violent offender, 
alcohol/other drug, and mental health 
programs. 97% of youth entering TJJD 
have a need for one or more of these 
programs. Services include assessment, 
group and/or individual counseling, MDT 
collaboration, re-integration planning and 
are provided by licensed individuals.  

GR $6,732,483 $6,292,747 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $691,000 $691,000 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $7,423,483 $6,983,747 

Parole Programs 
and Services 

Mental Health 
Services - 

Other 

C.1.2. Parole 
Programs 

and Services 

Youth who have completed specialized 
treatment in residential placements 
required aftercare services in those areas 
as a condition of their parole to improve 
outcomes.  

GR $1,317,127 $1,317,127 

GR-D $0 $0 

FF $0 $0 

IAC $0 $0 

Page 427 of 431



103 
 

Program Service Type 
Agency 
Budget 

Strategy 
Summary Description Fund 

Type 
FY 2024 

Appropriated 
FY 2025 

Appropriated 

Other $0 $0 

Subtotal $1,317,127 $1,317,127 

Texas Juvenile Justice Department, Total   $98,327,091 $97,327,691 

Page 428 of 431



104 
 

APPENDIX B: Cover Art 

The cover of the Children’s Behavioral Health Strategic Plan features original artwork 
created by young Texans for the Texas Mental Health Creative Arts Contest.  

Front cover:  

“Mental Health Matters” by Dev J. – First place; middle school original artwork 
(2021). 

Back cover (left to right): 

“Brave” by Baylee H. – Second place; elementary original artwork (2022). 

“High-Schooler to Be” by Vanessa Q. – First place; middle school original artwork 
(2022). 

“Mental Health Matters Guiding Light” by Nicole A. – Honorable mention; high school 
artwork (2021). 

The annual contest aims to raise awareness of mental health experiences and challenge 
mental health stigma through open discussions with the Texas Community.  

To learn more and view the full gallery, visit  https://gallery.txsystemofcare.org/

Page 429 of 431

https://gallery.txsystemofcare.org/


105 
 

 

Page 430 of 431



Supporting Healthy Texas Families 

for a Healthy Texas

24D0410

Page 431 of 431


	Agenda
	I. DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. Approve Minutes of the Board of Trustees Meeting Held on Tuesday, November 19, 2024

	IV. BOARD CHAIR’S REPORT
	V. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT
	VI. COMMITTEE REPORTS AND ACTIONS
	A. The Harris Center Foundation Update

	VII. REVIEW AND TAKE ACTION
	A. FY'25 Year-to-Date Budget Report-November/December
	B. External Audit Review
	C. January 2025 New Contracts Over 250K
	D. January 2025 Renewals Over 250K
	E. January 2025 Interlocal Agreement
	F. Continuing Employee Communication and Engagement Policy

	VIII.  REVIEW AND COMMENT
	A. FY24 Financial Statements Update
	B. ReCenter Update
	C. Legislative Update

	IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	•	As authorized by §551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the Board of Trustees reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at anytime during the course of this meeting to seek legal advice from its attorney about any matters listed on the agenda.

•	In accordance with §§551.071 and 551.074 of the Texas Government Code, discussion of Governance and personnel matters. Kendra Thomas, General Counsel and Wayne Young, CEO

•	In accordance with §§551.071 and 551.074 of the Texas Government Code, discussion of a personnel matter and contemplated litigation in Case 202485210 Latresa Washington v. The Harris Center for Mental Health & IDD. Kendra Thomas, General Counsel and Bijul Enaohwo, Assistant General Counsel-Legal Services

•	In accordance with §§551.071 and 551.074 of the Texas Government Code, discussion of a personnel matter and contemplated litigation EEOC Charge No. 460-2024-01023, Kathryn Guthrie. Kendra Thomas, General Counsel  

•	In accordance with §§551.071 and 551.072 of the Texas Government Code, to consult with attorney and deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property. Wayne Young, CEO and Ernest Savoy, Assistant General Counsel-Contract Services

•	In accordance with §§551.071 and 551.072 of the Texas Government Code, to consult with attorney about the legal obligations related to the acquisition of New Market Tax Credit real property to deliver behavioral health services to low-income housing residents. Wayne Young, CEO, Stanley Adams, CFO and Kendra Thomas, General Counsel

•	In accordance with §§551.071 and 551.072 of the Texas Government Code, to consult with attorney related to the lease, purchase, or acquisition of real property for a youth residential treatment program. Wayne Young, CEO and Ernest Savoy, Assistant General Counsel-Contract Services & Real Estate


	X. RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION                                                       
	XI. CONSIDER AND TAKE ACTION AS A RESULT OF THE EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XII. INFORMATION ONLY
	A. January 2025 New Contracts 100K-250K
	B. January 2025 Renewals 100K-250K
	C. January 2025 Amendments 100K-250K
	D. January 2025 New Contracts Under 100K
	E. January 2025 Renewals Under 100K
	F. January 2025 Affiliation Agreements, Grants, MOU's and Revenues Info Only
	G. Supplier Diversity Report Q1
	H. Financials by Clinic + NPC Q1FYTD FY2025
	I. Revenue Management Metrics
	J. MDI Medical Directors Education: CCBHC Medical Directors and Quality Measurement-Key Insights and Practical Examples, CQI Plan, and Link to Payment Presentation
	K. CCBHC Performance Measures: What Does This Mean for the Medical Director? Presentation
	L. Texas Children's Behavioral Health Strategic Plan

	XIII. ADJOURN
	



______________________________________
Veronica Franco, Board Liaison
Robin Gearing, Ph.D., Chair, Board of Trustees
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD




